

The Inflation Reduction Act: Fueling Clean Energy in the United States

Columbia University School of International and Public Affairs

Spring 2024



Table of Contents

Purpose of This Report	3
Acknowledgments	4
Glossary	5
Introduction	6
Technology Pillars	
Onshore Wind Energy	16
Solar Energy	28
Battery Energy Storage Systems	38
Alternative Fuels	53
Hydrogen	71
Carbon Capture, Utilization and Storage	84
Concluding Thoughts	93
References	95

Purpose of This Report

In the spring semester of 2024, a team of graduate students from the School of International and Public Affairs (SIPA) at Columbia University undertook a capstone project in partnership with Captona, a prominent North American investment firm specializing in constructing, acquiring, and operating renewable energy assets. This collaboration was initiated to examine the implications of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA) on the clean energy sector and identify strategic investment opportunities facilitated by this significant legislation.

Captona, with a robust portfolio that includes investments in wind, solar, fuel cell technology, renewable natural gas, and energy storage systems, has distinguished itself by repowering and enhancing aging solar and wind farms. With nearly \$1 billion in deployed capital across 23 assets, the firm is keenly positioned to leverage the expanded incentives offered by the IRA, such as enhanced tax credits and new financial structures including tax credit transferability.

The team's research is guided by Jeanne Fox, a seasoned expert in environmental policy and administration. The project aims to dissect the IRA's key components, focusing on solar, wind, battery energy storage systems, alternative fuels, green hydrogen, and carbon capture technologies. The analysis encompasses evaluating new and expanded tax incentive structures, assessing market size and growth potential, and identifying capital deployment strategies within the industry.

The information contained herein is a combination of market research, economic analysis, and interviews with investors, researchers, and practitioners across the clean energy industry.

Acknowledgments

Contributors

Jerry Ding: BESS Functional Lead, Report Editor Kathryn Ford: Alternative Fuels Functional Lead, Report Editor Elizabeth Westbrook Gee: Wind Functional Lead, Report Editor Hudson Hoyle: Project Manager, Wind Functional Support Grant Opperman: CCUS Functional Lead Shreya Tiwari: Hydrogen Functional Lead Aurela Xie: Solar Functional Lead Emma Yan: Research Manager, BESS Functional Support, Wind Functional Support

Special Thanks

We would like to express our profound gratitude to Professor Jeanne Fox and Mr. Louie Reckford for their invaluable contributions to our capstone project. Professor Fox, our faculty advisor from SIPA, has been instrumental in enriching our research experience. Her insightful guidance during our weekly workshops, her tireless efforts to connect us with her network of industry experts, and her dedicated mentorship for students have significantly deepened our understanding of the clean energy sector. We also extend our heartfelt thanks to Mr. Reckford, our advisor from Captona, who defined a clear project scope and offered helpful guidance on our research approach. His introductions to industry experts and thoughtful suggestions during our biweekly check-ins have been critical in advancing our project. Their combined expertise and support have greatly enhanced the quality and scope of our work.

We are especially grateful to the following individuals who contributed their time and expertise in helping this report come together: Abraham Silverman, Alberto Tardio, Brandon Tarbert, Cameron Willard, David Coneys, David Wood, Gene Hinkle, Gokse Ozturkeri, James Guidera, James Turnbull, Jane Sadler, Michael Gerrard, Morris Wei, Moseah Foster, Naoya Sakei, Noah Kaufman, Phil Negron, Pierpaolo Cazzola, Ryan Hakim, Sarah Braverman, Scott Litzelman, Sheila Tandon Manz, Tom Clifford, Toni Darwish, and Yazan Harasis.

Glossary

MMT: million metric tons **ATB:** Annual Technology Baseline ATJ: alcohol-to-jet **MWac:** megawatt alternating current **NMC:** nickel manganese cobalt oxide **BESS:** battery energy storage systems **CAISO:** California Independent System Operator **NREL:** National Renewable Energy Laboratory CCUS: carbon capture, utilization and storage NYISO: New York Independent System Operator **CFPC:** clean fuel production credit **OCC:** overnight capital cost **CORSIA:** Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for **O&M:** operations and maintenance Aviation **PEM**: proton exchange membrane **CPUC:** California Public Utilities Commission PJM: Pennsylvania-New Jersey-Maryland **DAC:** direct air capture Interconnection **DOE:** Department of Energy PTC: production tax credit **EIA:** Energy Information Administration PWA requirements: prevailing wage and apprenticeship requirements **EPA:** Environmental Protection Agency **RD:** renewables diesel **ERCOT:** Electricity Reliability Council of Texas **REAP:** Rural Energy for America Program FCA: Forward Capacity Auction **RFS:** Renewable Fuel Standard FT: Fischer-Tropsch **RIN:** renewable identification number **GE:** General Electric **RNG:** renewable natural gas HEFA: hydroprocessed esters and fatty acids **SAF:** sustainable aviation fuel IATA: International Air Transport Association **SGRE**: Siemens Gamesa Renewable Energy **IRA:** Inflation Reduction Act **SPP:** Southwest Power Pool **ISO:** Independent System Operator **USDA:** United States Department of Agriculture **ISO-NE:** Independent System Operator for New England **WECC:** Western Electricity Coordinating Council **ITC:** investment tax credit **WWTF:** wastewater treatment facility LCFS: Low Carbon Fuel Standard **LFP:** lithium-iron phosphate

Introduction

Our report aims to analyze the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA) and the investment opportunities that arise from this landmark legislation. By understanding the IRA's impact on the clean energy industry, we distill insights that could guide project sponsors in making the right investment decisions to shape a more sustainable future.

Our report starts with an overview of the Inflation Reduction Act's tax provisions, then takes a deep dive into six different technology pillars:

- Solar
- Onshore Wind
- Alternative fuels
- Carbon Capture, Utilization and Sequestration (CCUS)
- Battery Energy Storage Systems (BESS)
- Hydrogen

In each technology pillar, we assess the current market size, total addressable market, and expansion opportunities resulting from the IRA.

We analyzed both qualitative and quantitative data. We conducted an in-depth review of policy documents and industry research to condense key demand drivers and risk factors. Collecting data through desktop research and interviews with industry insiders, we built financial models that are representative of an average project and performed sensitivity analysis on different demand scenarios. Consolidating our findings, we identify additional capital needs created through the IRA and recommend promising ways for capital deployment. Finally, we conclude with remaining risks and challenges in investing in the renewable energy space.

General Impact of the Inflation Reduction Act

Across our market research and stakeholder interviews, we have found some common themes that describe the impact of the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA). The IRA has enabled many transformative benefits for the clean energy sector, but falls short of addressing other key challenges. We summarized the general impact in bullet points below:

Benefits of the IRA

- The IRA put in place a longer expiration timeline for tax benefits and ensured policy consistency for project developers.
- New credits for more nascent technologies—like CCUS and Hydrogen—spurred markets that were not financially viable.
- Tax credit transferability greatly expanded the market for project financing, creating more opportunities for small developers and riskier projects.

"The IRA gave a lot of optionality to the industry, allowing developers to choose the best tax benefit to fit their project."

> - Senior Associate at an Investment Bank

Limitations of the IRA

- The IRA boosted new clean energy investments, but did not address the interconnection queue. Interconnection is becoming increasingly expensive and cumbersome in every single jurisdiction.
- NIMBYism is on the rise and the permitting process for new projects has become harder.
- In order for the industry to capture all of IRA's incentives, there needs to be greater grid capacity. Grid transmission capacity remains a key bottleneck in the buildout of renewable energy projects.

"70% of the IRA won't be realized if there is no increase in transmission capacity."

> - CEO of an Infrastructure Investment Firm

IRA Impact on New Investment Deals

- **Deal flow:** The IRA did not increase deal flow for projects that previously did not need tax credits to be financeable. Projects with proven technology (e.g. solar, wind) that relied on tax credits are now considering more options to monetize tax benefits.
- **Regional focus:** The IRA has not driven a regional shift in project investments. The IRA has enabled more project buildout in the geographic areas most suitable to that technology.
- Tax credit adders and investment decisions: The adders themselves are not driving investments. Most projects are currently being developed and financed without considering adders. The 10% domestic content adder has attracted the most interest, with large developers signing multiyear contracts with manufacturing companies to shoulder the additional costs of domestic content.



Figure 1: Private Investment in Clean Power and Batteries Since 2021

Source: Invest.gov

Inflation Reduction Act Tax Provisions

We carefully reviewed the Inflation Reduction Act and relevant guidance and regulations issued by the Department of Treasury. We have organized our findings in the charts below. In Figures 2 through 4, the first column orders and groups tax credits by category: clean fuel production (40B, 45Z), carbon capture (45Q), hydrogen (45V), clean electricity production (45, 45Y), clean electricity investment (48, 48E), and manufacturing (45X, 48C).

Year →	2024	2025	2026	2027	2029	2020	2020	2024	2022	2022	2024	2025
Credits ↓	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	2031	2032	2033	2034	2035
40B Sustainable Aviation Fuel Credit												
45Z Clean Fuel PTC												
45Q Carbon Capture and Sequestration Tax Credit												
45V Clean Hydrogen PTC												
45 Renewable Electricity PTC (solar, wind, landfill gas, hydro)												
45 Adders	10% dome 10% energ	estic manuf gy commur	facturing nities									
45Y Clean Electricity PTC (zero or negative GHG emissions)									Phase out (the later of 2032 and year of meeting emission goals)	Cond. phase out: first year 75%	Cond. phase out: second year 50%	Cond. phase out: thrid year 0%
45Y Adders	10% dome 10% energ	estic manuf gy commur	facturing nities									
48 Clean Energy ITC (solar, wind, standalone energy storage, biogas)												
48 Adders	10% dome 10% energ	estic manuf gy commur	facturing nities									
48E Clean Electricity ITC (zero or negative GHG emissions)									Phase out (the later of 2032 and year of meeting emission goals)	Cond. phase out: first year 75%	Cond. phase out: second year 50%	Cond. phase out: thrid year 0%
48E Adders	10% dome 10% energ 10-20% lo	estic manuf gy commur w-income o	facturing hities communitie	s bonus cre	edit progra	m (wind/sol	ar projects	below 5MV	V)			
45X Adv. Manufacturing PTC							75%	50%	25%			
48C Adv. Energy Credit (AEC)	Application Ended \$4 billion allocated on March 29	\$6 billion to be issued at later date										



Source: Internal Revenue Service 2024a

	40B Sustainable Aviation Fuel Credit	45Z Clean Fuel PTC	45Q Carbon Capture and Sequestration Tax Credit	45V Clean Hydrogen PTC	45Y Clean Electricity PTC (zero or negative GHG emissions)	48E Clean Electricity ITC (zero or negative GHG emissions)	45X Adv. Manufacturing PTC	48C Advanced Energy Credit (AEC)
40B Sustainable Aviation Fuel Credit	Х	Х						
45Z Clean Fuel PTC	Х	Х						
45Q Carbon Capture and Sequestration Tax Credit			Х					
45V Clean Hydrogen PTC				Х				
45Y Clean Electricity PTC (zero or negative GHG emissions)					Х			
48E Clean Electricity ITC (zero or negative GHG emissions)						Х		
45X Adv. Manufacturing PTC							Х	
48C Advanced Energy Credit (AEC)								Х

Figure 3: Tax Credit Stackability

Source: Sadler 2023

 \times N/A



Legislation silent on stacking

IRA Tax Credits	IRS Guidance Timeline
40B Sustainable Aviation Fuel Credit	Minimum GHG reduction requirement: 12/15/2023
45Z Clean Fuel PTC	Guidance expected "early 2024" (but still not out); by 2025 at the latest
45Q Carbon Capture and Sequestration Tax Credit	Instructions for claiming the credit: December, 2023
45∨ Clean Hydrogen PTC	Proposed rulemaking and notic of public hearing: 12/26/2023
Phaseout for elective payment projects (45, 45Y, 48, 48E)	Statutory Exceptions to Domestic Content Requirements: 12/28/2023
10% Domestic content adder (45, 45Y, 48, 48E)	Initial guidance: 05/12/2023
10% Energy communties adder (45, 45Y, 48, 48E)	Additional guidance: 04/04/2023 Census tracts: 05/31/2023
10-20% LMI adder (48, 48E)	Final regulation: 08/15/2023
45X Adv. Manufacturing PTC	Notice of proposed rulemaking and public hearing: 12/15/2023
48C Advanced Energy Credit (AEC)	Additional guidance: 05/31/2023

Figure 4: Treasury Guidance Timelines as of April 25, 2024

Source: Internal Revenue Service 2024a

Tax Transferability

One fundamental change that the IRA enabled is the transferability of tax credits. Although currently nascent, the market for tax credit transfers is projected to ramp up as the Internal Revenue Service releases finalized guidelines and

industry players become more familiar with the process. Based on observations of existing transactions, insurance is being baked into the pricing of tax credit transfer deals. So far, main buyers are large corporations or financial institutions who would transfer tax credits to their high-net-worth clients. Banks are also willing to lend against tax credit transfer agreements and extend bridge loan facilities at a discount, provided that buyers have strong credit ratings. It is worth noting that, given the different risk profiles of investment tax credits (ITCs) and production tax credits (PTCs), banks place a more material discount on PTC transfer agreements to account for variable generation.¹

"Tax credit transferability is the game changer [...] but the market needs a lot more time to develop."

- Professional at a Senior Lender

¹ One senior lender quoted an advance rate of 97-98 cents on the dollar for bridge loan facilities for projects selling ITCs. The rate drops to 94-96 cents on the dollar for a project with a 10-year PTC purchase agreement. For a project with 10 years of project life and only a 5-year PTC purchase agreement, the rate is 90 cents on the dollar for the first 5 years (covered by the purchase agreement) and drops to 50-60 cents for the remaining 5 years.

Based on our interviews, project sponsors are optimistic about tax credit transferability. The ability to sell tax credits effectively provides financing for small developers who don't have access to tax equity. Moreover, tax credit broker platforms have emerged to help small developers find buyers and save on legal fees. Meanwhile, the tax credit transfer market also faces serious limitations. Project sponsors cannot monetize depreciation benefits and face large discounts when selling tax credits. Tax credit transfer itself does not allow for an FMV step-up on the ITC basis, which could lead to 10-20% loss in ITC value compared to a traditional tax equity partnership. However, developers can and have used workaround structures where the project is sold to a joint venture with another equity partner to effectuate the FMV step-up (Davis, 2023).

"Tax credit transfers ideally should enable easier documentation and faster execution. However, recently the new type of complex structure called a 'T-Flip' brings us back to square one."

- Managing Director at a Senior Lender

A hybrid model called the "T-flip" has recently emerged as an attempt to surpass some of the limitations on tax credit transfer and enable more players to participate. In essence, "T-flip" deals are structured as a single point transaction between a project developer and a bank group. The bank group will take on most of the recapture risk through tax equity partnership, monetize depreciation benefits, and sell any leftover tax credits that they don't need. However, such a convoluted structure adds back the processing burden that tax transfer deals are seeking to avoid.

IRA Tax Credits	Eligible for Direct Pay	Eligible for Transferability
40B Sustainable Aviation Fuel Credit	No	Νο
45Z Clean Fuel PTC	Yes	Yes
45Q Carbon Capture and Sequestration Tax Credit	Yes	Yes
45∨ Clean Hydrogen PTC	Yes	Yes
45 Renewable Electricity PTC (solar, wind, landfill gas, hydro)	Yes	Yes
45Y Clean Electricity PTC (zero or negative GHG emissions)	Yes	Yes
48 Clean Energy ITC (solar, wind, standalone energy storage, biogas)	Yes	Yes
48E Clean Electricity ITC (zero or negative GHG emissions)	Yes	Yes
45X Adv. Manufacturing PTC	Yes	Yes
48C Advanced Energy Credit (AEC)	Yes	Yes

Figure 5: Tax Credit Transferability

Source: Internal Revenue Service 2024b

Tax Credit Eligibility

For each technology pillar, we summarized eligible credits and requirements in Figure 6. The columns "Eligible Tax Credits" and "Adders" together make up the base rate of the tax credit. The column "If Satisfies Prevailing Wage" applies a "5x" multiplier to the base rate for projects that satisfy the prevailing wage and apprenticeship requirements. The column "If in Low-Income Communities" assigns an additional 10-20% bonus ITC credit to projects that applied and qualified for the Low-Income Communities Bonus Credit Program. The final column "Maximum Eligible Tax Credits" shows the maximum amount of tax credits that a project can possibly claim.

Technology	Solar	Wind	BESS	Alterna	tive Fuels	Hydrogen	ccus		
Eligible Tax Credits	45, 45Y/48, 48E: 6% base rate	45, 45Y/48, 48E: 6% base rate	48, 48E : 6% base rate	40B: \$1.25/gallon	45Z: for clean fuel produced at <50 kg CO2/mmBTU Maximum 20¢/gallon for nonaviation fuel, adjusted for emission factor Maximum 35¢/gallon for aviation fuel, adjusted for emission factor	45V: calculated based on 45VH2-GREET model	45Q: \$17/metric ton of CO2 base rate for geologically sequestered CO2	45Q: \$12/metric ton of CO2 base rate for geologically sequestered CO2 with enhanced oil recovery	45Q: \$12/metric ton of CO2 base rate for other qualified use of CO2
Adders	2% base rate for Domestic Content (min 40% of direct costs) 2% base rate for Energy Communities	2% base rate for Domestic Content (min 40% direct costs for onshore, min 20% for offshore) 2% base rate for Energy Commmunities	2% base rate for Domestic Content (min 40% of direct costs) 2% base rate for Energy Communities	1¢/gallon for each pp. over 50% reduction of the life cycle GHG emissions for the SAF as compared to petro- based jet fuel	n/a	n/a	DAC: raise to \$36/metric ton of CO2 base rate	DAC: raise to \$26/metric ton of CO2 base rate	DAC: raise to \$26/metric ton of CO2 base rate
lf Satisfies Prevailing Wage	x5 bonus on the base rate with adders	x5 bonus on the base rate with adders	x5 bonus on the base rate with adders	n/a	Raise cap to \$1.75 /gallon for aviation fuel Raise cap to \$1/gallon for non-aviation fuel	n/a	Raise to \$85/metric ton of CO2 Raise to \$180/metric ton of CO2 for DAC	Raise to \$60/metric ton of CO2 Raise to \$130/metric ton of CO2 for DAC	Raise to \$60/metric ton of CO2 Raise to \$130/metric ton of CO2 for DAC
lf in Low- Income Communities	10-20% for qualified projects < 5MW Applies to 48, 48E ITC only	10-20% for qualified projects < 5MW Applies to 48, 48E ITC only	10-20% for qualified projects Must be co-located with solar/wind and has capacity < twice of the connected facility		n/a	n/a		n/a	
Maximum Eligible Tax Credits	50% for projects > 5MW 70% for projects < 5MW	50% for projects > 5MW 70% for projects < 5MW	50% for standalone BESS 70% for co-located BESS < 10MW	Capped at \$1.75 /gallon	\$1.75/gallon for aviation fuel \$1.00/gallon for non- aviation fuel	Capped at \$3.00/kg	\$180/metric ton c CO2 using direct	f CO2 for geologic air capture	cally sequestered

Figure 6: Tax Credit Eligibility by Technology Pillar

Source: Internal Revenue Service 2024a

For instance, a solar project that qualifies for both the domestic content adder and the energy communities adder will have a base rate of 6% + 2% + 2% = 10%. If the project further satisfies the prevailing wage requirements, a "5x" bonus multiplier will be applied to the 10% base rate to arrive at 10% x 5 = 50% ITC/PTC. If the project has a nameplate capacity of less than 5MW, applied for the Low-Income Communities Bonus Credit Program, and is awarded an additional 20% ITC, the project will achieve the maximum amount of eligible tax credits–70%.

Prevailing Wage and Apprenticeship Requirements

By meeting the requirements below, project developers can increase the base rate incentive by 5 times:

- "Pay laborers and mechanics employed in construction, alteration or repair no less than applicable prevailing wage rates" and
- "Employ apprentices from registered apprenticeship programs for a certain number of hours" (Internal Revenue Service 2024c)

The "5x" multiplier makes a material difference for the amount of tax credits that a project can claim. Hence, it is expected that these requirements will become the industry norm and be incorporated into standard EPC contracts.

Domestic Content Adder

A project qualifies for an additional 2% base rate if, upon completion of construction, have no less than the "adjusted percentage" of the total costs of manufactured components that are mined, produced, or manufactured in the United States. The "adjusted percentage" is 20% for an offshore wind facility and 40% for an onshore wind, solar, or battery storage facility. For onshore wind, solar, or battery storage facility. For onshore wind, solar, or battery storage facilities whose construction begins after 2026, the "adjusted percentage" increases to 55%. For offshore wind facilities whose construction begins after 2027, the "adjusted percentage" increases to 55% (IRS Notice 2023-38).

"Starting 2026, we will see domestic projects having a better economic profile than non-domestic projects."

- Head of M&A, a Utility-Scale Solar and Storage Developer

Conditional on satisfying the prevailing wage requirements, the domestic content adder offers an additional 10% tax credits. Developers need to evaluate the tradeoff between additional tax benefits and higher EPC as well as labor costs. Our interviews with project developers show a cautious interest. Many believe the benefits won't materialize until after a couple of years. The major concern pertains to the long lead time of domestic manufacturing. For instance, a senior engineer at a manufacturer points out that the wait time for domestic transformers and converters is at least 2-3 years.

Energy Community Adder

A project that meets energy community provisions can claim an additional 2% base rate. The IRA and the Department of Treasury have provided detailed definitions of energy communities (Interagency Working Group on Coal & Power Plant Communities & Economic Revitalization 2024):

- A "brownfield site" as defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA)
- A "metropolitan statistical area" or "non-metropolitan statistical area" that has significant employment or tax revenue related to the fossil fuel industry and has above-national-average unemployment rate
- A census tract or directly adjoining census tract where a coal mine has closed after 1999 or where a coal-fired power plant has been retired after 2009

From interviewing project developers, the energy community adder is being treated as a "good-to-have". The project itself needs to make economic sense without factoring in the adder. Meanwhile, the geographic distribution of the

energy communities does create some unique opportunities in regulated markets. According to the head of M&A at a utility-scale solar developer, in regulated markets where qualified energy community areas are sparse (e.g. Georgia, North Carolina, South Carolina), a solar project located in an energy community area has a decisive competitive advantage in winning request for proposals (RFPs). In contrast, in regulated markets where qualified energy community areas are plenty (e.g. Mississippi), there is no competitive advantage for projects claiming the adder.

Low-Income Adder

The Low-Income Communities Bonus Credit Program awards an additional 10% to the Section 48 ITCs to qualified solar and wind projects in low-income communities or on Indian Land. If the facility is built as part of a Qualified Low-Income Residential Building Project or a Qualified Low-Income Economic Benefit Project, this additional bonus is bumped up to 20% (U.S. Department of Energy 2024). These additional credits are referred to as the "Low-to-moderate (LMI) Income Adder." According to the final regulations that the IRS published on August 15, 2023 (IRA 2023-17078), eligible solar and wind projects must have lower than 5MW net capacity. Eligible co-located battery projects must be charged at least 50% by the connected facility, or have a power rating that is less than 2 times the capacity rating of the connected facility.

Figure 7 presents the allocated and remaining capacity of the Low-Income Communities Bonus Credit Program (U.S. Department of Energy 2024). We can see that industry players have exhausted the Eligible LI Community Project Option. Community solar developers acknowledged that the LMI adder is helpful, but more projects are being built without considering the adder. For community solar projects, each new market needs to be legislatively enabled (e.g. Virginia's shared solar program). Once there is state legislation support, a 30% ITC is sufficient to improve project economics and reduce project attrition.

Category Type	Application Option	Total Capacity (MW)	Approved Allocations (MW)	Applications Pending Allocation (MW)	Capacity Remaining (MW)
Category 1	Eligible Residential Behind-the-Meter (BTM)	245	304	0	0
Category 1	Eligible Residential BTM – Additional Selection Criteria	245	91	0	154
Category 1	Other Eligible LI Community Project	105	0	3,071	0
Category 1	Other Eligible LI Community Project – Additional Selection Criteria	105	207	465	0
Category 2	Located on Indian Land	100	18	0	82
Category 2	Located on Indian Land - Additional Selection Criteria	100	23	0	77
Category 3	Qualified Low-Income Residential Building Projects	100	102	1	0
Category 3	Qualified Low-Income Residential Building Projects - Addt'I Selection Criteria	100	35	0	65
Category 4	Qualified Low-Income Economic Benefit Projects	350	145	2,983	0
Category 4	Qualified Low-Income Economic Benefit Projects - Addt'l Selection Criteria	350	539	88	0

Ingare 7. Low meetine communities bonds creater rogram / mocation basiloodia
--

Source:	U.S.	Department of	^{Energy}	2024
---------	------	---------------	-------------------	------

Onshore Wind Energy



Onshore Wind Energy

Key Insights for Onshore Wind Investment

We believe that onshore wind technology is a promising investment opportunity because of the standardization of PPA contracts and declining costs per kilowatt hour. Furthermore, it is likely that the Inflation Reduction Act's (IRA) Domestic Content Adder will reduce the United States' dependence on European turbine supply chains. One trend that emerged from our interviews was how wind energy development's "cookie cutter" nature has equally apparent pros and cons (Ozturkeri 2024). On one hand, onshore wind development isn't as attractive to developers and investors as it was in previous decades because turbine technology has stagnated. Turbines became more effective simply by making them bigger, and small-scale residential wind never took off. In summary, onshore wind technology today is "old news." However, this long legacy in the U.S means that onshore wind contracts are also "cookie cutter" (Ozturkeri 2024). The standardization of PPA contracts makes onshore wind significantly less risky than newer technologies, such as hydrogen fuel cells. The downside of this standardization is that in states like California, the best wind resources have already been developed. Therefore, we believe that the New England Independent System Operator (ISO-NE) is ideal for onshore wind investments because of the region's untapped resources, supportive regulatory structures, low costs per kilowatt hour, and transmission opportunities.

The largest risk when pursuing wind development is the global nature of turbine supply chains. 75% of the turbines being used in the U.S' installed wind capacity are manufactured by General Electric (GE), Vestas, Siemens Gamesa (SGRE), and Siemens AG. GE is the only major manufacturer of wind turbines that is headquartered in the United States. The other manufacturers are headquartered in Germany, Denmark, and Spain, which means that U.S. wind development relies on European manufacturing. Historically, turbine supply chains between the U.S and Europe have not been hindered but it remains a risk. However, we believe that most of this risk will be circumvented by the IRA's domestic content credit adder. The domestic content adder gives the only U.S based turbine manufacturer, GE, a competitive advantage (Analyst From a Large O&M Company, 2024). New U.S onshore wind projects are incentivized to buy from GE, which in turn encourages GE to build more domestic factories. The reshoring of wind turbine manufacturing will take many years, but it will eventually minimize U.S. wind developers' reliance on European supply chains.

The tax credits created by sections 45X, 45Y, and 48E of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (IRC) are the most pertinent to onshore wind development. Section 45X provides tax credits for companies who manufacture advanced components used in renewable energy projects, section 45Y states that project owners receive production tax credits (PTC) per kilowatt hour of renewable electricity they generate, and 48E explains that companies who invest in renewable energy projects receive a percentage of their investment back in the form of investment tax credits (ITC). PTC and ITC are transferable (Murray 2023) but the Advanced Manufacturing credit under 45X is not.

The IRA benefitted all renewable energy developers by creating and extending policy incentives. Credits offered under IRA will phase out in 2032 or when total greenhouse gas emissions in the power sector decline to at least 75% below 2022 levels. IRA helped wind developers by extending tax credits' applicability timeline and raising wind's PTC value. PTCs and ITCs have been available to wind developers since the Energy Policy Act of 1992 (EIA 2012). The IRA helped wind developers by raising the value of PTCs from 2.2¢ per kilowatt hour to 2.6¢ per kilowatt hour for the first ten years of a project's operation. The 2009 American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) set the PTC for wind technology at 30% of the credit's value. IRA raised the credit value for wind and all other renewable technologies, except batteries, to 60% for projects constructed after 2022 (DOE 2022). Lastly, the IRA extended the credits' phase out timeline from 2025 to 2032.

Wind energy projects qualify for the IRA's stackable credit bonuses, also known as adders. The Prevailing Wage and Apprenticeship (PWA) adder stipulates that for a number of the tax credits created or modified by the IRA, the base credit amount is increased by five times for projects that meet requirements for paying prevailing wages and using registered apprentices. The Domestic Content adder gives onshore wind projects a 10% credit bonus if they are built with 100% domestic steel or iron and 40% domestically-manufactured components (DOE 2022). The Energy Communities adder grants wind projects operating in communities with fossil fuel-based economies or brownfield sites receive a 10% credit bonus.² Finally, the Low-Income adder rewards wind projects under five megawatts for operating in low-income or tribal communities with a 10% stackable credit bonus. Developers must apply for the Low-Income Communities adder but do not need additional applications for the PWA and Domestic Content adders.

Tax credits rolled out by IRA and unblocked supply chains post pandemic led the U.S. to add 8.5 gigawatts of wind power capacity in 2022. By the end of 2022, the U.S' cumulative onshore wind capacity was 144 gigawatts (DOE 2023). These new onshore wind projects constituted 22% of all new renewable energy development projects, making it the second most popular technology after solar. The majority of new wind development occurred within the Electric Reliability Council of Texas (ERCOT) and the Southwest Power Pool (SPP). These two regions remain ideal for wind development because of their lower construction costs compared to other ISOs, historical leadership in wind development, and unique grid infrastructure (DOE 2023).

Through our interviews we found that the IRA counteracted onshore wind developers' increasing material costs by tackling high inflation rates but it did not address five other key issues (Silverman and Tandon 2024). Developers interested in onshore wind investment will still have to contend with limited transmission opportunities, interconnection costs, land permitting challenges, competition with substitute energy generation forms, and the global nature of wind turbine supply chains.

Technology

Dominant and Proven Technology

A wind turbine generates electricity by converting the aerodynamic force of airflow. The spinning rotor blades are connected to the generator, either directly or through a gearbox that speeds up the rotation and enables a smaller-size generator (DOE).

There are two main types of wind turbines: horizontal-axis and vertical-axis turbines. Vertical-axis turbines have the advantage of being omnidirectional-they don't need to face into the wind to generate electricity. There has been some adoption of vertical-axis turbines by small commercial operators or individuals on building rooftops and other urban

² Energy community is defined as (1) an area with 0.17% or greater direct employment or 25% or greater local tax revenues related to the extraction, processing, transport, or storage of coal, oil, or natural gas; and has an unemployment rate at or above the national average unemployment rate for the previous year, or (2) a census tract in which a coal mine has closed after 1999; or in which a coal-fired electric generating unit has been retired after 2009.

locations. In contrast, all utility-scale projects adopt horizontal-axis turbines because they demonstrate better performance and achieve higher wind energy efficiency (EIA 2024).

Different turbines apply to different settings. Land-based wind projects benefit from the cost-effectiveness of grouping large wind turbines (several megawatts each) to generate bulk power for the grid. Currently, most offshore wind turbines are installed on fixed-platforms and are more common along the east coast where seabed conditions are more favorable. West coast states like California are also investing in research for floating offshore wind to capture higher wind potential.

Promising Innovations

NREL research efforts have focused on achieving longer blades, taller towers, and low-specific-power wind turbines. Other innovations mainly involve operational improvements, such as advanced tower manufacturing that enables onsite creation of wind turbines, climbing cranes to enable efficient turbine installation and reduced costs in moving conventional cranes, as well as wake steering to achieve 1%-2% annual energy production gains (NREL 2023). Venture capital is being channeled into artificial intelligence and robotics & automation in wind farm optimization (Harrison-Atlas et al. 2022).

Project Economics

Revenue Trends

Wind power purchase agreement prices have been rising since approximately 2018, with a recent range from below \$20/MWh to more than \$40/MWh (DOE 2023).

Non-utility buyers entered into more contracts to purchase wind than did utilities in 2022. Direct retail purchasers of wind—including corporate offtakers—buy electricity from at least 44% of the new wind capacity installed in 2022 (DOE 2023).

Cost Trends

Despite a decline by 50% between 2008 and 2020, recent supply chain pressures and elevated commodity prices have led to increased turbine prices over the last several years: \$900/kW - \$1,200/kW5 on average (a level roughly similar to that last seen in 2017 and 2018 and up from a range of \$800-\$1,000/kW for 2019–2021) (DOE 2023).

Installation costs differ by region, with the lowest-cost projects in ERCOT (averaging \$1360/kW) and SPP (\$1470/kW), and MISO (\$1730/kW) (DOE 2023).

Levelized costs vary by region, with the lowest costs in SPP and ERCOT. The lowest average LCOEs for projects built in 2021 and 2022—only considering regions with at least two plants in the sample—are found in SPP and ERCOT (both ~\$33/MWh on average), with PJM averaging the highest at \$46/MWh (DOE 2023).

Despite limited data, recent projects (last 16 years) show lower O&M costs than older ones. O&M costs tend to rise with project age, especially for older projects analyzed (DOE 2023).

PTC vs ITC Project Financing Decisions

		Installation & Interest Costs (After-Tax Levered IRR) - PTC							
				In	terest Rate				
		5.2%	5.7%	6.2%	6.7%	7.2%	7.7%	8.2%	
st	\$ 1,600	25.1%	24.1%	23.2%	22.4%	21.6%	21.0%	20.4%	
ĉ	\$ 1,650	23.2%	22.3%	21.6%	20.8%	20.2%	19.6%	19.1%	
AH S	\$ 1,700	21.6%	20.8%	20.1%	19.5%	18.9%	18.4%	17.9%	
ž či	\$ 1,750	20.1%	19.5%	18.9%	18.3%	17.8%	17.3%	16.9%	
pe	\$ 1,800	18.9%	18.3%	17.7%	17.2%	16.8%	16.3%	15.9%	
lst	\$ 1,850	17.7%	17.2%	16.7%	16.2%	15.8%	15.4%	15.1%	
-	\$ 1,900	16.7%	16.2%	15.8%	15.4%	15.0%	14.6%	14.3%	

Figure 8: Installation and Interest Cost for PTC Decision

Figure 9: Installation and Interest Cost for ITC Decision

			Installation	& Interest (Costs (After-	Tax Levere	d IRR) - ITC	
					Interest Rate			
		5.2%	5.7%	6.2%	6.7%	7.2%	7.7%	8.2%
st	\$ 1,600	24.2%	24.1%	23.9%	23.8%	23.6%	23.4%	23.2%
8	\$ 1,650	23.6%	23.5%	23.3%	23.1%	23.0%	22.8%	22.6%
Ϋ́	\$ 1,700	23.0%	22.9%	22.7%	22.5%	22.4%	22.2%	22.0%
I K	\$ 1,750	22.4%	22.3%	22.1%	22.0%	21.8%	21.6%	21.4%
pella	\$ 1,800	21.9%	21.8%	21.6%	21.4%	21.2%	21.1%	20.8%
st	\$ 1,850	21.4%	21.2%	21.1%	20.9%	20.7%	20.3%	19.5%
-	\$ 1,900	20.9%	20.7%	20.6%	20.4%	20.0%	19.1%	18.4%

A sensitivity analysis of several independent variables including interest rates and installation costs illustrates that ITC is typically the preferred tax incentive for wind developments, since the financial impact of PTCs can be highly dependent on interest rate outlook. However, due to the varying cost and performance profiles of wind projects across the U.S., certain confounding variables such as Net Capacity Factor may affect whether PTC or ITC is more economically beneficial to developers. Each project should be modeled individually to determine which tax credit is most beneficial to investors and developers.

Onshore Wind Markets

Wind manufacturing is a highly concentrated industry with four main competitors in the U.S.– General Electric (GE), Vestas, Siemens Gamesa Renewable Energy (SGRE) and Siemens Aktiengesellschaft. 75% of turbines used in installed onshore wind development in the U.S. are from one of these four companies (EIA 2016).

Although wind turbine prices declined by 50% between 2008 and 2020, recent supply chain pressures and elevated commodity prices have led to increased turbine prices. Still, manufacturing profits remain highly constrained and, at times, negative.

Wind is the second largest source of U.S. electric-power capacity additions in 2022 at 22%, behind solar's 49%. However, in certain markets, wind represents a larger fraction of new capacity–e.g. SPP (85%), ERCOT (49%), MISO (47%), and non-ISO West (30%) where it enjoys more favorable economics due to higher net capacity factors, PPA prices, and interconnection to the grid (DOE 2023).

Geography plays an important role in the economic profile of wind developments, with capacity factors and LCOEs varying significantly across regions.



Figure 10: Installed Wind Capacity in 2020 (MW)

Total Installed Wind Capacity: 122,465 MW Source: U.S. Department of Energy

Regional Markets Analysis

There are ten Independent System Operators (ISOs) in the United States that oversee the operation of regional electrical grids. Each ISO regulates the generation, transmission, and distribution of electricity in the states within their assigned region. Their primary responsibility lies in managing the flow of electricity across high-voltage transmission lines, ensuring that generation matches demand in real-time to maintain grid stability (FERC). Additionally, ISOs operate wholesale electricity markets where generators sell power to utilities and other participants, employing mechanisms like auctions to determine prices and allocate resources efficiently. They

play a pivotal role in dispatching power, balancing supply and demand, and overseeing grid planning to ensure reliability and efficiency. Each ISO's unique market characteristics create unique opportunities and challenges for onshore wind developers. Therefore, it is important for renewable energy developers to understand how each of these diverse regional environments could affect their project outcomes (FERC).

 VA
 ND
 VT
 ME

 3,405.0
 MT
 1,467.3
 4,301.8
 MN
 NY
 2,102.2

 0,04.7
 07.5
 50
 4,748.7
 NN
 2,102.2
 NH - 2,14.2

 10.0
 1,167.3
 0,519
 12,782.6
 N
 1,147.2
 N-1.4.4.7

 10.0
 1,178.3
 0,519
 12,782.6
 N
 1,147.2
 N-1.4.4.7

 10.0
 0,519
 12,782.6
 N
 0,111.2
 0,14.4.7
 1,467.2
 N-1.9.7

 0.6
 11.8
 300.7
 5,194.5
 K3
 2,435.3
 NO.7
 2,00.7
 NO.7
 NO.7
 0,01.1
 1,467.2
 NO.7
 NO.7

Total Installed Wind Capacity: 144,133 MW Source: U.S. Department of Energy



Figure 12: Map of the U.S. Regional Independent Systems Operators (ISOs)

Figure 11: Installed Wind Capacity by State in 2022 (MW)

The Electric Reliability Council of Texas (ERCOT)

The Electric Reliability Council of Texas (ERCOT) operates the largest wind energy market in the United States. The DOE estimates that wind penetration for ERCOT in 2022, as expressed as a percentage of total load, is 24.2%. 49% of the nation's total 8.5 gigawatts of new wind capacity was constructed in Texas (DOE 2023). New wind projects account for 10% of Texas's interconnection queue. ERCOT stands out as a particularly favorable region due to its vast land area, strong and consistent wind resources, supportive regulatory environment, deregulated electricity market, and growing demand for renewable energy. Wind development in Texas is concentrated in the northwestern and southeastern portions of the state (DOE).



Figure 13: Map of Operating Onshore Wind Turbines in Texas

Source: Texas A&M University

ERCOT has invested heavily in its transmission infrastructure to accommodate the growth of renewable energy, including onshore wind. ERCOT is unique in that decades ago grid transmission lines were built to where scientists thought successful wind projects would be sited (Silverman, 2024). This foresight allowed ERCOT to largely avoid physical transmission connectivity issues that many other ISOs spread over a large area face. The region benefits from a robust network of transmission lines that can efficiently transport electricity from wind-rich areas to population centers and major load centers. This infrastructure development has reduced congestion and improved the reliability of the grid, further incentivizing investment in onshore wind projects.

While Texas has addressed many of its physical grid issues, the primary remaining challenges lie in regulatory reforms necessary to ensure grid resilience and reliability. In the past, ERCOT offered financial incentives to increase the number of small energy suppliers who could enter the deregulated market. This regulatory choice, combined with wind developers receiving federal tax credits in 1992, has made Texas the top energy producing state in the U.S. However, Texas regulators in the state government now think that financial incentives are not needed anymore because of how much the electricity market has grown. In June 2023, Texas Republicans proposed several state house bills that would create regulatory hurdles and reduce incentives, making it increasingly challenging for wind development in the state (Gold 2023). ERCOT's strategic plan for 2024-2028 states that it is highly aware of the public's loss of confidence since Winter Storm Uri in 2021. The plan also mentions that ERCOT's first priority is to be an "industry leader for grid reliability and resilience," assumably to win back Texans trust in them (ERCOT 2024). The rollback of state-level financial incentives and ERCOT's prioritization of grid resilience post Uri point to a plan to stall the grid's growth so Texas policymakers can better manage the large electricity market they have. ERCOT regulators seem to think that the prevention of new wind energy capacity will free up more resources for grid reliability improvements.

California Independent Systems Operator (CAISO)

The California Independent System Operator (CAISO) runs the fourth largest market for wind energy in the United States. California uses wind energy for 28.3% of its total electricity demand (DOE 2023). The DOE estimates that wind penetration for CAISO in 2022, as expressed as a percentage of total load, is 8.4%. California's natural climate makes the state more attractive to solar development, but wind resources thrive in a small cluster of geographic regions. Although this is a significant amount of electricity generation, it occurs in only a few parts of the state. Namely, turbines are located in the Tehachapi area in Kern County, in the Altamont Pass area in Alameda, and in the San Gorgonio Pass in Riverside County (California Energy Commission).



Figure 14: Map of Installed and Planned Wind Capacity in California

Source: California Energy Commission

Onshore wind development within CAISO has stagnated because the few wind resources California has have already been exploited. Nancy Rader, the Executive Director of the California Wind Association (CalWEA) stated that "land-use restrictions outside of the major existing wind resource areas [largely in the California desert as a result of the Desert Renewable Energy Conservation Plan] made it very difficult to develop wind projects in California." All the remaining sites with onshore wind potential are protected against development unless the federal government loosens its standards. Moreover, the huge interconnection queues mean that projects, on average, don't come online for at least five years (Silverman, 2024). Some 4,000 megawatts of in-state wind projects are waiting in California's interconnection queues, and 2,500 megawatts of additional in-state wind capacity is included in the California Public Utilities Commission's integrated resource plan. However, nearly all of this planned capacity is coming from offshore wind projects. CAISO's 20-Year Transmission Outlook Plan states that North Coast and Central Coast offshore wind farms will provide 7-13 additional gigawatts to the electricity supply (CAISO 2022). CAISO plans to import 10 gigawatts of onshore wind energy from the surrounding ISOs but building in-state capacity is not a priority.

California offers several incentives to promote onshore wind development, aiming to bolster renewable energy generation and reduce carbon emissions. One prominent incentive is the Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS), which mandates that a certain percentage of electricity sold in the state comes from renewable sources, including wind power (DOE). This creates a steady demand for renewable energy, encouraging investment in wind projects. Additionally, the California Energy Commission (CEC) provides funding through various programs such as the USDA Renewable Energy for America Program (REAP) and the Electric Program Investment Charge (EPIC) Program, which offer grants and loans for renewable energy projects, including onshore wind farms (DOE). Furthermore, the California Solar Initiative (CSI) Thermal Program and the Self-Generation Incentive Program (SGIP) also support wind development indirectly by promoting renewable energy technologies and grid resilience, which can benefit wind projects. These incentives, combined with California's ambitious renewable energy goals and favorable regulatory environment, make the state an

attractive destination for onshore wind development, fostering sustainable energy growth and environmental stewardship (DOE).

California's robust state incentives for onshore wind development are juxtaposed with significant challenges that may hinder investors from fully capitalizing on these policies. Despite the incentives, the state faces constraints such as limited available land for new wind projects and lengthy interconnection queues. The scarcity of suitable land, combined with competing land uses and stringent environmental regulations, restricts the potential for large-scale wind farm development (Holbein 2024). Moreover, the extensive interconnection queues exacerbate delays in connecting new wind projects to the grid, prolonging the time from project inception to commercial operation. These barriers not only increase project development costs but also introduce uncertainties that deter investors seeking timely returns on their investments (Holbein 2024).

Southwest ISO and Southwest Power Pool (SPP)

All of the members in the Southwest ISO and SPP have state level incentives for onshore wind development that works additionally to IRA tax credits. Arizona offers several incentives to promote onshore wind development, aligning with its commitment to renewable energy and sustainability. One key incentive is the Arizona Renewable Energy Standard and Tariff (REST), which mandates that utilities generate 15% of their electricity from renewable sources by 2025, with a portion specifically allocated to wind energy. This creates a stable market for wind power and provides long-term demand certainty for developers (DSIRE). Figure 15: Map of Installed Wind Turbines in the U.S.





Additionally, the state offers property tax incentives for renewable energy facilities, including wind farms, through the Renewable Energy Production Tax Credit. This credit reduces property taxes for qualifying projects, making wind development more financially attractive. Furthermore, Arizona's Renewable Energy Investment Fund (REIF) provides grants and loans to renewable energy projects, supporting the development and deployment of onshore wind infrastructure (DSIRE).

Midwestern states within the SPP have taken a different approach to encouraging market growth. For example, Kansas offers property tax exemptions for renewable energy facilities, including wind farms, through the Renewable Energy Property Tax Exemption (DSIRE). This exemption reduces property taxes for qualifying projects, making wind development more financially viable. Furthermore, the state provides sales tax exemptions for renewable energy equipment and materials used in the construction of wind projects, further lowering the costs of development (DSIRE).

New England ISO (ISO-NE)

Wind projects make up nearly 50% of new resource proposals in the ISO Queue – Most are offshore wind proposals in southern New England, but some are onshore wind proposals in northern New England and would require transmission to deliver the energy to load centers (ISO NE 2023).

Onshore Wind queue is 2325 MW as of June 2023, taking up around 6.7% of total capacity in the interconnection queue, whereas offshore wind takes up around 41.3% of total capacity (ISO NE 2023). All onshore addition is concentrated in Maine. Overall, onshore wind investment remained relatively stable pre vs post IRA, while there are more offshore wind proposals post-IRA (ISO NE 2024).

For FCAs 14, 15, and 16, the region was divided into four zones: NNE (VT, NH, and ME), "Nested" Maine, a separate capacity zone within NNE; SENE (East MA, RI, and Greater Boston); and ROP (CT, West and Central MA) (ISO NE). Figure 16: Forward Capacity Auctions for 2022 in ISO-NE

Auction Commitment Period	New Demand Resources (MW)	New Generation (MW)	Clearing Price (\$/kW-month)
FCA 14 in 2020 for CCP 2023/2024	323	335	\$2,001
FCA 15 in 2021 for CCP 2024/2025	170	950	ROP: \$2,611 NNE: \$2,477 SENE: \$3,980
FCA 16 in 2022 for CCP 2025/2026	230	311	ROP: \$2,591 NNE: \$2,531 SENE: \$2,639
FCA 17 in 2023 for CCP 2026/2027	2,940	619	\$2,590
FCA 18 in 2024 for CCP 2027/2028	105	998	\$3,580

Source: ISO-NE Strategic Plan

FCA 17, 18 divided the region into three zones: NNE, Maine, and ROP (Greater Boston, MA, CT, and RI).

The forward capacity market is taking up an increasingly small share of the annual value of wholesale electricity markets. (largest in 2018-2020, decreasing since then)(ISO NE). The 2023 average wholesale electricity price was \$35.90/MWh (ISO NE). The price hit its peak in July 2022 when it was \$90.68/MWh.

Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Maryland ISO (PJM)

Onshore wind trends: Growth is occurring fastest in areas with favorable wind speed and sustained duration in order to achieve energy production levels that generate profitmaking revenue streams (PJM Planning Division 2022). PJM continues to see developer interest in western subregions (including Illinois, Indiana and Ohio).

Figure 17: Installed and Planned Wind Capacity in PJM Cumulative Nameplate - Millions (GW) 50 Cumulative Total: 46,243 MW Proposed Offshore 40 Proposed Proposed Onshore **Offshore Wind** 30 Operational 17,582 MW 20 \uparrow Proposed 10 **Onshore Wind** 18,294 MW 0 2005 2008 2011 2014 2017 2020 2023 2026 2029 Source: PJM Strategic Plan

As of February 2023, there are approximately 3.5 GW of onshore wind and solar capacity resources participating in the Reliability Pricing Model (RPM) capacity market as intermittent resources. From 2022 to 2030, this accredited capacity is expected to decline to 2.3 GW due to portfolio effects resulting in the increase of entry from other intermittent renewable resources (PJM Planning Division 2022).

PJM on 2023 Feb. 27 reported a footprint-wide capacity market clearing price of \$28.92/MW-day for the 2024/2025 delivery year, down from \$34.13/MW-day for the prior delivery year (Hale 2023). In the real time markets, the Load-weighted average Locational Marginal Pricing for 2023 was \$30.87/MWh. In September 2023 the marginal pricing was \$31.60/MWh, which is much lower than September 2022 (\$78.30/MWh) and also lower than September 2021 (\$49.60/MWh) (PJM 2023).

Figure 18: Map of Planned and Installed Wind Capacity in PJM



Map 5. Onshore Wind Generation Project Locations, Through Queue AG2, Prior to ISA



Source: PJM Strategic Plan



Technological

- Competition from other cost-competitive energy sources such as solar and natural gas
- Limited transmission: The limited capacity of transmission lines to transport electricity from these remote locations to consumers can restrict the growth of wind power. Building new transmission lines is expensive and can encounter regulatory and community opposition (Tandon 2024).
- Interconnection costs and timeframes: Developers must navigate complex interconnection processes, including studies to assess the impact on the grid and upgrades to existing infrastructure. These requirements can increase the cost and delay the deployment of new wind projects.
- Cybersecurity threats: cyberattacks can significantly reduce energy generation and cut off communication between turbines and operators. Federal agencies are working to strengthen security measures, policies, and IT infrastructure for wind farms. This could also imply higher costs for future projects (DOE 2023).

"It is imperative that we remain cognizant of the real threat that cyber and other attacks can pose to our energy systems."

⁻ Jim Ahlgrimm, Director of the IEA Wind Technologies Office

Market/Financial

• Inflation rates: Rising costs for materials, labor, and other inputs can affect the economics of wind projects (Silverman 2024).

Operational

• Supply chain issues: The wind industry relies on a global supply chain for components such as turbines, blades, and electrical equipment. Disruptions in the supply chain, whether due to political issues, pandemics, or other factors, can delay project timelines and increase costs (Analyst From a Large O&M Company, 2024).

Regulatory

- Siting and permitting challenges: The permitting process can be lengthy and uncertain, involving multiple local, state, and federal agencies. Issues such as visual impact, noise, and potential impacts on wildlife can lead to opposition and delays (Silverman 2024).
- Federal Administration Change: Most policy analysts agree that in the case former President Trump wins the 2024 election, a complete repeal of the IRA is unlikely. However, Congress Republicans proposed cutting 45V and 45Y credits as means to reauthorize the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA), which is set to expire in 2025. It is not unreasonable to assume that the IRA's large pool of funding could be expropriated in the new 2025 tax policy (Martin and Gimigliano 2024). Experts at Norton Rose state that the IRA credits that are most likely to be cut in 2025 are 45V and 45Y because they were unpopular to begin within. The IRA credits 45X and 48E, which support onshore wind development, were popular in the law's infancy so major changes are unlikely (Martin and Gimigliano 2024).

Solar Energy

Solar Energy

Introduction

The Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) marks a pivotal shift in the U.S. energy landscape, significantly influencing solar investment opportunities. It has revitalized interest in renewable energy, with solar power standing out due to its scalability, decreasing costs, and substantial support through tax incentives.

Technology

Crystalline silicon remains the cornerstone of solar technology, used in more than 90% of solar panels globally. However, new materials and cell structures are emerging that promise higher efficiencies and potentially lower costs. One of the most promising developments has been in the field of tandem solar cells, particularly those combining perovskite and silicon. Tandem cells use two different light-absorbing layers to capture a broader spectrum of sunlight, thereby achieving higher efficiencies. Recently, these have exceeded 33% efficiency in laboratory settings, a significant improvement over the maximum 30% for traditional silicon cells (MIT Technology Review 2024).

Tax Credits and Eligibility

Under the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) of 2022, substantial revisions have been made to the structure and application of tax credits for solar and broader clean energy projects. The IRA maintains Investment Tax Credits (ITC) and the Production Tax Credits (PTC), each with its eligibility criteria and benefits. The section 48E ITC continues to apply to solar energy generation but is significantly modified. The credit now offers a base rate of 6% and can be escalated to a 30% bonus rate if projects meet the newly implemented prevailing wage and apprenticeship requirements or if they are small-scale projects under 1MW (U.S. Department of the Treasury 2024). The section new 45Y PTC is a technologyneutral clean electricity credit that will replace the clean electricity PTC starting in 2025. The PTC credit starts at 2.6 ¢/kWh and is available for the first 10 years of a projects operation until the tax credit phases out.

65,000 60,000 55,000 50,000 MWdc 45,000 40.000 35.000 30.000 25,000 20,000 15,000 10.000 5000 0 2024 No IRA 🔳 IRA

Figure 19: Impact of the Inflation Reduction Act on Solar

Market Outlook

Source: SEIA/Wood Mackenzie Power & Renewables Solar Market Insight Report Series 2023

Section 45Y PTC

Base PTC Rates: For projects under 1 MWac (megawatt alternating current), the base PTC starts at 2.6 ¢/kWh in 2022 and experiences a slight annual increase to 3.2 ¢/kWh by 2032. After 2032, the rates gradually decrease until they reach zero by 2036. This structured phase-out incentivizes early adoption and investment in solar energy production.

- **Bonus Credits:** Additional bonuses are offered for meeting domestic content minimums and for siting in an "energy community." These bonus credits start at 0.3 ¢/kWh each and remain stable until they phase out following a similar trajectory to the base rate post-2032.
- Labor Requirements: Projects that meet labor requirements get an extra bump in their PTC rates. It's important to note that these adders for labor standards, domestic content, and energy community location can significantly enhance the value of the PTC for qualifying projects.
- Inflation and Emission Considerations: The PTC is adjusted for inflation annually, and the phase-down is connected to electric sector CO2 emissions, with the full credit available until emissions are reduced by 75% from 2022 levels.

Section 48E ITC: Projects under 1 MWac

- **Base ITC Rate:** For projects under 1 MWac, the base Investment Tax Credit remains consistently at 30% from 2022 to 2032.
- **Domestic Content Bonus:** A bonus of 10% is granted for meeting domestic content requirements, maintaining the incentive at 40% through 2032.
- Energy Community Bonus: An additional 10% credit is available for projects sited in energy communities.
- Low-Income Bonuses: For projects in low-income communities or on Indian lands, the ITC can be increased by another 10%, and if they are part of a qualified low-income residential building project or economic benefit project, this bonus can be 20%.

The phase-out for these projects starts in 2034 with a 75% level of the original credits, 50% in 2034, and then drops to 0% in 2036.

Section 48E ITC: Projects over 1 MWac that begin construction less than 60 Days After Dept. of Treasury issues guidance

- **Base ITC:** These projects enjoy a 30% base credit through 2032, similar to the smaller projects.
- Bonuses for Domestic Content and Energy Community: Identical to smaller projects, these larger projects also benefit from the 10% bonuses for meeting domestic content minimums and being situated in an energy community.
- Low-Income Bonuses: These follow the same structure as the smaller projects, with 10% for low-income community projects and an additional 20% for low-income residential building projects.

Projects that start construction 60 days after the Department of Treasury issues guidance see a reduced base ITC of 6% with smaller additional bonuses for meeting specific requirements.

Phase-out Schedule: Starting in 2033, the ITC begins to phase out, reducing first to 75%, then 50% in 2034, and ultimately phasing out completely by 2036. This suggests a timeline for the green energy sector to mature and become self-sustainable without the need for federal tax incentives.

Market Analysis

The global solar PV market continues to expand rapidly. In 2023 alone, the installation of solar PV capacity soared, with significant contributions from both utility-scale projects and distributed systems such as residential and commercial

rooftop installations. Distributed systems are particularly being driven by high electricity prices and favorable policy incentives, which have made small-scale installations an attractive investment for many consumers (IEA 2024). The U.S. saw a record installation of around 15.8 GW in just the first nine months of 2023 (NREL 2024).

The manufacturing landscape for solar PV is also evolving with significant capacity expansions planned, particularly in China, which dominates the market. This includes not only the expansion of existing technologies but also investments in new technologies like N-type cells and bifacial modules which can absorb light from both sides of the panel (NREL 2024). Despite a global increase in production capacity, the majority of manufacturing remains concentrated in China, accounting for up to 95% of new capacity (NREL 2024).

Economic factors such as the cost of raw materials and manufacturing efficiencies continue to play critical roles in the solar PV sector. Prices for key components like polysilicon have fluctuated, influencing overall module costs and market dynamics. Regulatory changes and government incentives, such as those introduced under the Inflation Reduction Act in the U.S., are also crucial in shaping the market (The Department of Energy's Energy.gov) (Merchant 2024). As the solar PV industry moves forward, continuous innovation and supportive regulatory frameworks will be essential to maintain growth momentum and to overcome the current challenges. The ongoing research and development in higher efficiency materials and the scaling up of production capacities are likely to further drive down costs, making solar energy even more accessible globally (Merchant 2024).

Community Solar Market

The Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) introduces significant opportunities and challenges for the community solar market, particularly targeting low-income areas. This policy is designed to make solar energy more accessible and affordable to a broader demographic and stimulate economic activity in underprivileged sectors.

The IRA substantially boosts the community solar segment by offering enhanced tax incentives, including added bonuses for those serving low-income communities. Specifically, projects can qualify for additional tax credits ranging from 10% to 20% of the project cost if they ensure that a significant portion of their benefits go to low-income consumers. These incentives are structured to lower the financial barriers for entry and make community solar projects more economically viable (Department of Treasury, 2024).

Despite these incentives, there are considerable hurdles to achieving widespread adoption among the target demographic. One primary challenge is the bureaucratic complexity involved in qualifying households as "low-income" which can deter participation. The process often requires extensive documentation and navigating through cumbersome governmental procedures, which can be a significant impediment. Moreover, there is a notable challenge in building trust within these communities (Lydersen 2024). According to an industry source, previous experiences with predatory practices in the energy sector have left a residue of skepticism that new community solar initiatives must carefully address. Building this trust is crucial to the successful deployment of community solar systems that genuinely benefit low-income households.

Another significant issue is the system's capacity to handle the surge in demand these incentives might generate (Lydersen 2024). For example, during the initial application period for the IRA's low-income bonuses, the program received an overwhelming number of submissions, significantly exceeding the available capacity. This over-subscription indicates a robust interest, but creates a potential bottleneck where many projects might not receive funding, leading to delays and potential disillusionment among stakeholders (Lydersen 2024).

For community solar projects to be sustainable and impactful, they also need to integrate effectively with local utilities and regulatory frameworks. Projects must ensure that the savings from solar energy are credited to consumers' bills and that the benefits are transparent and significant enough to warrant the switch from traditional energy sources.

Looking ahead, the community solar market under the IRA promises substantial growth. However, for this potential to be fully realized, project developers and advocates must navigate the regulatory landscape carefully, build trust with communities, and ensure that the administrative and financial frameworks supporting these initiatives are robust and user-friendly. These efforts will be essential in moving towards a more inclusive and sustainable solar energy infrastructure that not only contributes to environmental goals but also supports economic development in historically marginalized communities.

Commercial Solar Market

One of the central features of the IRA is its enhancement of financial incentives for commercial solar projects. The act notably increases the section 48E ITC to 30% of the total installation costs for commercial solar systems. This substantial tax credit is aimed at reducing the upfront financial burden on businesses and accelerating the payback period, making solar investments more attractive and feasible for a broader range of businesses. Furthermore, the IRA introduces direct pay options and performance-based incentives like meeting labor requirements, making it easier for non-taxable entities like nonprofits to benefit from solar investments. These entities can directly receive payments equivalent to the value of the tax credits, which democratizes access to solar incentives across different organizational structures.

By investing in solar technology, businesses can significantly lower their operational costs with solar Power Purchase Agreements, which provides a stable and predictably priced source of electricity, which can be particularly advantageous against the backdrop of rising energy prices and market volatility. Moreover, the shift to renewable energy can enhance a company's sustainability profile, appealing to an increasingly eco-conscious consumer base and potentially offering a competitive edge in the market.

In summary, the IRA provides a pivotal opportunity for businesses to invest in commercial solar projects, leveraging substantial tax incentives to mitigate upfront costs and enhance long-term profitability. However, success in this evolving market will require careful strategic planning, a thorough understanding of regulatory requirements, and proactive management of supply chain and infrastructure challenges. With the right approach, businesses can not only enhance their energy efficiency and sustainability but also position themselves competitively in a rapidly changing economic landscape.

Utility-Scale Solar Market

The utility-scale solar market is undergoing transformative growth under the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA), setting the stage for significant expansions and challenges in the renewable energy sector. This analysis delves into the opportunities, constraints, and strategic shifts necessary to navigate the evolving landscape of utility-scale solar.

Utility-scale solar projects benefit significantly from economies of scale (Bartlett et al., 2023). Larger installations reduce the cost per megawatt-hour (MWh) due to bulk purchasing of materials and more efficient deployment of labor and technology. Scalability allows project developers to phase their investments, start smaller if necessary, and expand as technology advances or as more funding becomes available. This flexibility is particularly advantageous in the rapidly evolving renewable energy market, where technological advancements can significantly enhance project outputs and economic returns (Bartlett et al., 2023). Technological advancements, such as more efficient photovoltaic cells and improved manufacturing processes, also drive down costs. Efficient project management and operations contribute to reducing the lifecycle costs of these projects, making solar power increasingly competitive with traditional energy sources (Bartlett et al., 2023).

In an interview with a renewable private equity investor, we learned that the geographic location of utility-scale solar projects heavily influences its capacity factor, or the measure of how much electricity the plant produces compared to its maximum potential output. Areas with high solar irradiance naturally provide higher energy yields. Furthermore, the incorporation of tracking technology, which allows solar panels to move and follow the sun's trajectory, significantly enhances energy production. The interviewee also noted that these systems can increase the capacity factor by up to 25% compared to fixed systems, making them particularly valuable in maximizing output and project returns.

In summary, the utility-scale solar market under the IRA represents a landscape filled with opportunities and challenges. Success in this rapidly growing market requires stakeholders to adopt innovative approaches to risk management, and technology utilization. As the industry navigates these changes, the potential for significant investment and expansion offers a bright future for renewable energy in the United States.

Project Economics

We used a financial model to assess the potential economics of utility-scale solar projects. The model inputs and assumptions are shown in Figure 20. Based on our model assumptions, as shown in the sensitivity analysis in Figure 21, the upfront tax credit provided by the PTC generally offers a higher rate of return than the ITC. When interest rates are increased, the immediate financial benefit provided by ITC can reduce debt levels more rapidly. This will make ITC more appealing.

Operating Assumptions	
Technology Type:	Utility Solar
Nameplate Capacity (MW):	100.0
Useful Life (years):	20
Capacity Factor:	24.2%
Annual Generation (MWh):	211,992
PPA Price (\$ / MWh):	25.5
PPA Tenor (years):	20
Merchant Price (\$ / MWh):	-
Merchant Years:	-

Figure 20: Utility Solar Model Inputs, Assumptions and Returns
--

Financing Assumption	ons
Project Cost (\$M):	98.0
Debt Amount (\$M):	48.1
Debt Tenor (years):	10
Interest Rate:	6.70%
Minimum Annual DSCR:	1.50x
Equity Amount (\$M):	49.9
Equity % of Financing:	50.9%

Tax Assum	otions
Federal Tax Rate:	21.0%
Tax Credit:	Investment Tax Credit
ITC % of Capex	30.0%
ITC Amount (\$M):	29.4
PTC Price (\$ / MWh):	-
Annual PTC Escalator:	-
PTC Transfer Price (per \$1 PTC): -

Returns	
Debt Repaid (years):	11.0
DSCR Minimum:	1.50x
DSCR Average:	1.50x
Equity Holders Pre-Tax NPV:	43.4
Equity Holders Pre-Tax IRR:	8.0%
Equity Holders After-Tax NPV:	0.7
After-Tax Levered IRR:	8.8%
After-Tax Unevered IRR:	8.6%

	Interest Rate						
-	5.20%	5.70%	6.20%	6.70%	7.20%	7.70%	8.20%
18.0%	5.1%	5.0%	4.9%	4.8%	4.7%	4.6%	4.5%
20.0%	6.5%	6.3%	6.2%	6.1%	5.9%	5.8%	5.7%
22.0%	7.9%	7.7%	7.5%	7.4%	7.2%	7.1%	6.9%
24.0%	9.3%	9.0%	8.8%	8.7%	8.5%	8.3%	8.1%
26.0%	10.7%	10.5%	10.2%	10.0%	9.8%	9.6%	9.4%
28.0%	12.2%	11.9%	11.6%	11.3%	11.1%	10.8%	10.6%
30.0%	13.9%	13.5%	13.1%	12.8%	12.4%	12.2%	11.9%

Figure 21: Utility Solar Model Sensitivity Analysis: ITC vs. PTC

Ne	et Capacity	Factor v. Inte	erest Rate Se	ensitivities (/	After-Tax Le	vered IRR)	пс
	Interest Rate						
	5.20%	5.70%	6.20%	6.70%	7.20%	7.70%	8.20%
18.0%	5.1%	5.0%	4.9%	4.8%	4.7%	4.7%	4.6%
20.0%	6.4%	6.3%	6.2%	6.1%	6.0%	5.9%	5.8%
22.0%	7.7%	7.6%	7.4%	7.3%	7.2%	7.1%	7.0%
24.0%	9.0%	8.8%	8.7%	8.5%	8.4%	8.2%	8.1%
26.0%	10.3%	10.1%	9.9%	9.7%	9.6%	9.4%	9.3%
28.0%	11.6%	11.4%	11.2%	11.0%	10.8%	10.6%	10.4%
30.0%	13.0%	12.7%	12.5%	12.2%	12.0%	11.8%	11.6%

For projects with higher upfront costs and lower capacity factors, typically found in residential solar projects, the ITC is generally more beneficial. The ITC provides an immediate tax credit based on a percentage of the installation costs, which can significantly offset the initial investment and is particularly attractive for smaller-scale projects with higher costs per watt. In this case, ITC's upfront value tends to outweigh the benefits of the PTC.

On the other hand, utility-scale solar projects, characterized by lower costs per watt and higher capacity factors due to efficient installation techniques and economies of scale, are more likely to benefit from the PTC. In such cases, the ongoing tax credit based on the electricity produced over a decade can offer greater returns than the immediate reduction in installation costs provided by the ITC. These projects fall within the orange areas of the chart, indicating a higher propensity to elect PTC over ITC.

In addition, the tax-equity flip strategy is a critical financing mechanism within the solar industry, especially in light of the IRA (Weaver 2022). This strategy involves a partnership between a solar project developer and a tax equity investor. Initially, the tax equity investor provides the capital for the project in exchange for the majority of the tax benefits (ITC, PTC) and cash flows. Once the investor achieves a predetermined return on investment, the financial structure "flips," and the majority share of profits transitions to the project developer (Weaver 2022).

The IRA's introduction of transferable tax credits adds a new dimension to the tax-equity flip strategy. Now, developers have the option to monetize the tax credits directly, offering greater flexibility in financing projects. This could potentially simplify the investment structure and attract a broader pool of investors, enhancing the liquidity and scalability of solar projects.

Regional Opportunities

The IRA has catalyzed solar investment opportunities across the U.S., with particular regions standing out due to a combination of natural solar resources, policy support, and existing infrastructure.

Southwest (e.g., California, Arizona, Nevada)

High solar irradiance and supportive state policies make this region a prime candidate for continued solar investment growth under the IRA. California's ambitious climate goals and incentives align well with the IRA, likely leading to increased solar capacity.

Southeast (e.g., Florida, North Carolina, Georgia)

Although traditionally slower in adopting solar, the IRA could significantly impact this region by making solar projects more financially viable, overcoming historical hesitance from utilities and state governments.

Northeast (e.g., New York, New Jersey, Massachusetts)

High electricity prices and strong state-level incentives complement the IRA, making solar investments particularly attractive. The focus on community solar can also drive growth in distributed solar projects.

PJM Interconnection Region

The diverse policy landscape across the PJM states means the IRA's impact will vary. However, the IRA's emphasis on clean energy and grid reliability, along with PJM's capacity market, presents unique opportunities for utility-scale solar and storage projects.

Additional Regional Considerations

Despite the promising outlook, challenges such as interconnection delays, varying local policies, and supply chain issues could affect project timelines and costs. Additionally, regions with less favorable solar conditions or weaker state-level support may not experience growth as rapidly as those with more aggressive clean energy policies.

Remaining Challenges

The strong benefits of the IRA are accompanied by complex eligibility requirements that could pose challenges for project planners and financiers in ensuring compliance and maximizing potential credits.

Firstly, the capacity of Engineering, Procurement, and Construction (EPC) firms is a major bottleneck (Bartlett et al. 2023). With the IRA's aggressive installation targets, EPC capacity needs to nearly triple by 2027 to keep up with demand (Bartlett et al. 2023). This shortage of qualified EPCs could lead to delays and cost overruns as competition for their services increases, putting upward pressure on prices and potentially stifling the speed of solar deployment.

Another critical issue is labor shortages (Bartlett et al. 2023). The solar sector is already competing for resources with other booming industries like broadband and public infrastructure, which are also buoyed by recent federal initiatives. This competition is intensifying under the IRA, as rapid expansion in renewables drives an even greater need for skilled workers. The shortage of labor may slow down project timelines and increase costs as companies vie to attract and retain talent.

The supply chain for solar projects is a critical component of their successful deployment, but it currently faces significant risks that could hinder the growth of the solar industry, especially under the ambitious targets set by the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA). One of the primary issues within the supply chain is the dependency on foreign materials and components. When interviewing with a community solar developer, despite the IRA's incentives for increasing domestic production, the reality is that the U.S. solar industry has been heavily reliant on imported solar panels, cells, and other critical components from countries like China. This reliance poses a risk of supply disruptions due to geopolitical tensions, trade disputes, or shipping and logistical issues, which could delay project timelines or increase costs unexpectedly.

Moreover, the IRA encourages the use of domestically manufactured components through additional tax credits, intending to foster a more localized and secure supply chain. However, scaling up domestic manufacturing facilities to meet the demands of the solar industry is not an instantaneous process. There is a considerable gap between the current production capacity in the U.S. and what is required to meet the IRA's objectives. This gap signifies that, in the short to medium term, there will likely be shortages of domestically produced solar components. These shortages could be exacerbated by the time it takes for new factories and production lines to become operational, during which the industry may still need to rely on imported goods.

Furthermore, the transition to a more localized supply chain is compounded by challenges in the availability of raw materials, such as polysilicon, used in solar cell manufacturing. The global market for these materials is volatile and has been subject to intense price fluctuations, which can significantly impact the cost structure of solar projects. The U.S. has limited control over these global market conditions, which adds an element of unpredictability to project budgets. In addition to material shortages and geopolitical risks, the supply chain for solar projects is also vulnerable to regulatory risks. Changes in import tariffs, trade policies, or local manufacturing incentives could swiftly alter the economic landscape for solar projects, potentially making some projects financially unviable overnight.

According to a solar private equity associate, interconnection is another hurdle. The process of connecting solar projects to the national grid has become more expensive and time-consuming, with projects often languishing in interconnection queues for years. This not only delays the realization of projects but also adds financial uncertainty, affecting overall project viability. And price volatility due to inflation and fluctuating commodity prices adds another layer of complexity. Materials essential for solar installations, such as steel, aluminum, and copper, have experienced significant price instability, which can drastically alter project budgets and financial forecasts.

Lastly, The ITC recapture risk under the IRA is chiefly concerned with the retention of the tax credits in case of a sale or transfer of the asset or if the project no longer meets the qualifying conditions. Under new regulations, the risk of recapture generally resides with the transferee rather than the transferor, meaning the new owner assumes the risk and potential liability for the tax credits after acquisition (Linklaters 2023).

These challenges collectively highlight the complex landscape in which solar projects are being developed under the IRA. Each poses unique risks that must be managed carefully to harness the full potential of the incentives offered by the legislation.


Battery Energy Storage Systems

Key Insights

Battery Energy Storage Systems (BESS) are a critical component of the United States' shift towards a cleaner and more resilient energy grid. Through substantial tax incentives, the IRA is transforming the BESS industry by improving project economics, supercharging domestic supply chain expansion and cost reduction, and facilitating the deployment of intermittent resources, which expand revenue opportunities for BESS. By analyzing IRA tax credits, the shifting BESS revenue model, regional operating parameters, as well as alternative battery chemistries, we find that developers and investors should pay attention to standalone long-duration LFP BESS located in ERCOT West. If possible, stakeholders should aim to qualify for the energy community adder whenever possible to allow for a greater margin of error.

Technology

As shown in Figure 22, different energy storage technologies have different discharge time and power capacity, making them fit for serving various functions. Energy storage systems with short discharge time and low capacity, such as nickel-based batteries and flywheels, are suitable for frequency regulation. Energy storage systems with long discharge time and high capacity, such as pumped hydroelectric and compressed air energy storage, help perform bulk power management. The most recent technological innovations pertain to thermal energy storage systems, which are advantageous in having long discharge time, relatively high power capacity, and low upfront costs. Finally, energy storage systems with medium discharge time and low to medium capacity can be deployed for the broadest range of services: transmission and distribution, operating reserves, and black starts.

Energy Storage er-to-Gas Ecosystem Pumped Storage TAN n of this a oup of is ongoing, and cost and performance of as of the time of writing. Hydrogen ploped candidate but other chemistrie Thermal Energy Storag E Global Energy Sto Sodium-based Batterie Flow Batteries Average L Lithium-ion Batteries Lead-acid Batteries Supercapacitors Thermal Storage Flyv Mechanical Storage Electrochemical Storage Electrical Storage More suitable for More suitable for bulk power services distributed services



Lithium-ion batteries fall in the aforementioned category and are preferred over lead-acid batteries for its energy density and flexibility in terms of discharge time. Moreover, lithium-ion batteries also benefit from being an established technology with strong potential for project bankability (Joshi and Gokhale-Welch 2022). According to National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL)'s 2023 Annual Technology Baseline (ATB), among lithium-ion batteries, lithium-iron phosphate (LFP) batteries have become the primary chemistry for stationary storage since 2021. BESS projects have moved away from lithium nickel manganese cobalt oxide batteries (NMC) due to concerns about material availability, ethical sourcing, and upfront battery pack costs (Martineau 2023).

As shown in Figure 23, most of the current operational storage capacity in the U.S. are pumped hydro and electromechanical storage. However, a large amount of electro-chemical storage capacity has been announced and will come online as part of the buildout of renewable energy projects.

Figure 22: Energy Storage Ecosystem



Figure 23: U.S. Energy Storage Projects by Technology Type in 2021

Source: Center for Sustainable Systems 2021

Market Overview

The U.S. utility-scale BESS market has seen rapid growth since 2021. Total operational BESS capacity in the U.S. grew from 8.8 GW at the end of 2022 to 15.4 GW at the end of 2023, representing a 75% increase (EIA 2023a). Based on S&P Global's most recent quarterly report, total capacity in the U.S. was 14.7 GW by the end of Q3 2023. Regions with the highest capacities are CAISO and ERCOT, with 7.0 GW and 4.1 GW, respectively. Other regions have much smaller-scale BESS deployment. The next largest market, WECC excluding CAISO, has 1.8 GW. Other regions with meaningful BESS deployment, such as Florida, PJM, ISO-NE, and NYISO, each have several hundred MW deployed (S&P Global 2023a).

In terms of additions, ERCOT led with 763.4 MW, or 40.0% of total U.S. additions in Q3 2023. CAISO also grew rapidly, with 584.0 MW of new capacity, or 30.6% of total U.S. additions (S&P Global 2023a). With a total capacity of 15.4 GW at the end of 2023, developers expect to add 15.0 GW in 2024 and 9.0 GW in 2025, bringing the total U.S. capacity to around 40.0 GW by the end of 2025. Notably, 50% of these planned additions are in ERCOT (EIA 2023b).



Figure 24: Annual U.S. Cumulative Installed BESS Capacity

The fact that CAISO and ERCOT lead in BESS capacity and additions should not come as a surprise. By the end of September 2023, CAISO and ERCOT had 17.3 GW and 18.4 GW of solar capacity, the highest nationally (Hao and Chronicle 2023). The same can be said about wind – by the end of 2023, CAISO and ERCOT had 6.2 GW and 41.6 GW of wind capacity, also the highest nationally (DOE 2024). In 2022, CAISO generated 26.8% of its energy using solar and wind (California Energy Commission 2023). In 2023, ERCOT generated 31.6% of its energy using solar and wind (ERCOT 2024). With high total capacity and penetration of intermittent resources, CAISO and ERCOT are characterized by volatile power prices and high scarcity pricing, which offer attractive energy arbitrage opportunities for BESS. Considering the current regional distribution of BESS, this analysis will focus on CAISO and ERCOT.

Project Economics

Contracted vs. Merchant Revenues

Owners of BESS projects can receive revenue in many different ways. Broadly speaking, revenue streams are either contracted or merchant. Contracted revenues arise from long-term agreements, whereas merchant revenues are drawn directly from real-time or day-ahead markets. For example, contracted revenue can be generated by a tolling agreement, in which the BESS is effectively leased to the offtaker, who is granted authority to initiate charging and discharging. In return, the BESS owner receives compensation based on a predetermined price and is shielded from market volatility. Alternatively, the owner can remain the operator and generate contracted revenue through PPAs, capacity sale agreements, and ancillary services contracts.

BESS owners can generate merchant revenues by operating the project and actively participating in the real-time and day-ahead markets. For example, the owner can earn a net revenue from energy arbitrage if it charges when the wholesale electricity price is low and discharges when the price is high. Although ancillary services can be offered through long-term contracts, they can also generate merchant revenue in some markets. For example, CAISO has real-time and a day-ahead ancillary services markets. See Figure 25 for an example of BESS merchant revenues.







Revenue Stacking

Given the multitude of potential revenue sources, BESS owners typically engage in "revenue stacking," in which multiple revenue streams are aggregated. Broadly speaking, there are three types of revenue streams. First is energy arbitrage revenue. Since the wholesale electricity price is lower during the day and higher in the evening, BESS can charge when the price is low and discharge when the price is high, generating net revenues. Second is capacity revenue, where BESS owners commit that power capacity would be available upon request in exchange for a fixed periodic payment per megawatt committed. This is obtained through long-term contracts, typically with ISOs and load-serving entities. Third is ancillary services revenue, where BESS are compensated for services such as frequency regulation and spinning reserves.

In CAISO and ERCOT, revenue is stacked differently given their unique market rules. In CAISO, BESS owners can earn revenues from the California Public Utilities Commission's (CPUC) resource adequacy framework. Under this framework, all load-serving entities under CPUC jurisdiction are required to demonstrate that they have enough capacity to meet peak demand plus a planning reserve margin (CPUC 2021). To satisfy this requirement, load-serving entities such as utilities sign long-term contracts with BESS owners, who provide capacity guarantees in exchange for fixed periodic payments (Ibid.). BESS in CAISO can also earn ancillary services revenues by bidding into real-time and day-ahead markets, providing services including frequency regulation, spinning reserves, non-spinning reserves, and replacement reserves. Finally, BESS owners can earn revenue through energy arbitrage, which includes additional revenue from scarcity events.

In ERCOT, there is neither a formal capacity market nor a resource adequacy requirement for load-serving entities, meaning no capacity revenue for BESS. Consequently, BESS rely much more heavily on ancillary services and energy arbitrage. To earn ancillary services revenue, BESS owners enter into a competitive bidding process in ERCOT's day-ahead ancillary services market, where they offer to provide frequency regulation, spinning reserves, non-spinning reserves, and contingency reserves (ERCOT 2023). With volatile wholesale electricity prices in ERCOT, energy arbitrage is another important source of revenue, especially during scarcity events (EIA 2022).

	Energy Arbitrage	Capacity	Ancillary Services
CAISO	BESS can engage in energy arbitrage and capitalize on scarcity pricing.	No formal capacity market. BESS can sign long-term capacity provision contracts with load-serving entities looking to fulfill the resource adequacy requirement.	BESS can bid into real-time and day- ahead markets to provide frequency regulation, spinning reserves, non- spinning reserves, and replacement reserves.
ERCOT	BESS leverage energy arbitrage as an important source of revenue, as there is no capacity revenue. Scarcity pricing is a critical component.	No formal capacity market and no resource adequacy requirement.	BESS can bid into day-ahead markets to provide frequency regulation, spinning reserves, non-spinning reserves, and contingency reserves.

Figure 26: BESS Revenue Sources in CAISO and ERCOT

Impact of the IRA

Investment Tax Credit for Colocated and Standalone BESS

The IRA is transforming the BESS industry in multiple ways. First, it introduced the new section 48E ITC, which replaces the section 48 ITC and extends the maximum 6% base rate and 30% bonus rate until at least 2033. While the ITC was typically renewed every one or two years, this timeline alleviates uncertainty for investors and allows for more time to generate returns (Utility Dive 2022). Second, standalone BESS are now eligible for the ITC. While the ITC was previously only available to BESS colocated with solar generation facilities, the IRA extended both the existing section 48 ITC and the new section 48E ITC to standalone BESS. Taken together, these two provisions are expected to drive up to \$1 trillion in BESS investments by the early 2030s (Ibid.). Moreover, the extension of the ITC to standalone BESS shifts the relative attractiveness of standalone vs. colocated BESS.

Despite having received no ITC before the IRA, standalone BESS still accounted for 42% of total U.S. capacity in 2023 (Lenoir and Marjolin 2023). This is a result of standalone BESS having more siting and operational flexibility. According to a 2021 study by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, BESS are useful for mitigating the volatility associated with increased renewable energy penetration, but they do not have to be interconnected to the grid at the same point as these resources. By choosing the optimal location in which BESS are most needed, such as a point of transmission congestion, standalone BESS can bring even more value to the electricity network than colocated BESS. The study found that adding a 4-hour BESS with half the nameplate capacity of a renewable power plant adds \$10/MWh of electricity market value across the seven main ISOs, whereas a standalone BESS sited at the optimal location can add \$12.5/MWh of value (Gorman et al. 2021). In terms of operational flexibility, standalone BESS do not have to operate in parallel with a generation resource, enabling them to more efficiently capitalize on scarcity pricing and high prices of ancillary services (Carolina Clean Energy Business Association 2023).

With standalone BESS now eligible for the same ITC benefits as colocated BESS, siting and operational flexibility is expected to make standalone BESS the more attractive option. While standalone BESS account for 43% of the overall pipeline in 2023 (Lenoir and Marjolin 2023), there is evidence that the share of standalone BESS among new projects under consideration is much higher (Leonti and Kline 2023). Although one should note that economies of scale of colocated systems can be an edge over standalone systems (Lenoir and Marjolin 2023).

Supply Chain Expansion and Cost Reduction

The IRA is supercharging BESS supply chain expansion in the U.S. and creating conditions for long-run cost reduction. By extending the ITC timeline and making standalone BESS eligible, the IRA is fueling expectations of growing downstream demand. In addition, the IRA created the section 45X advanced manufacturing credit for various technologies, including battery cells, modules, and inverters. Although storage inverters are not explicitly listed, the industry believes this to be an oversight rather than an intentional exclusion (Manghani 2023). Since the IRA was announced, there has been \$120 billion of announced investments in U.S. assets along the BESS supply chain, according to a senior expert at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. From the passage of the IRA to August 2023, developers have announced 14 new battery manufacturing facilities that would serve the BESS market (Manghani 2023). Note, however, that a December 2023 guideline excluded the cost of acquiring raw materials from the section 45X credits, leaving little support to domestic processing of critical minerals (Moerenhout and Brunelli 2024).

Domestic supply chain expansion, combined with the new section 45X credit, will likely have a two-fold effect. First, increased investment in domestic manufacturing spurs innovation, while the new manufacturing credit helps domestic producers compete, both leading to a lower cost of BESS inputs. Second, more competitive domestic input prices will help American manufacturers close the gap with Chinese producers and eventually allow BESS developers to qualify for the domestic content adder without compromising on the cost side. Both dynamics are long-term tailwinds for the economics of BESS. They are complemented by a trend unrelated to the IRA – the secular decline in battery cell and pack prices. As the industry continues switching to the low-cost LFP chemistry, and as new technologies such as silicon and lithium metal anodes and solid-state electrolytes mature, battery cell and prices will continue to decline, improving BESS economics over time (BloombergNEF 2023).

According to the NREL's Annual Technology Baseline (ATB) estimates, shown in Figure 27, utility-scale battery storage had an overnight capital cost (OCC) of \$1,715/kW in 2023, which is projected to decline to \$1,639/kW in 2024, drop further to \$1,346/kW in 2025, and decline steadily to \$1,111 by 2035. Fixed operations and maintenance (O&M) costs was \$42.9/kW-yr in 2023 and is expected to drop to \$41.0/kW-yr in 2024, \$35.9/kW-yr in 2025, and decline steadily to \$27.8/kW-yr by 2035 (NREL 2023).

Despite these long-term tailwinds, one should caution that short-term input prices can be volatile. On the one hand, lithium carbonate hit a low of 95,500 CNY / ton in early 2024, while lithium-ion battery pack prices hit a record low of \$139/kWh in November 2023 (BloombergNEF 2023). As China came out of lockdown and producers ramped up production, demand did not follow. High interest rates, as well as the slower-than-expected adoption of EVs, dampened demand further (Khan 2023). On the other hand, the supply of processed raw materials and battery components is currently controlled by an oligopoly industry concentrated in China (European Commission 2022), so supply chain shortages and disruptions can cause short-term increases in BESS input prices.





Growing Variable Energy Sources and Arbitrage Opportunities

A significant portion of BESS revenue comes from energy arbitrage, which is the most profitable when there is a high intraday spread in its wholesale electricity price, where a larger margin can be earned by charging during low-cost hours in the middle of the day and discharging during high-cost early evening hours. The intraday price spread and the profitability of BESS is highly correlated with solar and wind deployment. As more solar is deployed, net load decreases during mid-day when solar output is the highest, and the intraday price spread grows. As shown in Figure 28, CAISO's diurnal pattern of power prices became more pronounced from 2012 to 2017 as its solar capacity grew. Therefore, BESS economics tends to become more attractive with higher levels of solar deployment. As wind penetration levels increase, power price volatility increases due to the variability of wind power output (Martinez-Anido et al. 2016), making scarcity events more likely and creating arbitrage opportunities for BESS. To illustrate, a 2022 EIA study simulated power prices in ERCOT for four scenarios – 1) normal peak load and normal wind, 2) high peak load and normal wind, 3) normal peak load and low wind, and 4) high peak load sresult in peak power prices of \$90/MWh and \$105/MWh, respectively, with little scarcity pricing. When wind is low, however, normal and high peak loads result in peak power prices of \$90/MWh and \$105/MWh, respectively, with the majority of increases attributable to scarcity pricing (EIA 2022). Therefore, arbitrage opportunities and BESS economics improve with higher levels of wind penetration and associated scarcity pricing.





Source: EIA 2017

By encouraging higher levels of solar and wind deployment, the IRA is indirectly improving the economics of BESS. As discussed in our solar and wind sections, the IRA is facilitating project financing via the ITC and the PTC, as well as expanding supply chains via manufacturing tax credits. As solar and wind increase their footprints across ISOs, BESS arbitrage revenues are expected to increase significantly. Like the extension of ITC to standalone storage, this dynamic also shifts the relative attractiveness of standalone vs. colocated BESS. While BESS colocated with solar are designed for energy time-shifting, they have less flexibility to capitalize on the increasingly profitable scarcity events driven by wind. Similarly, BESS colocated with wind are less effective at arbitraging across the duck curve. In contrast, standalone BESS have much more flexibility to capitalize on the most profitable pricing events.



Figure 29: ERCOT Power Prices Under Various Scenarios



New Rules on Credit Eligibility and Accounting Treatment

The Internal Revenue Code section 50(b)(3) states that the ITC cannot be applied to a property used by a tax-exempt entity unless the property is used "predominantly in an unrelated trade or business the income of which is subject to tax." In practice, this means that BESS developers must be careful when working with tax-exempt offtakers and ensure that any offtake agreement with tax-exempt entities cannot be construed as a lease contract, in which case section 50(b)(3) can disqualify the BESS project from the ITC (IRS 2024). The IRA reduces uncertainty for BESS developers and investors by clarifying four safe-harbor criteria under which a BESS service contract will not be characterized as a lease:

1) The offtaker cannot have a right to operate the facility, 2) cannot have a purchase option other than for fair market value, 3) cannot benefit from operational cost savings, and 4) the tax-exempt entity must have meaningful rights in the case of the project's nonperformance (McGuireWoods 2022). Being able to rely on specific criteria when drafting offtake agreements allows BESS developers and investors to deploy capital with greater confidence.

The IRA also offers BESS the option to elect out of the "public utility property" normalization accounting method for projects exceeding 500 kWh in capacity, outlined in section 50(d)(2) of the International Revenue Code (IRS 2024). As this normalization method typically reduces the tax credit value, this provision is poised to raise the tax credit benefits for qualifying BESS projects (McGuireWoods 2022).

Opportunities

This section identifies the attributes BESS developers and investors should look for. Based on the above analysis as well as supplementary analysis on battery chemistry, project economics in different ISOs, and how the ITC affects equity returns, we find that standalone long-duration LFP BESS based in ERCOT West are the most attractive, and stakeholders should aim to qualify for the energy community adder whenever possible to allow for a greater margin of error.

Standalone BESS

The attractiveness of standalone BESS relative to colocated BESS arises from their siting and operational flexibility, features independent of the IRA. Standalone systems are not restricted by the production profiles of adjacent power plants, which allows them to perform energy arbitrage more efficiently and capitalize on more scarcity events. Since their siting is not tied to a facility, standalone BESS can be strategically placed in areas that maximize their utility and financial return. For instance, situating standalone BESS at points of high transmission congestion or in regions with the highest peak demand can significantly increase returns through more profitable arbitrage and scarcity pricing opportunities. This flexibility is expected to become even more important as more renewable facilities are deployed and relative value shifts from ancillary services to energy arbitrage. With the IRA leveling the playing field by extending making standalone storage eligible for the ITC, standalone BESS are now the more attractive option.

Long-Duration BESS

The value of long-duration BESS (2+ hours) lies in their ability to charge and discharge at full capacity for several hours. This capability is vital for managing evening peak loads or providing continuous power during periods of low solar or wind generation, both essential for sustained high ancillary services and capacity revenues. More importantly, a longer duration allows the BESS to charge for longer during trough hours and discharge for longer during peak hours, earning more in arbitrage revenue per kW per day. Shorter-duration BESS perform well in the ancillary services markets, but as ancillary services revenues dry up due to market saturation, BESS need to look elsewhere for revenue opportunities. To transition toward the lucrative capacity and arbitrage markets, a longer duration is desirable.

LFP BESS

Most of the BESS deployed in the U.S. are built with lithium-ion batteries, primarily due to their high energy density, reliability, and well-established manufacturing processes. Among various lithium-ion chemistries, LFP stands out as particularly attractive for BESS applications. LFP batteries offer significant advantages, including a longer cycle life and

enhanced safety, as they are less prone to thermal runaway compared to other lithium-ion chemistries. Furthermore, LFP batteries are typically less expensive on a per-cycle basis due to their durability. These attributes align well with the requirements for large-scale energy storage, making LFP an increasingly preferred choice for BESS developers. While some point to the potential need for longer-duration batteries (10+ hours), a senior expert at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory argues that lithium-ion is hard to displace until there is much higher levels of renewables deployment, and lithium-ion will remain dominant in at least the next 5-10 years.



Source: Flash Battery 2022

ERCOT West

Given the high levels of solar, wind, and BESS deployment in CAISO and ERCOT, we perform a quantitative comparative analysis between the two and aim to identify the region with the more attractive economics for BESS. Since ERCOT West has the highest renewables penetration rate and intraday power price spreads than the rest of the ISO, we focus on ERCOT West.

A financial model is built for a 100 MW / 400 MWh BESS with 2.5% annual degradation, assumed to start operating at the beginning of 2024. OCC and fixed O&M in 2024 are taken directly from NREL ATB's estimates, and fixed O&M is assumed to decline at 2.6% per annum, a rate consistent with NREL ATB projections. Minimum debt service coverage ratio for debt sizing purposes is assumed to be 1.6x, and maximum debt financing as a percentage of project cost is assumed to be 80%. Debt is assumed to amortize over 18 years. Percentages of capex eligible for 5-year and 15-year modified accelerated cost recovery system depreciation are 95% and 5%, respectively. Finally, the tax rate is set at 21%.

Services

Revenue in

2024 (\$ / kW-

year)

86

96

106

116

126

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

7%

8%

9%

10%

12%

For CAISO, capacity revenue in 2024 is assumed to be \$76/kW-yr. This is the 2023 weighted average resource adequacy system capacity price of \$6.35/kW-mo multiplied by 12 (CPUC 2021). Arbitrage revenue and ancillary services revenue in 2024 are assumed to be \$71/kW-yr and \$32/kW-yr, respectively, based on actual 2022 revenue data published by CAISO (CAISO 2023a). Note that we use aggregate BESS revenue data across CAISO as model inputs for a 4-hour BESS, a decision justified by the fact that 4-hour BESS is the norm in CAISO (CAISO 2023b). Based on S&P Global's forecasts, unit capacity and arbitrage revenues are assumed to grow at 1.4% and 8.5% per annum (S&P Global 2023b). Given the saturating ancillary services market, we assume that unit ancillary services revenue will decline at 10.0% per annum.

For ERCOT West, we assume no capacity revenue due to the lack of a formal capacity market. From analysis by Modo Energy, we learned that BESS earned on average \$196/kW-yr across ERCOT in 2023, 15% of which came from arbitrage, and 85% of which came from ancillary services. Note, however, that BESS in ERCOT tend to have lower durations because they previously focused on providing ancillary services, so this revenue mix is not representative of 4-hour BESS, let alone one in the more lucrative ERCOT West. Based on supplementary analysis by Modo Energy, we know that longduration (2+ hour) BESS earned "more than \$100k/MW" (Modo Energy 2023). To be conservative, we assume that our 4-hour BESS in ERCOT West earns \$100/kW-yr of arbitrage revenue in 2024, and we assume that its total revenue equals the \$196/kW-yr ERCOT average, yielding an ancillary services revenue of \$96/kW-yr. Based on S&P Global's forecasts for ERCOT West, unit arbitrage revenue is assumed to grow at 7.0% per annum (S&P Global 2023c). Due to the saturation of the ancillary services market, we assume that unit ancillary services revenue will decline at -10.0% per annum.

Based on the above assumptions, we calculated the after-tax levered IRR. For CAISO, we sensitize unit energy arbitrage and capacity revenues in 2024. For ERCOT, we sensitize unit arbitrage and ancillary services revenues in 2024. Most of the operating assumptions discussed above are used as the base case with the exception of the \$71/kW-yr arbitrage revenue in CAISO. Since the data is from 2022, and CAISO arbitrage revenue received a boost by the September 2022 heat wave, we treat the \$71/kW-yr arbitrage revenue as the bull-case assumption. The CAISO and ERCOT sensitivity tables are presented in Figure 31 below, assuming a 30% ITC.

		After-Tax Levered IRR – CAISO, 30% ITC								
			Energy Arbitrage Revenue in 2024 (\$ / kW-year)							
		41	46	51	56	61	66	71		
	48	2%	3%	4%	6%	8%	9%	11%		
• •	58	3%	5%	6%	8%	10%	12%	14%		
Capacity	68	5%	6%	8%	10%	12%	15%	18%		
	78	7%	8%	10%	12%	15%	18%	22%		
vear)	88	9%	11%	13%	16%	19%	23%	29%		
, ,	98	11%	13%	16%	20%	25%	31%	31%		
	108	14%	17%	21%	26%	31%	31%	31%		
			Afte	er-Tax Levere	l IRR – ERCO	T West, 30% I	тс			
		Energy Arbitrage Revenue in 2024 (\$ / kW-year)								
		70	80	90	100	110	120	130		
	66	3%	5%	8%	11%	16%	22%	31%		
Ancillary	76	3%	6%	9%	13%	18%	26%	31%		

10%

11%

13%

15%

17%

14%

16%

18%

21%

24%

20%

23%

27%

31%

31%

30%

31%

31%

31%

32%

31%

32%

32%

32%

32%

Figure 31: CAISO and ERCOT West Returns Assuming 30% ITC

In our base case, after-tax levered IRR is 16% in ERCOT West, higher than CAISO's 12%. Assuming an equity hurdle rate of 16%, a 4-hour BESS in ERCOT West is at the money with our base-case operating assumptions, but it is not the case with CAISO. In other words, the attractive arbitrage opportunities and lucrative ancillary services markets created by the volatile price signal more than offset any negative impact of the lack of capacity revenue.

The relative attractiveness of ERCOT West arises from a combination of factors. First, the isolation of ERCOT from neighboring ISOs means it cannot draw from external power sources during times of scarcity and peak demand, which translates into high ancillary services and power prices. Second, while it means one less revenue stream, the lack of a formal capacity or resource adequacy market in ERCOT also means a more volatile price signal, which translates into more arbitrage opportunities. Third, ERCOT has an extremely high penetration of wind. As discussed earlier, an EIA study found that the low wind output corresponds to the most extreme scarcity events, where power prices can reach \$2,905/MWh with low wind and peak demand (EIA 2022). With high wind dependence and high scarcity pricing, ERCOT presents the most attractive arbitrage opportunities for BESS. Fourth, ERCOT is also home to a disproportionate number of extreme weather events, which can lead to significant fluctuations in power demand and supply, creating additional opportunities for energy storage systems.

Energy Community

While we did not find that the energy community adder played a significant role in project siting, we do recommend obtaining the adder for BESS due to the inherent volatility in revenue streams. Leveraging the model discussed above, we generate ERCOT West after-tax IRR sensitivity tables for three scenarios – 30%, 40%, and 50% ITC earned. As shown in Figure 32, going from 30% to 40% ITC significantly improves returns and allows for a greater margin of error in our operating assumptions. Given the volatility in power and ancillary services prices, BESS projects would benefit from the additional safety provided by the 10% energy community adder. For example, with energy arbitrage revenue dropping down to \$90/kW-yr and ancillary services revenue declining to \$86/kW-yr, levels significantly below 2023 data, a 40% ITC still keeps the BESS project at the money with a 16% IRR. While the domestic content adder is more difficult to achieve given the structure of the BESS supply chain, developers should actively seek out this adder once it becomes feasible, as a 50% ITC allows for even a greater margin of error.

Risks and Mitigations

Despite the new standalone investment tax credits, battery storage systems still face significant roadblocks in the path to large-scale deployment.

The most notable challenge is constraints in the critical mineral supply chain. On December 15, 2023, the Treasury proposed a rule on 45X Advanced Manufacturing Production Tax Credits, defining eligible components that can claim the benefit (Federal Register 2023). This proposed rule explicitly excludes the cost of acquiring raw minerals – which is more than 70% of lithium sales price–and gives very limited support to domestic processing of critical minerals (Moerenhout and Brunelli 2024). Currently, China holds 67% of global refined lithium and dominates the upstream supply chain for LFP batteries (Brunelli et al. 2023). However, there have been reports that connect forced labor with the production of lithium in China and U.S. government agencies might take actions to ban raw material/battery stack component imports from China (similar to the Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act for the solar industry) (Clean Energy Associates 2023). To mitigate these risks, project sponsors should work with suppliers that improves accountability and traceability in

		After-Tax Levered IRR – ERCOT, 30% ITC						
			En	ergy Arbitrage	Revenue in 20)24 (\$ / kW-yea	<i>r</i>)	
		70	80	90	100	110	120	130
	66	3%	5%	8%	11%	16%	22%	31%
Ancillary	76	3%	6%	9%	13%	18%	26%	31%
Services	86	4%	7%	10%	14%	20%	30%	31%
Revenue in	96	5%	8%	11%	16%	23%	31%	32%
2024 (\$ / kW-	106	6%	9%	13%	18%	27%	31%	32%
year)	116	7%	10%	15%	21%	31%	31%	32%
	126	8%	12%	17%	24%	31%	32%	32%
			ļ	After-Tax Leve	ered IRR – ER	<mark>СОТ, 40% ITC</mark>	;	
			En	ergy Arbitrage	Revenue in 20)24 (\$ / kW-yea	r)	
		70	80	90	100	110	120	130
	66	5%	8%	12%	17%	25%	34%	34%
Ancillary	76	6%	9%	14%	20%	30%	34%	34%
Services	86	7%	11%	16%	23%	34%	34%	35%
Revenue in	96	8%	12%	18%	26%	34%	34%	35%
2024 (\$ / kW-	106	9%	14%	21%	31%	34%	35%	35%
year)	116	11%	16%	24%	34%	34%	35%	35%
	126	12%	18%	28%	34%	34%	35%	36%
			ļ	After-Tax Leve	ered IRR – ER	сот, 50% ІТС	3	
	,		En	ergy Arbitrage	Revenue in 20)24 (\$ / kW-yea	r)	
		70	80	90	100	110	120	130
	66	8%	13%	19%	29%	37%	37%	38%
Ancillary	76	10%	15%	22%	34%	37%	38%	38%
Services	86	11%	17%	26%	37%	37%	38%	38%
Revenue in	96	13%	20%	30%	37%	38%	38%	39%
2024 (\$ / kW-	106	15%	23%	36%	37%	38%	38%	39%
year)	116	18%	27%	37%	37%	38%	38%	39%
	126	21%	32%	37%	38%	38%	39%	39%

Figure 32: ERCOT West Returns Under Various ITC Scenarios

preparation of greater scrutiny of supply chains. The supplier should demonstrate traceability in both the physical flow of materials (e.g., barcode affixation, automated data input for verification, etc.) and the flow of information along the supply chain (e.g., contracts with embedded ESG requirements and Codes of Conduct) (Clean Energy Associates 2023).

Another regulatory hurdle pertains to fire hazards. Authorities having jurisdiction are concerned about the threat of thermal runaways exploding or catching fires in lithium-ion batteries. However, most local authorities often lack experience and knowledge about the required permitting process to support BESS construction projects (Quiroga 2023). The need for BESS technology to comply with local fire codes presents new and unique challenges to local governments, causing delays in permitting and preventing efficient project execution. To streamline the process and minimize waiting time, project sponsors can take proactive measures like determining which codes are required, preparing early due-diligence studies, and sharing information on all ancillary project elements to expedite permitting (Ibid.).

In terms of project economics, BESS are more exposed to merchant risk than other renewable energy projects. Few markets are willing to offer fixed capacity payments for utility-scale battery systems. Utilities and system operators are hesitant to take on energy arbitrage risk. For instance, ISO New England is using storage as transmission-only assets, effectively stopping them from competing in the electricity markets and disrupting wholesale prices (Walton 2023).

According to the U.S. Energy Information Administration's 2022 report on standalone battery storage deployment, battery systems are hard to finance without capacity contracts. When raising capital for merchant BESS projects, project sponsors should structure the revenue stack to maximize cash flow certainty. As new data centers continue to drive demand for 24/7 clean electricity, standalone BESS projects can aim for offtake contracts with data centers to provide mid-duration energy storage and backup power (Reppas 2024).

Energy arbitrage has been one of the main drivers for new investments in BESS (Dilekci et al. 2023). Projects benefit from high price volatility in regions with scarcity pricing (e.g., ERCOT). However, as renewable generation buildout slows down and energy markets become saturated with battery storage, scarcity pricing will decrease and dampen arbitrage gains. Hence, project sponsors will be rewarded for early entry in unsaturated energy markets.

Finally, use of arbitrage strategies comes with the caveat of faster asset degradation (Pavageau and Kordyukova 2023). Project sponsors will need to cope with augmentation risk as they decide the frequency and timing of battery pack replacements. Between augmentations, sponsors also bear the cost of lost revenue resulting from lower project net capacity. A common practice to mitigate this risk is initial overbuild – installing extra capacity upfront to provide enough energy capacity through the project's lifetime (Burns & McDonnell 2022). If the project chooses to design for periodic augmentation, it is helpful to align battery supplier agreement with operational and performance requirements (Kleinberg 2021).

Alternative Fuels



Alternative Fuels

Introduction

Low-carbon alternative fuels will play a critical role in the energy transition, helping to decarbonize sectors that face cost or technological barriers to other decarbonization options like electrification. Alternative fuels can also be used as a transition fuel in hard-to-abate sectors like aviation and heavy-duty transport, where electrification or zero-carbon options are not feasible. Fuels like renewable diesel (RD), sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) and renewable natural gas (RNG) benefit from their compatibility with existing fuel infrastructure and end uses. Historically, low-carbon fuels have not been able to reach cost-parity with their fossil counterparts, making it difficult for low-carbon fuel producers to compete in the marketplace.

Policy support is critical for increasing the development and adoption of low-carbon fuels. The Renewable Fuel Standard (RFS) mandated the use of renewable fuel blends, guaranteeing a market for producers and de-risking investment. Nonetheless, low-carbon fuels continue to be uncompetitive and sell at a premium. The IRA seeks to bring the cost of low-carbon fuels down by stimulating investment in production through several tax credits aimed at low-carbon fuels. This section will explore IRA incentives for alternative fuels, focusing on the adoption opportunities of Renewable Natural Gas, an underutilized resource with significant potential, and SAF, a burgeoning technology vital for decarbonization, both poised for growth through IRA support.

IRA Fuels Tax Incentives

40B Sustainable Aviation Fuel PTC The first of its kind, SAF PTC is eligible for aviation fuel with at least 50% lower emissions than standard jet fuel.³ Beginning in 2023, the SAF PTC will be available until December 31, 2024 at which point SAF will be eligible for the 45Z Clean Fuel Production Tax Credit. The base credit for SAF produced is \$1.25/gallon with a \$1.01 adder for every percentage point above 50% emissions reduction, with a maximum credit value of \$1.75/gallon.

45Z Clean Fuel Production Credit (CFPC) The IRA introduced the section 45Z CFPC, a technology-neutral PTC that will consolidate expiring fuel credits beginning January 1, 2025. Any non-aviation fuel produced with emissions less than 50kg CO2e/MMBtu will qualify for the base credit of \$0.20/gallon. The CFPC is calculated by multiplying the base credit amount per gallon by the fuel's emissions factor⁴, with a 5x multiplier for meeting prevailing wage and apprenticeship (PWA) requirements, as shown in Figure 33. The maximum credit value for non-aviation fuels is \$1.00/gallon for facilities with 0 kg CO2e/MMBtu emissions that meet PWA requirements (Congressional Research Service 2023).

³ A SAF GREET Model is expected to be complete in early 2024 for SAF producers to verify emissions. Until then, CORSA LCA models can be used to assess emissions. ASTM approved SAF pathways are also eligible.

⁴ Emissions factor = [(50kg of CO2e per MMBTU) – (Fuel kg of CO2e per MMBTU)] / [50kg of CO2e per MMBTU]

Assumed kg of CO2e per MMBTU	Emissions Factor	Does not meet PWA reqs	Meets PWA reqs					
Non-aviation Fuels								
0	1.0	\$0.20	\$1.00					
10	0.8	\$0.16	\$0.80					
25	0.5	\$0.10	\$0.50					
40	0.2	\$0.04	\$0.20					
50	0.0	\$0.00	\$0.00					
Aviation Fuels								
0	1.0	\$0.35	\$1.75					
10	0.8	\$0.28	\$1.40					
25	0.5	\$0.18	\$0.88					
40	0.2	\$0.07	\$0.35					
50	0.0	\$0.00	\$0.00					

Figure 33: Estimated §45Z CFPC Values

Source: Calculations by Congressional Research Service based on IRC §45Z

The CFPC also includes SAF, following the sunset of the 40B tax credit in 2024. The base credit for SAF is \$0.35/gallon of SAF produced. Like non-aviation fuels, the aviation credit increases with emissions reductions and meeting PWA requirements, for a maximum credit of \$1.75/gallon produced, as shown in Figure 33 (Congressional Research Service 2023).

The CFPC will be eligible for fuel produced after December 31, 2024 and sold before December 31, 2027. The CFPC cannot be stacked with the 45Q CCUS tax credit, the 45V clean hydrogen PTC or the section 48 ITC for a specified clean hydrogen facility (Congressional Research Service 2023). Further guidance on the CFPC implementation has yet to be released from the Department of the Treasury and Internal Revenue Service (IRS).

Section 48 Energy Property Investment Credit This ITC allows for investments into qualified energy properties to receive an investment tax credit of up to 50%. Eligible energy properties include "qualified biogas properties," as facilities that convert biomass into biogas that is captured for use or sale, and facilities that clean and condition the gas. The Department of Treasury released a correction to the section 48 proposed regulation to ensure that upgrading equipment necessary for the production and pipeline injection of RNG is considered a qualified biogas property and thus eligible for the ITC (Department of Treasury 2024).

The ITC credit ranges from 6-50% of investment. The base credit is 6%, plus a 5x multiplier for meeting PWA requirements, plus a maximum of 10% domestic content adder, plus a maximum of 10% energy community adder. Projects eligible for the ITC must begin construction prior to December 31, 2024.

Alternative Fuels Excise Credit This tax credit was extended under the IRA until December 31, 2024, and provides a \$0.50/gallon tax credit to eligible fuels. Eligible fuels include natural gas, liquefied hydrogen, propane, P-Series fuel, liquid fuel derived from coal through the Fischer-Tropsch process, and compressed or liquefied gas derived from biomass (includes RNG).

Second Generation Biofuel Credit The IRA extended the section 40B second generation biofuel credit until January 1, 2025. Second generation biofuels are made with agricultural waste feedstocks. The PTC starts at \$1.00/gallon of biodiesel produced and \$1.01/gallon of cellulosic ethanol⁵ produced.

Alternative Fuels Tax Credit Transfers

The transferability of tax credits in the IRA has streamlined market participants to easily buy and sell tax credits while increasing liquidity and investment in clean energy projects.

The section 48 ITC has seen a high number of tax credit transfers in bioenergy, second only to standalone solar tax credit transfers, according to Crux, a tax credit transfer marketplace (Crux 2023). Crux has found that the average section 48 ITC deal size is \$18.28 million, with an overage credit price of \$0.90, but some public deals have closed at over \$50 million (Crux 2023). Aemetis Biogas closed a sale of \$53 million in section 48 tax credits, generated from a variety of biogas and RNG projects, to a corporate buyer in late 2023 (Aemetis 2023). Aemetis will use the tax credit sale to support additional projects and investments, including CCUS and SAF. In January 2024, Anaergia Inc. entered into agreement to sell \$15.6 million in tax credits generated at a subsidiary's biogas facility (American Biogas Council 2024). In February 2024, Virentis Advisors announced the closure of three section 48 RNG tax credit sales to corporate buyers for a total of \$55 million (Virentis Advisors 2024).

ITC transfers can help projects to get off the ground by addressing up front capital needs or be used as a source of financing that needs to be competitive in an existing market and maximize returns.

Close Up: Renewable Natural Gas

Key Insights

RNG is produced from biogas, which comes from biomass sources such as landfills, agricultural sites, food waste, and wastewater treatment facilities. The biogas is then refined and upgraded to be used for heating, electricity, and as fuel for vehicles, or injected into natural gas pipelines. Most RNG in North America comes from landfill biogas, with Texas and California being significant producers (Wood Mackenzie 2023). While investments are increasing following the passage of the IRA, it does not allow for RNG production to be cost-competitive with natural gas without previous existing regulatory incentives.

Despite the high cost of production compared to conventional natural gas, the aforementioned incentives make RNG production economically viable. These incentives include the section 48 Energy Property ITC, the Alternative Fuels Excise Tax Credit, the federal RFS, and Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS) which allow RNG to be sold at a premium. LCFS programs currently exist in California, Oregon, and New Mexico. Without policy and regulatory incentives, RNG would not be economically viable, and the RNG market is conditionally existent upon these policies.

The costs for RNG projects can be extensive and vary by facility, with considerations for location, feedstock procurement, digestion, upgrading, and injection. Larger projects tend to have lower per-MMBTU costs. The feasibility

⁵ Cellulosic feedstocks include non-food based crops and residues, energy crops, and other waste materials.

of pipeline-RNG projects is contingent on the proximity to natural gas pipelines (O'Malley and Pavlenko 2023). The Midwest has the highest capacity potential, attributed to agriculture and landfill biogas production (Wood Mackenzie 2023), but without the same financial incentives as states like California or Oregon with established LCFS.

RNG currently makes up less than 1% of the natural gas market, often seen as a transitional fuel towards cleaner energy systems (Chase 2023). While there's no lack of use for RNG due to its compatibility with existing infrastructure, the supply is expected to grow slowly, reaching only 3% of the total U.S. natural gas supply by 2050 under optimistic scenarios (Wood Mackenzie 2023b)

Technology

RNG is produced by separating and refining methane from biogas. Biogas is generated from biomass at landfills, agricultural sites, from food waste, or at wastewater treatment facilities (WWTF), primarily through anaerobic digestion. Biogas on its own is roughly 60% methane, and cannot be injected into pipelines, but can be used to produce heat or electricity, typically for onsite use, or is flared onsite to reduce the emissions of methane. Once biogas is upgraded to RNG, it can be used for local vehicle fleets or injected into a pipeline network (Alternative Fuels Data Center 2024)

The section 48 Energy Property ITC allows for biogas facilities to displace flared methane by improving their system efficiency by re-using biogas onsite, as well as for RNG upgrading and injection equipment. RNG can be directly injected into existing natural gas pipelines, but the cost of production renders RNG uncompetitive with standard natural gas.





However, financial incentives like the section 48 ITC, on top of existing policy incentives including the RFS and LCFS that allow RNG to sell at a premium and RNG production has become more attractive to large biogas producers.

Of the nearly 200 RNG projects online in the United States in 2016, only 50 included upgrading and pipeline injection (EPA 2017).

Project Economics

Costs of RNG projects can vary greatly depending on the characteristics of the facility. Project costs primarily account for feedstock procurement, anaerobic digestion, upgrading equipment, compression and injection, interconnection, and potentially pipeline extension (EPA 2016). Existing biogas producers with anaerobic digesters and located near gas pipeline networks will only need to pay for upgrading and injection. Upgrade and injection costs decrease as project size increases (EPA 2017). Upgrading, injection, and interconnection tend to be the largest costs in production, with interconnection alone ranging from \$1.5 - \$3 million (EPA 2017, 2020). Research suggests that existing biogas facilities in California can produce RNG for pipeline injection from \$7/MMbtu to \$25/MMBtu depending on project size (EPA 2017).

Figure 34: Biogas Production and End-Use Schematic

Texas and California, due to large landfill gas, are already key markets. Developers are also targeting new markets in the Midwest with large agricultural and landfill feedstocks that have yet to be capitalized on (PR Newswire 2023). Large biogas producers, like WWTF and agricultural facilities, that are within 5 miles of natural gas pipelines as well as in LCFS states will benefit from more advantageous economics. WWTFs are near large population centers and generally within 5 miles of pipeline networks (Ha et al. 2022), as shown in Figure 35.

Plants that already generate their own biogas-electricity on site, particularly combined heat, and power projects at WWTFs, have an additional advantage as there is no additional electricity cost for the power that is required in the RNG conversion process (Ha et al. 2022). WWTF could potentially provide up to 12% of U.S. electricity demand from biogas, which could spur further RNG production at these facilities (NACWA, WERF, WEF, 2013).

"We are at the tip of the iceberg of waste water potential."

- RNG Industry Source



Figure 35: WWTFs within 5, 10, 25, and 50 miles of natural gas pipelines

Source: Argonne National Laboratory 2022

Fuel standard incentives like the RFS and state LCFS assign higher values to renewable fuels like RNG. Under the RFS, RNG is typically identified by D3 Renewable Identification Numbers (RINs), except for RNG from WWTFs, that produce D5 RINS due to higher carbon intensity. Recent oversupply of renewable diesel has resulted in steep declines in the value of associated RINs, but D3 RIN values have remained high (Herring et al. 2024), despite historical volatility (EPA

2020), as shown in Figure 36. RFS RIN prices do not always guarantee favorable project financing as they can pose a regulatory threat if programs get overturned, however this market still offers the highest returns (MJ Bradley 2019). RNG projects can also contract long term PPAs with utilities to meet Renewable Portfolio Standards in states that mandate targets (EPA 2020).





By offsetting up to 40%⁶ of upfront costs, the section 48 ITC can reduce the risk of RNG projects and increase confidence of investors and lenders. Costs can be further offset by a renewed Alternative Fuels Excise Tax Credit, which offers \$0.50 per gallon of RNG used as a transportation fuel until December 31, 2024. Finally, RNG producers that can reduce emissions to less than 50kg CO2e/MMBtu can qualify for the 45Z CFPC beginning in 2025. In addition to tax credits, the IRA expanded the existing Rural Energy for America Program (REAP) which awards funds through loans and grants to rural small business and agricultural producers to make renewable energy investments (USDA 2024).

Findings from RNG Financial Modeling

Using a financial model, we were able to analyze the returns of a hypothetical RNG upgrading project. Our model assumed a biogas producer was already equipped with anaerobic digestion and upgrading their system to produce RNG for pipeline injection. Under these assumptions, the main cost drivers are upgrading and injection equipment and annual fixed costs. The assumptions are based on EPA cost estimates for this type of project (EPA 2017). This project model can elect for the section 48 ITC are Alternative Fuel Excise tax credit for \$0.50 per gallon equivalent of RNG produced. The ITC is available for up to 40% of investment for qualified biogas properties, and generally generates a better return than the PTC, given that the PTC is only available until 2025 and does not address up front capital needs, which tend to pose the biggest barrier to adoption. The 45Z CFPC may be a profitable option for RNG projects, but the emissions guidance has yet to be released as of March, 2024, and it is not clear if RNG projects will qualify.

Source: EPA 2024

⁶ Qualified biogas properties are not typically eligible for the 10% energy community adder.

Project size, offtake agreement, and offtake tenor are key drivers of our economic analysis. Our model also incorporated the value of D3 RNG RINs which was material in generating positive returns. Larger projects have higher upfront costs, but lower fixed costs and higher outputs that can valorize RFS and LCFS credits. Larger projects can handle lower offtake prices and shorter tenors, while small projects will require higher offtake prices and benefit from shorter project tenors. Figure 37 and 38 show an example model of a relatively small project producing about 14,000 MMBTU per year.

According to their press release, Aemetis Biogas not only completed a sale of \$53 million of section 48 tax credits, but expects to qualify for more than \$800 million of IRA benefits in the coming years that will support "biogas projects, CO2 re-use by [their] ethanol plant, the construction of [their] sustainable aviation fuel plant and CO2 sequestration" (Aemetis 2023). This type of IRA financing emphasizes the synergistic benefits across emerging technologies that can qualify for additional IRA tax incentives.

In addition to tax incentives, RNG co-products can also be recovered and used or sold. Nutrients from the feedstock, particularly at WWTFs, are often wasted but can be recovered as biosolids. Containing high amounts of nitrogen, potassium, and other micronutrients, the biosolids can be spread over soil or processed to produce fertilizer. However, due to potential contaminants in biosolids, some states do not allow for biosolids to be spread over soil, and processing for fertilizer should be the preferred end use. Several WWTFs in the U.S. have cost-effectively recovered nutrients for fertilizer production (Ha et al. 2022).

Figure 37: RNG Sample Model Inputs, Assumptions, and Returns

Operating Assumptions					
Technology Type:	Alt Fuels				
Product Methane (MMBtu/H)	2.6 Mmbtu/h				
Useful Life (years):	20				
Capacity Factor:	60.0%				
Annual Generation (MMBtu):	13,666				
Offtake Price (\$ / MMBtu):	30.0				
Offtake Tenor (years):	20				
Merchant Price (\$ / MMBtu):					
Merchant Years:					

Financing Assump	otions
Project Cost (\$M):	3.1
Debt Amount (\$M):	2.1
Debt Tenor (years):	20
Interest Rate:	6.70%
Minimum Annual DSCR:	1.50x
Equity Amount (\$M):	1.1
Equity % of Financing:	33.7%

Tax Assumptions					
Federal Tax Rate:	21.0%				
Tax Credit:	Investment Tax Credit				
ITC % of Capex	30.0%				
ITC Amount (\$M):	0.9				
PTC Price (\$ / MMBtu gallon-e):	-				
Annual PTC Escalator:	-				
PTC Transfer Price (per \$1 PTC)					

Returns					
Debt Repaid (years):	6.0				
DSCR Minimum:	0.24x				
DSCR Average:	1.70x				
Equity Holders Pre-Tax NPV:	0.0				
Equity Holders Pre-Tax IRR:	5.5%				
Equity Holders After-Tax NPV:	0.2				
After-Tax Levered IRR:	7.1%				
After-Tax Unevered IRR:	7.7%				

	Offtake Price Sensitivities (After-Tax Levered IRR) - ITC								
	Interest Rate								
		5.20%	5.70%	6.20%	6.70%	7.20%	7.70%	8.20%	
er	\$24.00	-8.9%	-9.0%	-9.0%	-9.0%	-9.0%	-9.0%	-9.1%	
\$	\$26.00	-4.6%	-4.7%	-4.7%	-4.7%	-4.3%	-4.3%	-4.3%	
É ś	\$28.00	-2.5%	-2.6%	-2.7%	-2.3%	-2.4%	-2.4%	-2.5%	
MB	\$30.00	-0.6%	-0.8%	-0.6%	-0.7%	-0.8%	-0.9%	-0.6%	
≥ ₹	\$32.00	1.6%	1.3%	1.1%	0.9%	0.7%	0.9%	0.7%	
ffa	\$34.00	4.2%	3.7%	3.4%	3.0%	2.7%	2.4%	2.2%	
0	\$36.00	7.5%	7.1%	6.3%	5.6%	5.0%	4.6%	4.2%	

Figure 38: RNG Sample Model Sensitivities

	Offtake Term Sensitivities (After-Tax Levered IRR) - ITC							
	Interest Rate							
		5.20%	5.70%	6.20%	6.70%	7.20%	7.70%	8.20%
	12	11.9%	11.4%	11.0%	11.0%	11.0%	10.2%	9.4%
Offtake Term (years)	13	11.5%	11.0%	10.6%	10.6%	10.4%	9.3%	8.7%
	14	11.1%	10.6%	10.2%	10.1%	9.4%	8.8%	8.1%
	15	10.7%	10.3%	9.8%	9.7%	8.9%	8.1%	7.7%
	16	10.4%	9.9%	9.4%	9.2%	8.2%	7.8%	7.3%
	17	10.0%	9.6%	9.0%	8.4%	7.9%	7.4%	7.0%
	18	9.7%	9.2%	8.6%	8.0%	7.5%	7.0%	6.6%

Due to the varied scale and unique economic features of RNG projects, it's essential to model each one individually, accounting for specific factors. However, we anticipate that environmental credits, like RINs, and IRA incentives will continue to play crucial roles in ensuring their success.

Market

The use of biogas and RNG has primarily been limited to onsite electricity or fuel use, but political incentives like the IRA are expanding the potential for fuel end uses. RNG makes up a very small portion of the natural gas market, but is attracting attention as a transition fuel from internal combustion engines to EVs (Chase 2023). RNG production in 2022 was 385 million cubic feet per day (cfd), and estimates suggest that technology and policy can increase production up to 4 billion cfd in 2050, which would represent 3% of total American supply (Wood Mackenzie 2023b).

70% of RNG produced by volume in North America is fed by landfill biogas, followed by 19% agriculture, 6% food waste, and 5% waste water. Texas is the largest producer (about 38% of total supply), followed by California (about 16% of total supply) (Wood Mackenzie 2023b). Investment in biogas systems has been growing steadily since 2014. Following the passage of the IRA in 2022, investment increased further, with a total of roughly \$9 billion in RNG merger and acquisition deals (Wood Mackenzie 2023b). Production capacity is estimated to increase as much as 50% in 2024 following the passage of the IRA and the section 48 ITC (Chase 2023).



Figure 39: US RNG Market Snapshot

Source: Argonne National Lab RNG Database 2022

The proximity and availability of low-cost feedstocks is key to RNG financing, and some states stand out as target markets for this reason. Texas and California, due to large landfill gas, are already key markets. Developers are also targeting new markets in the Midwest with large agricultural and landfill feedstocks that have yet to be capitalized on (PR Newswire 2023). Other developers are converting food waste to RNG, including a new New Jersey project that will inject the RNG into the local natural gas network (South Jersey Industries 2023).

Remaining Challenges

RNG works just as well as fossil based fuel but is more expensive to produce. Financing profitable RNG projects is dependent on factors beyond project costs and selling price. Renewable fuel standards, renewable portfolio standards, and tax incentives are all major drivers of profitability and are not the same across the board. RFS credit prices can be volatile, not all renewable portfolio standards recognize renewable fuels (Ha et al. 2022), and tax incentives expire.

The section 48 ITC requires that qualifying projects begin construction prior to the end of 2024, yet IRS guidance has been updated as recently as February 2024, leaving just a few months to secure project financing and construction contracting. While large projects have been able to take on this regulatory risk, not all have, especially those that are upgrading biogas to RNG, which was addressed in the most recent guidance, clarifying that RNG upgrading equipment is eligible. Complex implementation and unclear timelines from the Department of Treasury has led some potential RNG projects to disregard the potential benefits of the IRA because the risk of meeting the construction deadline and the eligibility requirements is too high, according to a RNG industry source. More time to implement the section 48 ITC for qualifying biogas properties would likely increase investment into RNG projects. Qualifying RNG projects may be eligible for the section 48C advanced energy project credit, which allocated \$10 billion to qualifying projects. In order to receive section 48C funding, projects must first apply for the credit, which can be a lengthy and time-consuming process that small projects may not have the resources for (IRS 2023). The DOE has announced the first \$4 billion in credits to the first round of projects (DOE 2024).

RNG projects generally require risk-averse actors, like municipal landfill operators, municipal wastewater facility operators, or farmers to make expensive changes to their functional systems. While interest has increased in recent years, these actors tend to dislike change and taking risks on new technologies, so incentivizing behavior changes without 'sticks' can be difficult (Ha et al. 2022). A study from NYSERDA and WERF found that utilities and local municipal

operators often lack the leadership and community support needed to use biogas for renewable energy, and that the environmental benefit is not enough to justify the project and the relatively slow payback time and upfront capital needs (Willis et al. 2012). Further, despite the highest potential, WWTFs provide the lowest share of RNG. With already tight economics and high-risk aversion, there are very low incentives without royalties, and often require the help of a third-party developer, according to an industry source. Public agencies like the EPA and USDA are continuing to raise awareness and work with small and medium biogas producers on how they can benefit from RNG production.

The biggest challenge the RNG market faces, according to an industry source, is valorizing the benefits of production. RNG displaces natural gas, abates methane flaring from the anaerobic digestion process, creates potentially valuable coproducts, and is cheaper to produce than to abate methane in oil and gas production. The IRA Methane Fee will begin applying to oil and gas producers in 2024, starting at \$900/MT of methane emitted. This may divert investments from traditional natural gas projects, that now come with a hefty emissions fee, to lower-carbon alternatives like RNG. Nonetheless, the market is still nascent and not well understood by many actors. Further recognition and valorization of RNG will aid in market and technological development.

Close Up: Sustainable Aviation Fuel

Key Insights

The IRA has incentivized SAF production in ways that other fuel policies have failed to do, namely by creating SAF-specific tax credits and premiums. The federal support behind SAF has been able to give more assurances to industry that SAF is a key focus of the United States' decarbonization pathway. However, the impact of the IRA on SAF has been limited thus far, and the expiration date of tax credits may be too early for realistic project financing.

SAF is made from non-petroleum feedstocks and has at least 50% emissions reduction compared to standard aviation fuel, or "Jet A." SAF is blended up to 50% with Jet A, which can then be used as a drop-in fuel, requiring no changes to the aircraft or its engine. The demand for SAF is growing rapidly, despite no economies or technologies of scale. SAF has faced a lack of capital while investors wait for a dominant production pathway to emerge and costs to come down (Bradbury 2023).

"The IRA has incentivized SAF and given assurance to industry in ways that other policies have not, but without a regulated demand, we don't know how much it will amount to."

- CGEP, RMI Researchers

There are seven ASTM⁷-certified production pathways for SAF as a drop-in replacement for Jet A. The dominant method is hydroprocessed fatty acid esters and fatty acids (HEFA), which uses plant-based or waste oils. However, alternatives such as Alcohol-to-Jet (ATJ) and Fischer-Tropsch (FT) synthesis are under development to reduce reliance on limited resources and inflexible supply chains. Further, SAF mandates in the UK and EU discourage SAF made from HEFA and food feedstocks, respectively, due to these concerns (UK Dept. of Transportation 2023, European Council 2023). However, the Midwest United States, for example, has high potential for low-carbon Alcohol-to-Jet (ATJ) SAF production due to its existing ethanol resources and transportation infrastructure (DOE 2024).

⁷ The American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) is an International Organization that establishes safety and quality standards for fuels.

SAF is estimated as 2 – 4 times more expensive than traditional jet fuel, and while regulatory incentives like IRA tax credits attempt to reduce this cost barrier (Herbert, 2022), additional support will likely be necessary. The cost of SAF is primarily influenced by feedstock prices and availability. Emission reductions also impact economic viability by qualifying SAF for subsidies under the IRA and other fuel programs like the Federal RFS and State LFCS. The IRA, RFS, and LCFS incentives could bring some types of SAF to cost parity with JET A, but the technology may not be ready before incentives expire (ICCT 2023). Despite its higher cost, there is a significant demand for SAF from the aviation and shipping industries. Independent of demand growth, production is potentially constrained by feedstock opportunity costs in which lead feedstocks are diverted to other fuels, like RD production in the case of HEFA SAF, that use the same feedstock and have better economics (Chen et al. 2024).

Technology

There are seven SAF production pathways that are ASTM certified to be used as a drop-in replacement for Jet A (IATA 2020). The majority of SAF today, as well as 85% of announced SAF projects, is made from hydroprocessed esters and fatty acids (HEFA) (IATA, 2023). HEFA SAF is produced when plant-based or waste oils and greases, commonly cooking oil, is deoxygenated and hydroprocessed to produce hydrocarbons (IATA 2020). HEFA SAF is considered commercial (US DOE, USDA, DOT 2022). HEFA SAF will likely be the dominant technology in the early stages of the SAF market, while producers and investors are developing alternatives that are less reliant on inflexible supply-chains and face less resource competition.

Alcohol-to-jet (ATJ) fuel and Fischer-Tropsch (FT) synthesis show promise in providing additional SAF production pathways. ATJ uses ethanol or isobutanol as a feedstock (IATA 2020). To be converted into hydrocarbons, the alcohol is dehydrated, the molecules are combined, and then further refined into the finished product (IATA 2020). Certified ATJ alcohol feedstocks include sugarcane, sugar beet, sawdust, and agricultural residues (IATA 2020). Corn-based ethanol, which is currently blended into motor gasoline, has existing infrastructure and supply chain, which could allow for nearterm scaling of SAF production, but would require additional up-stream emissions reductions (US DOE, USDA, DOT 2022).

The first ATJ facility opened in 2024 at the LanzaJet Freedom Pines Facility in Georgia, USA (LanzaJet 2024). LanzaJet will use low-carbon ethanol produced from several waste and sustainable sources, that it claims does not pose a threat to feedstock supply or scaling (LanzaJet 2024).

Ethanol made from agricultural waste, municipal solid waste, or other carbon waste, or "cellulosic ethanol" is a secondgeneration biofuel with considerably lower life cycle emissions than traditional corn-based ethanol (Alternative Fuels Data Center, 2024). Following the passage of the RFS in 2005, there was interest in producing cellulosic ethanol, but it proved to be difficult and costly, and very few projects survived (Service 2022). Cellulosic ethanol being produced for SAF today at Facilities like Freedom Pines and Gevo's planned Net-Zero 1 facility (Gevo 2023), boast diverse feedstocks that can sustain feedstock supply and price shocks.

Bio-based ethanol, including the corn ethanol industry in the United States, has the potential to deliver cost-competitive SAF that can meet the Biden Administration's Sustainable Aviation Fuel Grand Challenge target of 35 billion gallons produced annually by 2050 (DOE 2024). This will not only require market and further technological development but will require substantial up-stream and midstream emissions reductions. CCUS is a viable option to reduce emissions from the ethanol refining and fermentation process (Emery 2022), but agricultural emissions, which require behavioral and

practice changes, will prove to be more difficult. Further, midstream transportation of ethanol, primarily by rail and truck (USDA 2013), will need to decarbonize as well. It is also important to note that corn ethanol often strikes the food vs. fuel debate, and several potential export markets, including the United Kingdom and European Union, explicitly prohibit SAF derived from food or feed crops as eligible feedstocks that can be used to meet SAF mandates (UK Dept. of Transportation 2023, European Council 2023).

FT synthesis gasifies feedstocks like coal, natural gas, and biomass into syngas that contains hydrogen and carbon monoxide. The syngas then undergoes catalytic conversion, producing liquid hydrocarbons through the Fischer-Tropsch reaction that can be blended up to 50% with Jet A (IATA 2020). e-SAF could also be produced via FT from green hydrogen and carbon captured from the atmosphere or a stationary source. In this process, green hydrogen is produced via electrolysis of renewable electricity and water, which is then combined with carbon monoxide that has been captured, through the Fischer-Tropsch reaction (Chen et al. 2023). e-SAF is not near commercialization, but could provide SAF in the long run that does not compete for feedstocks, like other SAF production pathways. In the near term, we should expect to see SAF from bio-based feedstocks, but e-fuels down the line as bio feedstocks become potentially difficult to procure, according to a source at the Rocky Mountain Institute. All SAF plants in the United States that are currently in operation or under construction produce ATJ or bio-FT SAF (Clean Investment Monitor 2023).

Additional SAF conversion processes are ASTM approved and in development, but are further from market-readiness. Backed by United Airlines, Honeywell UOP, AvFuel, US DOD, and US DOE, the National Laboratory of Renewable Energy (NREL) has partnered with Alder Fuels to produce SAF from only sustainable feedstocks using Alder Fuel's pyrolysis technology (Ringle 2022).

SAF conversion processes have room to improve, as current technologies are only about 30% efficient, with 70% of input feedstock wasted (NREL 2024). Figure 40 shows a scheme of biofuel conversion efficiency. Figure 41 estimates product yield proportional to SAF feedstock and conversion pathways (ICCT 2023).

Feedstock	Conversion Pathway	Percentage of Production Optimized for Jet Fuel
Vegetable and waste oils	HEFA	59%
Municipal solid waste	FT	50%
Agricultural residues	FT	50%
Forestry residues	FT	50%
Energy crops	FT	50%
Corn grain and sugarcane ethanol	ATJ	75%

Figure 40: Estimated Fuel Yield Based on Feedstock and Conversion Pathway

Source: O'Malley et al. 2023

Economics

Due to the variety and variability of SAF technologies, economics vary greatly, but certain factors are generally more impactful. Feedstock cost and availability is the most important economic factor, while emissions reductions also play a role in making fuel eligible for IRA and LCFS subsidies (Watson et al 2024). Because so few SAF facilities have gotten past demonstration in the United States, cost estimates are primarily based on scientific research.

In addition to varying feedstock collection and conversion costs, feedstocks need to be transported, and this can inhibit the economics of some projects sourcing feedstocks over long distances (Lewis et al 2018). Mid-stream transportation by truck or rail may also increase lifecycle emissions, potentially rendering SAF too carbon intensive to qualify for federal and state subsidies. Successful SAF projects should consider the cost and availability of feedstock, as well as the proximity in determining the best production pathway. Table 7 shows the estimated net production cost of SAF based on different feedstocks, conversion pathways, and regulatory incentives.

Feedstock	Conversion Pathway	Levelized Cost of Production (\$/JGE)	RFS RIN Credit (\$/JGE)	40B tax credit (\$/JGE)	CA- LCFS (\$/JGE)	Net Production Cost (\$/JGE)
Soy Oil	HEFA	5.16	1.48	1.3	0.61	3.39
Corn Oil	HEFA	4.06	1.48	1.56	0.89	0.13
Used Cooking Oil	HEFA	4.06	1.48	1.59	0.94	0.05
Animal Fats	HEFA	4.06	1.48	1.5	0.83	0.26
Agricultural Waste	FT	7.95	3.6	1.66	1.01	1.67
Municipal Solid Waste	FT	4.07	3.6	1.69	1.04	-2.27
Forestry Waste	FT	7.95	3.6	1.66	1.01	1.69
Energy Crops	FT	8.64	3.6	1.75	1.21	2.08
Corn Grain	ATJ	6.68	0.84	0	0.13	5.72
Sugar Cane	ATJ	7.06	1.5	1.4	0.72	3.44

Figure 41: Net Production Cost of SAF with Regulatory Incentives

Source: O'Malley et al. 2023 Note: Standard jet fuel has a levelized cost of production estimated at \$2/gallon JGE = jet gallon equivalent While the IRA tax credits like the 40B and 45Z may be able to help the few existing SAF producers bring down the cost of production, they require fuel to not only meet emissions reductions requirements, but be produced before the end of 2027. Longer-term support and solutions will be required to develop, diversify, and scale the SAF market. This is why, in addition to the tax incentives, the IRA established the Sustainable Aviation Fuel Grand Challenge, which targets 3 billion gallons per year of SAF by 2030, and 35 billion by 2035 (DOE, DOT, USDA, EPA 2022). In 2022, 15.8 million gallons of SAF were produced in the United States, accounting for less than 0.1% of jet fuel in the U.S. (GAO, 2023). In addition to outlining key near and long-term market development objectives, the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) is providing grants of up to \$50,000,000 to support domestic SAF development, also under the IRA (Alternative Fuels Data Center 2022).

Feedstock competition creates high opportunity costs for SAF and other renewable fuels as technologies and supply chains scale up. As aforementioned, in the case of HEFA, the same feedstock can be made into RD, which has better economics (Chen et al. 2023). Most HEFA facilities are optimized for RD production, and converting to SAF production required facility adjustments. Co-producing SAF and RD improves the overall project economics. Multi-fuel facilities designed for SAF and RD, are expected to come online in coming years with the help of IRA tax credits, and will increase SAF output depending on the selling price of RD (Lavinsky 2022).⁸ Aemetis Biogas has permitted a SAF RD co-production plant in California that will produce 90 million gallons of fuel when producing 50% SAF and 50% RD, and 78 million gallons a year operating at 100% SAF (Aemetis 2024).

While demand for SAF is worldwide, production will be more economically advantageous in specific regions within the United States due to supportive policies in addition to the IRA and availability of feedstocks. Federal policies like the IRA and RFS, in addition to state support in California and Oregon under the LCFS will help bring down the cost of producing SAF, but feedstock availability may play a bigger role in determining economics. Biobased SAF will benefit from being near agricultural regions with existing transportation infrastructure. Meeting near-term SAF goals will require optimizing existing markets and infrastructure while simultaneously decarbonizing them. For example, improving the carbon intensity of corn ethanol to produce low-carbon ATJ SAF in the Midwest corn belt region. Midwest states like Minnesota⁹ and Illinois¹⁰ are realizing their potential to produce low-carbon fuels like SAF and have initiated policy measures in the absence of LCFS to advance the development of said fuels. Ethanol producers that are equipped with carbon capture can also benefit from the section 45Q tax credit. This, in addition to state SAF incentives, may allow ethanol ATJ SAF producers to pencil out projects without the 40B or 45Z PTC. By encouraging SAF production and use, states can not only reduce greenhouse gas emissions but will also foster economic growth and job creation.

Finally, Airlines operate on a tight cost margin, and are not able to pay fuel premiums that will get passed down to consumers who can simply switch to a cheaper airline. In December 2023, S&P Global Commodity insights assessed that SAF coming out of the Netherlands was valued at \$2,845.75/mt, while conventional jet fuel was valued at \$849.75/mt in the northwest Europe region (Washington, 2023). Many airlines are contracting SAF offtake agreements to generate voluntary corporate carbon credits that can be sold (Mulder 2022). The Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA) is a United Nations program that allows airlines to use SAF to meet carbon offsetting

⁸ Renewable Diesel prices are dependent on the price of D4 RINs. Recent overproduction of renewable diesel has caused the price of D4 RINS to drop significantly, nearing the break-even price.

⁹ SAF sold in Minnesota between June 30, 2024 and before July 1, 2030 can claim \$1.50 per gallon of SAF that is produced and sold in Minnesota.

¹⁰ <u>Airlines operating in Illinois can claim \$1.50 per gallon of SAF derived from domestic biofuels through 2032.</u>

requirements with approved fuels, these offset credits can then be bought and sold on the Aviation Carbon Exchange (ACE) (IATA 2024).

Market

Despite a continued cost premium, the SAF market is facing huge demand from captive, credit-worthy airlines and shipping companies. Offtake agreements with airlines currently range from 1-20 years and the total contracted volume of public deals is over 52,000 million liters, which account for less than 1% of all aviation fuel use and 3% of renewable fuel use in 2023. The International Air Transport Association (IATA) expects SAF production volumes to triple from 2023 to 2024, to 1.9 billion liters, but will still only account for 6% of renewable fuels. IATA estimates that SAF needs to account for 25-30% of renewable fuels to improve decarbonization and bring costs down (IATA 2023).

Virtually all SAF sold in the United States has been in the form of long-term offtake agreements. This allows airlines to purchase SAF in the future if price conditions are met. However, if the contracted SAF is not produced or the price is too high, airlines are not required to buy it and can contract new agreements. Several SAF offtake agreements have failed and no fuel is delivered, and partners instead enter into a new agreement. Further, there is very little price transparency and discovery in the SAF market, and the few existing producers do not have to compete to sell the cheapest product (GAO 2023).

The demand and mandates (e.g. RFS) for other renewable fuels like renewable diesel means that new production capacity for SAF, especially HEFA SAF, is often being diverted for production of RD, which keeps prices for SAF high (IATA 2023).

Nonetheless, the IATA expects 69 billion liters globally by 2028, and increasing capacity with more project announcements through 2030 (IATA 2023). Short term market growth projections estimate a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) from 2023 to 2030 of 47.7%, from a value of USD 1.1 billion to USD 16.8 billion (Markets and Markets, 2023). Long term estimates from 2023 to 2050 estimate a CAGR of 2.6%, reaching USD 402 billion by 2050 (GlobeNewswire News Room 2024).

Since 2018, \$26.3 billion has been invested in US SAF projects. Only about 1% of this investment represents operating projects, with a majority yet to start construction (The Clean Investment Monitor 2024).

Remaining Challenges

Existing SAF technologies face several challenges: high costs, feedstock competition for scarce resources, and supply chain development. A reliable, cost-effective feedstock that can be scaled has yet to emerge on the SAF market. While HEFA SAF is expected to be the feedstock of choice in the coming years, it is dependent on limited resources that cannot meet the growing demand (Holladay et al. 2020). Table 8 shows the estimated SAF feedstock supply in the US. Current feedstock supply represents less than 20 billion gallons of annual SAF potential, in the best case scenario. Therefore, meeting the goal of 35 billion gallons of SAF annually by 2050 will require greater domestic feedstock supplies.

Feedstock	Available Quantity (MT)	Potential annual SAF Production Potential (billion gallons)
Soy Oil	4.2	0.74
Corn Oil	0.7	0.37
Used Cooking Oil	1.1	0.48
Animal Fats	0.5	0.42
Agricultural Waste	161.1	4.88
Municipal Solid Waste	75.8	1.35
Forestry Waste	33.6	1.14
Energy Crops	89.7	2.72
Corn Grain Ethanol	43.9	6.89
Sugar Cane Ethanol	0.3	0.05
Total	410.9	19.04

Figure 42: Existing Feedstock Supply and SAF Production Potential

Source: O'Malley et al. 2023

Not only are the necessary feedstocks, waste fats, oils and greases (FOGs), relatively limited, but they are also the main feedstock for RD, which is more economical to produce. RD facilities can co-produce HEFA SAF but require additional costs to further refine and separate the fuel from diesel. Further, RD is a drop-in fuel for diesel engines and production is further incentivized under the RFS, which mandates a Renewable Volume Obligation (RVO) for renewable fuels. Aviation fuel is not currently mandated under the RFS, and it is currently opt-in in other fuel standard programs like California's Low-Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS). In the United States, including all IRA scenarios, RFS, and LCFS incentives, HEFA-based SAF maintains a positive price differential compared to renewable diesel, with a \$1.59 price differential (Chen et al. 2023). In sum, current renewable fuel policies are diverting feedstocks away from SAF to more profitable fuels (Holladay et al. 2020).

Conclusion and Recommendations

The Inflation Reduction Act has directly incentivized the adoption of alternative transportation and aviation fuels through the section 40B sustainable aviation fuel PTC, and the 45Z clean fuel PTC, among others. However, the limited lifetime of the credits, expiring at the end of 2024 and 2027, respectively, only allows for fuels that are market-ready or in advanced development to benefit. Many alternative fuels that will be crucial for decarbonization will not be eligible for IRA incentives due to time constraints, and thus development may not happen.

The IRA has helped indirectly encourage the development of key infrastructure and resources that will be needed for long-term alternative fuel solutions that are not yet ready. This includes incentives for clean electricity, hydrogen production, carbon capture, and infrastructure. In addition to PTCs, the IRA has developed additional funding programs and opportunities for sustainable aviation fuel that may help support market development beyond 2027. Further regulatory support will be required to develop the market for all alternative fuels that are not economic without it.

Despite challenges, alternative fuels have potential to provide transitional and long-term fuels solutions in the energy transition. Unlocking this potential will depend on the swift development of markets, supply chains, and affordable production.

Renewable natural gas has the potential to be profitable immediately, with the advantage of mature technology, abundant feedstock potential, and strong regulatory incentives in addition to the IRA. However, the main driver of RNG projects under the IRA, section 48 ITC, is too short-lived and complex for many projects to obtain, which is inhibiting growth in RNG as a result. Without an extension of the 48 ITC, the economic viability of many RNG projects remains unchanged since the IRA.

Sustainable aviation fuel has seen huge increases in demand and investment since the IRA, but there are still relatively few projects operational or even under construction. This is likely due to the complex and still nascent SAF supply chain and technology, both of which have room for improvement. However, SAF that can take advantage of existing resources and infrastructure, such as ethanol-based alcohol-to-jet SAF, may be economical sooner than other types of SAF.

Bonus: E-Fuels

Electrofuels, or e-fuels, are clean, synthetic hydrocarbons produced from clean hydrogen and captured carbon. While not yet commercially viable, e-fuels can play a significant role in the long-term decarbonization of transportation. The IRA incentives e-fuels directly through tax credits like the 45Z CFPC, as well as indirectly through incentives for supply chain development. The 45V clean hydrogen production tax credit is seen as one of the biggest opportunities of the IRA, with the ability to reduce the cost of hydrogen by up to \$3/kg of clean hydrogen production. With that, the section 48C advanced energy project investment credit provides up to a 30% credit on technology manufacturing investments, including for electrolyzers, which use clean electricity to separate hydrogen and oxygen in water. Clean electricity that powers the electrolyzer is also subsidized in the IRA, through either the 45Y production tax credit or 48E investment tax credit. Finally, the IRA increased tax benefits for carbon capture, utilization and storage under the 45Q credit. Captured carbon can then be synthesized with hydrogen into e-fuels through Fischer-Tropsch synthesis (DOE 2023). By bringing down the cost of the critical, cost-prohibitive elements of e-fuels production, the IRA clears a path to long-term market development for clean on-road and aviation transportation fuels.



Figure 43: Simplified e-Fuels Value Chain with IRA Incentives

Source: RMI 2023

Hydrogen

HYDROGEN H2

The star A

Hydrogen

Introduction

Hydrogen gas is a significant and internationally traded product, mainly utilized in various industries as a basic raw material or as an intermediate in processes like oil refining, methanol, and ammonia synthesis for fertilizers. Hydrogen also serves as a potential fuel or energy source, boasting the highest energy per unit of mass among current major fuels, such as diesel, natural gas, and petrol. 1 kilogram of hydrogen holds roughly the equivalent energy of 1 gallon (or 2.8 kilograms) of gasoline (Green Hydrogen Coalition, 2022).

The IRA's 45V tax credits significantly lower the cost of hydrogen production, fostering industry growth by making projects more financially feasible. The future growth and demand of hydrogen will depend on advancements in technology, reductions in production costs, supportive regulatory frameworks, and the expansion of infrastructure for distribution and storage.

"Green" Hydrogen

Carbon intensity refers to the amount of greenhouse gas emissions produced over the entire life cycle of a fuel per unit of energy or fuel delivered, encompassing all emissions from production to consumption (well-to-gate), not merely those released during consumption. The carbon intensity of hydrogen is quantified in terms of kilograms of CO2 equivalent (CO2e) per kilogram of hydrogen, where CO2e represents the quantity of CO2 that would cause a similar effect on global warming for any given amount and type of greenhouse gas. Figure 44 illustrates the life cycle emissions associated with various methods of hydrogen production (Green Hydrogen Coalition, 2022).



Figure 44: Lifecycle Emissions of Hydrogen Production

Source: Green Hydrogen Coalition 2022

The Global Hydrogen Council (GHC) has a broad and inclusive definition of green hydrogen, which does not limit the technology used for its production. For hydrogen to be classified as green, it must be generated from non-fossil fuel sources, and the total carbon intensity of its production process should be zero, negligible, or potentially even negative. While the document outlines some prevalent green hydrogen production methods, such as water electrolysis, steam methane reforming (SMR) of biogas, and biomass thermal conversion, it emphasizes that these are not the only options. The scope for green hydrogen production is wide, with expectations for numerous other methods to emerge and be commercialized in the near future (Green Hydrogen Coalition, 2022).

Technology

There are currently three dominant technologies with economic viability - Polymer Electrolyte Membrane, also referred to as Proton Exchange Membrane, Electrolyzers (PEM), Alkaline Electrolyzers and Solid Oxide Electrolyzers (DOE 2024).

Among the various types of electrolyzers, PEM and Alkaline electrolyzers are the most commonly used in commercial applications.¹¹ While the stack cost of an Alkaline electrolyzer is lower than that of a PEM electrolyzer, the scenario changes as the system size increases. Specifically, the complexity and the cost associated with the balance of plant (BOP) are lower for PEM electrolyzers when compared to their Alkaline counterparts in larger systems. Consequently, the total cost of ownership for a PEM electrolyzer is generally lower than for an Alkaline one, with estimates suggesting that the service costs for PEM are about one-third of those for Alkaline systems (Holst et al 2021).

Project Economics

To meet market demand, organizations will need to scale up and improve their green hydrogen plant designs. However, based on limited market data and low maturity in the space, optimizing plant designs and end-to-end green hydrogen systems can be costly and incredibly complex. (Ouziel and Avelar 2021).

Cutting costs will necessitate a steadfast commitment to achieving scale through vertical integration. The most immediate cost reductions will be achieved through massive, vertically integrated endeavors that cover the whole supply chain. These efforts will involve the large-scale production of solar panels and related components, wind turbines, electrolyzers, and the capabilities for in-house engineering, procurement, and construction, along with the creation of green hydrogen and its byproducts, all within a single facility.

According to a Senior Manager of a clean energy developer that we spoke with, developers are currently looking into colocated wind and solar facilities to take the full benefit of the tax credits.

Additionally, situating such a facility in a port area with a surrounding industrial network that handles the entire process from production to final consumption, leveraging green hydrogen and equipped to export hydrogen byproducts, can address some initial hurdles associated with long-term storage and transport. These vast projects will likely improve project delivery times and cut expenses by eliminating middlemen.

This strategy demands substantial capital investment and comes with risks associated with vertical integration, such as technological changes. Yet, it offers the most rapid progress towards achieving DOE's 2031 target cost of \$1 per kilogram

¹¹ Additional technologies exist that include thermal conversion of energy using Natural Gas, Coal and/or Biomass - coupled with a CCUS unit. However, these pathways do not lead to Green Hydrogen and therefore have been excluded from this analysis (NETL 2023)
(Adani 2024). It's vital that climate finance discussions take into account the significant capital requirements for such expansive integrated projects, especially in developing nations where high capital costs have been a constant barrier, despite the readiness of businesses to embrace the risks (Adani 2024).

45V Tax Credit

Treasury and IRS have proposed guidance for claiming the 45V Clean Hydrogen Production Tax Credit established under last year's Inflation Reduction Act. The Section 45V tax incentive offers up to \$3 per kilogram in tax credits for hydrogen projects that demonstrate low greenhouse gas emissions throughout their lifecycle. This provision complements additional initiatives like the Department of Energy's Regional Clean Hydrogen Hubs Program. This program allocates \$7 billion to stimulate almost \$50 billion in investments in hydrogen across seven chosen Hubs (White House 2023). Figure 45 presents each tier of credit value for the section 45V credit. The value of the section

Figure 45: 45V Credit Values

Emissions Intensity (kg of CO2e per kg of H2)	Maximum credit (\$/kgH2, assuming prevailing wage and apprenticeship requirements are met)
0 - 0.45	\$3.00
0.45 -1.5	\$1.00
1.5 - 2.5	\$0.75
2.5 - 4	\$0.60

45V tax credit is based on the volume of greenhouse gases (GHGs) emitted during the hydrogen production process, including emissions from the electricity generation involved (de Marigny et al 2023).

The proposed regulations at present stipulate that electricity used in clean hydrogen production must meet the following criteria:

- 1. It should be procured from power facilities that commenced commercial operations no later than 36 months prior to the hydrogen plant commencing service.
- 2. Starting January 1, 2028, and on an annual basis before this date, the electricity must be synchronized on an hourly basis with the clean power generation. Energy Attribute Certificates (EACs) may be considered if the electricity is generated during the same hour that the hydrogen production facility uses grid electricity.
- 3. The electricity must be sourced from a power producer located in the same region as the hydrogen production facility.

Section 45V is designed to be "technology-agnostic," meaning it does not prescribe specific technologies for producing clean hydrogen. Instead, it mandates that the lifecycle greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are measured from "well-to-gate," using the Greenhouse gases, Regulated Emissions, and Energy use in Transportation (GREET) model developed by Argonne National Laboratory. This is particularly relevant for hydrogen generated using electricity, such as green hydrogen produced via electrolyzers, where the power source and its associated emissions are critical in assessing the hydrogen's carbon intensity.

Typically, though, producers often utilize grid electricity but offset this by purchasing renewable energy certificates (RECs). This approach allows them to be recognized for using renewable energy, even though they are actually drawing power from the grid.

Furthermore, Section 48(a)(15) provides an option for taxpayers who own a clean hydrogen production facility to claim an investment tax credit (known as the 48 Credit) instead of the 45V Credits. The magnitude of the section 48 Credit typically varies between 6% and 30% of eligible Fair Market Value (FMV), provided that the facility meets prevailing wage and apprenticeship requirements. If these requirements are not met, the credit rate ranges from 1.2% to 6%. The credit can decrease the magnitude of initial capital needed to fund an electrolyser.

The application of tax credits significantly reduces the Levelized Cost of Electricity (LCOE) for both PEM and Alkaline electrolyzers, making hydrogen production projects more economically feasible for various industries. For PEM electrolyzers, the LCOE drops from a range of \$4.77 - \$7.37 per kilogram to \$1.68 - \$4.28 per kilogram after tax credits are applied. Similarly, for Alkaline electrolyzers, the LCOE decreases from \$3.79 - \$5.78 per kilogram to \$0.83 - \$2.83 per kilogram (Lazard 2023).

Inflationary pressures are significantly impacting the cost of renewable energy sources, which make up as much as twothirds of the total production costs for green hydrogen. This rise in costs is prompting green hydrogen developers like Iberdrola and ENGIE to reassess their medium-term plans. The increasing prices of materials and services related to renewable energy technologies—such as solar panels and wind turbines—are affecting the overall economics of producing green hydrogen (Tatarenko et al. 2024).

Financial Model Summary

Using an internal financial model with various market-rate assumptions, we've generated summary financials for a medium-sized PEM Electrolyzer, adjusting variables to explore their impact on investment IRR across different scenarios. Figure 46 shows the model inputs and returns.

Operating Assumptions			
Technology Type:	Green Hydrogen		
Nameplate Capacity (MW):	100.0		
Useful Life (years):	20		
System Efficiency (kWh/kgH2)	71.43		
Annual Generation (kgH2):	12,264,000		
PPA Price (\$ / kgH2):	5.0		
PPA Tenor (years):	5		
Merchant Price (\$ / kgH2):	2		
Merchant Years:	15		

Figure 46: Hydrogen Model Sample Inputs, Assumptions, and Ret	urns
---	------

Tax Assumptions	
Federal Tax Rate:	21.0%
Tax Credit:	PTC Transfer
ITC % of Capex	-
ITC Amount (\$M):	-
45V Price (\$ / MWh):	3.0
Annual Escalator:	2.0%
Transfer Price (per \$1 PTC):	0.88

Financing Assumptions		
Project Cost (\$M):	201.0	
Debt Amount (\$M):	140.7	
Debt Tenor (years):	1(
Interest Rate:	6.70%	
Minimum Annual DSCR:	1.50x	
Equity Amount (\$M):	60.3	
Equity % of Financing:	30.0%	

Returns		
Debt Repaid (years):	6.0	
DSCR Minimum:	1.50x	
DSCR Average:	2.88x	
Equity Holders Pre-Tax NPV:	118.5	
Equity Holders Pre-Tax IRR:	33.6%	
Equity Holders After-Tax NPV:	36.4	
After-Tax Levered IRR:	19.4%	
After-Tax Unevered IRR:	15.7%	

Our financial model has identified the following key findings regarding the viability of the project under current economic conditions.

Impact of 48(a)(15) Tax Credits: The model reveals that the project is not feasible with the 48(a)(15) tax credits alone, given the existing economic structure of the project. The 48(a)(15) credits act like ITCs, decreasing the upfront cost of construction for a project. The tax credits, although beneficial, are insufficient to offset the high costs involved, rendering the project uneconomical without additional financial adjustments or incentives.

Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) Pricing: The analysis shows that the project only becomes financially feasible with a PPA price exceeding \$4 per kilogram of hydrogen (kgH2) for a five-year term. This threshold is necessary to cover the operational and production costs associated with the project, highlighting the sensitivity of the project's financial health to the pricing strategies of hydrogen sales.

Capital Expenditure (CapEx) Requirements: To compete effectively with the global market price of gray hydrogen, which is approximately \$1.50/kgH2, the current capital expenditure of the project would need to undergo a significant reduction. This drastic decrease in CapEx is crucial to making the green hydrogen project competitive with conventional hydrogen production methods, which benefit from lower production costs.

		Contract P	rice and Inter	est Rate Sens	sitivities (Afte	er-Tax Lever	ed IRR) - 45	V
				l	nterest Rate			
	_	5.2%	5.7%	6.2%	6.7%	7.2%	7.7%	8.2%
(B)	3.00	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
(\$	3.50	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
ice	4.00	9.2%	8.6%	7.9%	7.1%	6.0%	0.0%	0.0%
D	4.50	15.4%	15.0%	14.7%	14.3%	14.0%	13.6%	13.2%
lase	5.00	20.2%	20.0%	19.7%	19.4%	19.1%	18.8%	18.4%
Ict	5.50	24.5%	24.3%	24.0%	23.8%	23.5%	23.3%	23.0%
Ъ.	6.00	28.6%	28.3%	28.1%	27.8%	27.6%	27.3%	27.1%
		0				by Louised		
		Contrac	t Price and G	apex Sensitiv	vities (Atter-I	ax Levered	IKK) - 43V	
		Contrac	t Price and C	apex Sensiti	Capex	ax Levered	IRR) - 45V	
	_	1260	1510	apex Sensiti	Capex 2010	2360	2710	3060
(6)	2.00	1260 0.0%	1510 0.0%	1760 0.0%	Capex 2010 0.0%	2360 0.0%	<u>2710</u> 0.0%	<u>3060</u> 0.0%
(\$\kg)	2.00 2.50	1260 0.0% 15.0%	1510 0.0% 0.0%	1760 0.0% 0.0%	Capex 2010 0.0% 0.0%	2360 0.0% 0.0%	<u>2710</u> 0.0% 0.0%	3060 0.0% 0.0%
ice (\$Kg)	2.00 2.50 3.00	1260 0.0% 15.0% 22.1%	1510 0.0% 0.0% 12.1%	1760 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	Capex 2010 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	2360 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	2710 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	3060 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
e Price (\$Kg)	2.00 2.50 3.00 3.50	1260 0.0% 15.0% 22.1% 28.2%	1510 0.0% 0.0% 12.1% 19.0%	1760 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 9.6%	Capex 2010 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	2360 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	2710 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	3060 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
hase Price (\$kg)	2.00 2.50 3.00 3.50 4.00	1260 0.0% 15.0% 22.1% 28.2% 34.3%	1510 0.0% 0.0% 12.1% 19.0% 24.6%	1760 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 9.6% 16.4%	Capex 2010 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 7.1%	2360 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	2710 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	3060 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
ırchase Price (\$/kg)	2.00 2.50 3.00 3.50 4.00 4.50	1260 0.0% 15.0% 22.1% 28.2% 34.3% 40.5%	1510 0.0% 0.0% 12.1% 19.0% 24.6% 29.7%	1760 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 9.6% 16.4% 21.8%	Capex 2010 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 7.1% 14.3%	2360 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	2710 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%	3060 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Figure 47: Hydrogen Model Sensitivities

Hydrogen Market and Use Cases in the U.S.

Current Market

In the United States, around 10 million metric tons (MMT) of hydrogen is produced annually (not including the hydrogen recovered as a by-product of other industry processes), in contrast to the global production of approximately 94 MMT, primarily serving the petroleum refining, ammonia production, and chemical sectors (DOE 2023.) Often, the hydrogen produced is utilized within the same facility, leading to a slightly higher overall consumption. For example, the ammonia

dissociation and steam-reforming (common in the metals industry) often has on-site hydrogen produced for internal use in the same facility (DOE 2018.)

The U.S. maintains about 1,600 miles of hydrogen pipelines and three geological storage caverns, including the largest in the world, with a capacity to store 350 gigawatt-hours (GWh) of energy—enough to supply 1.2 million homes for a week (DOE 2023.)

The scarcity of dedicated hydrogen distribution and transportation infrastructure, coupled with the concentration of production near consumption centers, restricts scaling of the green hydrogen economy where co-location is not feasible, necessitating cost-effective infrastructure development as distribution costs become a larger share of total hydrogen costs (CSIS 2023.)

Beyond its traditional roles in petroleum and fertilizer production, hydrogen is finding new applications, such as powering over 50,000 fuel cell forklifts, nearly 50 retail hydrogen fueling stations, upwards of 80 fuel cell buses, over 15,000 fuel cell vehicles, and more than 500 megawatts (MW) of fuel cells for stationary and backup power, including telecommunications, according to the U.S. National Clean Hydrogen Strategy and Roadmap.

Government Initiatives

Hydrogen Hubs

With a substantial investment of \$7 billion from the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, the Regional Clean Hydrogen Hubs (H2Hubs) are set to play a pivotal role in advancing clean energy across the United States. These hubs will establish networks linking hydrogen producers, consumers, and infrastructure to enhance the adoption of hydrogen as a versatile and powerful clean energy source.

The H2Hubs aim to match the expansion of clean hydrogen production with the increasing regional demand, fostering the development of large-scale, economically sustainable hydrogen ecosystems. This initiative is essential for transitioning away from carbon-intensive energy processes and moving towards low-carbon hydrogen solutions (DOE H2Hubs 2024).

H2 Hubs demand-side support initiative

The H2 Hubs demand-side support initiative, with \$1 billion earmarked for it, is designed to facilitate the deployment of hydrogen through specialized applications tailored to each hub. The program includes differential contracts with producers to stabilize pricing and ensure economic viability. It also focuses on enhancing price transparency and standardizing contracting terms to streamline operations and foster market growth.

Hydrogen Shot

The DOE's Energy Earthshots Initiative aims to expedite clean energy solutions to achieve more abundant and affordable energy within a decade. Launched with the Hydrogen Shot on June 7, 2021, it targets reducing clean hydrogen costs by 80% to \$1 per kilogram in ten years, facilitating broader use in industries like steel manufacturing and transportation. This reduction supports the Biden-Harris Administration's goal for net-zero emissions by 2050, boosts the economy, and creates union jobs, while prioritizing environmental protection and community benefits (DOE Hydrogen Shot 2024).

Future Demand Cases

Hydrogen Ladder

The Hydrogen Ladder is a framework designed to assess the potential of hydrogen adoption for decarbonization in various sectors by 2035. The placement on the ladder is denoted by the following legend: A - no alternative; B - decent market share highly likely; C - some market share likely; D - small market share plausible (Liebreich 2023).

Figure 48: Hydrogen Ladder, Version 5.0



Source: Liebreich 2023

Willingness to pay

The willingness to pay, or threshold price, for clean hydrogen varies across different sectors, factoring in costs associated with production, delivery, and onsite conditioning, which can include compression, storage, cooling, and dispensing. The current cost analyses of hydrogen production do not account for the potential reductions from regulatory incentives, such as those provided by the IRA.

The demand for hydrogen at these threshold costs within various sectors will be influenced by the development and adoption rates of competing and incumbent technologies and fuels. Moreover, the willingness to pay for hydrogen is also shaped by policies aimed at reducing emissions. This includes



Figure 49: Willingness to Pay of Potential End-Users

federal regulations for new power plants and state-level mandates that set limits on emissions, which collectively encourage or necessitate the use of cleaner energy solutions like hydrogen.

Expected Sector Growth by 2040

The below graph shows expected sector growth of the U.S. Hydrogen industry. Ammonia and Methanol are expected to have a collective market share of 7% by 2040. Shipping, aviation fuel, road transport, LDC blending, and steel-making are also expected to have a considerable market share by 2040. The overall demand is expected to rise to 30 MMT by 2024, as shown in Figure 50 (Lazard 2023.)



Figure 50: Forecasted U.S Hydrogen Demand (million tons)

After an evaluation using the Hydrogen Ladder framework, analyzing sector-specific willingness to pay, and assessing projected growth across various industries, it becomes evident that there is no definitive leader in hydrogen's use case. The interplay of these three factors—potential for hydrogen adoption, economic readiness to invest in hydrogen technologies, and anticipated sectoral expansion—creates a complex landscape with varying outcomes for different use cases. Figure 49 and 51 show the different willingness to pay across sectors.

Sector	MMT Demand by 2040	Willingness To Pay (\$/kgH2)	Hydrogen Ladder Placement
Shipping	1.2	1.5	С
SAF	1.2	1.0	В
Heavy duty vehicles	1.3	4.5	D
Iron and Steel	0.3	2.0	В
Grid Storage	6.8	1.5	В
Ammonia & Methanol	6.2	1.0	В

Figuro	51.	Willingr	acc to	Dav	hv	Sector
rigui e	J T.	vviiiiiigi	iess to	Pdy	UV.	Sector

Shipping

The shipping industry, which could become the biggest industrial user of low-emission hydrogen by the middle of the century. In the last three years, the sector has seen the launch of its first methanol-powered vessel, the ordering of over 250 ships fueled by methanol, and the initial placement of orders for ships powered by ammonia (Mandra 2023). This year is poised to bring even more significant developments, as over 30 leaders in the shipping industry have already committed to increasing their use of renewable-based hydrogen fuels to nearly 11 million tons by 2030 (RMI 2023).

SAF

e-SAF, synthesized from green hydrogen and atmospheric or stationary-source captured carbon is not near commercialization but could offer a sustainable aviation fuel (SAF) option that doesn't compete for bio-based feedstocks, potentially becoming a viable alternative as the availability of biological materials becomes constrained (Fuel Cells and Hydrogen 2 Joint Undertaking 2020). Current pilot projects in Europe are aiming for commercialization by 2030 (Lhyfe 2024).

Heavy Duty Vehicles

A price point of about \$5 per kilogram for hydrogen that is produced, delivered, compressed, and dispensed could effectively encourage early adoption in the fuel cell truck market (DOE H2 Roadmap 2023). Hydrogen fuel cells are well-suited for the trucking industry due to their refueling speed and driving range, which are similar to those of gasoline-powered trucks, and the predictability of truck routes simplifies the development of fueling infrastructure (Oak Ridge National Lab 2021).

Hydrogen fuel cells offer a higher energy density per unit mass compared to lithium batteries or diesel, allowing trucks to carry more energy without a substantial increase in weight. This is particularly advantageous for long-haul trucks subject to weight restrictions (Oak Ridge National Lab 2021).

Iron and Steel

The use of hydrogen in iron refining, depending on the development of alternative methods, could represent 10-20 percent of steel production by 2050. This shift could generate a demand for 1-3 million metric tons per year of clean hydrogen (DOE H2 Roadmap 2023).

The steel sector, responsible for 7% of global CO2 emissions, is exploring green hydrogen-based direct reduction of iron ore (DRI) combined with electric arc furnace (EAF) steelmaking as a decarbonization strategy. By 2050, the levelized cost of solar and wind-powered green steel could range between \$535 and \$831 per ton, with green hydrogen costs between \$1.63 and \$2.80 per ton, making it increasingly competitive against traditional blast furnace-basic oxygen furnace (BF-BOF) methods, especially as fossil fuel costs rise and renewable costs decline (Devlin et al 2023).

Grid Storage

Hydrogen serves as a versatile solution for delivering flexible, dependable, and on-demand power through combustion and co-firing, as well as acting as long-duration energy storage. This includes its use in forms like renewable natural gas, ammonia, and various other fuel types (DOE H2 Roadmap 2023). While costs are high due to storage and transportation challenges, technological advancements and economies of scale are expected to reduce costs over time (Ma et al. 2023).

Ammonia & Methanol

An additional 4-5 million metric tons (MMT) per year of clean hydrogen could be used by ammonia plants to fully decarbonize U.S. domestic demand for applications like fertilizer production. Since hydrogen is a crucial component in ammonia production, switching to clean hydrogen sources is vital for decarbonization, making the ammonia industry a likely early adopter with significant demand for clean hydrogen. Ammonia, widely used in fertilizers and other chemicals, can also serve as a hydrogen carrier, promoting broader market adoption through existing infrastructure. In the methanol industry, clean hydrogen could replace current alternatives like carbon capture and storage (CCS) with fossil feedstocks or biomass. Using clean hydrogen for half of the U.S. methanol production by 2050 would require an additional 1-3 MMT/year of hydrogen (DOE H2 Roadmap 2023).

Risk Analysis

Infrastructure Risk

The United States is significantly advancing its commitment to hydrogen infrastructure, spurred by the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, which dedicates \$8 billion to the development of seven (H2Hubs). These hubs aim to catalyze the hydrogen market by linking hydrogen producers, consumers, and local connective infrastructure, crucial for achieving state and federal emissions reduction targets.

The focus of these hubs is not just on production but also on establishing the necessary infrastructure to support the scaling up of hydrogen use. This includes the development of pipelines for efficient hydrogen distribution and storage facilities to handle supply fluctuations and maintain energy security. Public-private partnerships (PPPs) are proving pivotal in these efforts, facilitating the integration of public policy support with private sector investment and innovation (Higman and Zacarias 2022).

Each proposed hub is at a different stage of development, from forming working groups to conducting feasibility studies and initiating pilot projects. As the Department of Energy (DOE) prepares to announce selected projects, the need for supportive policy frameworks and regulatory environments becomes more pronounced. These frameworks will help manage the complexities of interregional hydrogen transfer and the financial burdens of infrastructure development (Higman and Zacarias 2022).

In essence, the success of the H2Hubs initiative and the broader hydrogen economy depends significantly on overcoming infrastructure challenges. Adequate development of pipelines and storage solutions is critical for meeting the ambitious targets set by the DOE and sustaining the momentum towards a sustainable hydrogen economy (Higman and Zacarias 2022).

Regulatory Risk

As of April 2024, there is still pending 45V regulation from the Treasury and IRS, following draft versions released in December 2023 and April 2024, is open for comments until May 13, 2024. The industry is closely watching to see what the final regulations will entail, as these will significantly influence project execution and costs.

The upcoming final U.S. Treasury rules on the 45V tax credits for low-carbon hydrogen, established by the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA), are set to shape the future of the U.S. hydrogen industry. Industry stakeholders are divided: some advocate for stricter regulations to guarantee that the growth in hydrogen genuinely curtails emissions, while others

argue for broader eligibility criteria to accelerate infrastructure development (CRC-IB 2024). According to Wood Mackenzie, the proposed rules could maintain higher costs over an extended period because Engineering, Procurement, and Construction (EPC) contractors will need more time to adapt to delivering projects efficiently (Wood Mackenzie 2024). Figure 52 explains the potential implications of the three main pillars of the 45V guidance.

45V Condition	Description	Implication
Temporality	From 2028, all projects are required to transition to hourly matching.	Leads to electrolyzers operating at lower load factors, increasing the levelized cost of hydrogen.
Incrementality	Projects must use power from sources that started operation no more than 36 months ago.	Potential bottlenecks in the interconnection queue, supply chain problems, or cost increases related to renewable assets.
Deliverability	Electricity should be sourced from the same region	Potential delays in hydrogen projects if they need to manage interregional transfers where physical delivery occurs between regions

Figure 52: 45V Pillars and Implications

Conclusion

The final US treasury rules on 45V tax credits for low-carbon hydrogen (introduced in the IRA) will determine the future of the US hydrogen sector. Some industry stakeholders want more restrictive regulations to ensure hydrogen growth really reduces emissions. Others favor widening eligibility to boost the pace of buildout. The proposed rules would keep costs higher for longer, as EPC contractors would take longer to learn how to deliver projects (CRC-IB 2024).

Hydrogen production technologies, particularly Proton Exchange Membrane (PEM), play a crucial role in enhancing efficiency and operational flexibility. PEM technology, despite being twice as costly as the alkaline alternative, offers significant operational advantages such as the ability to shut down during non-operational hours and a quick cold start capability within five minutes. The equipment used in PEM systems is less bulky and easier to replace, which contributes to potential cost reductions through automation and digitalization. Strategic placement of hydrogen production facilities near planned Hydrogen Hubs and participation in the H2 Demand Side initiative can secure fixed rate offtake agreements, further reducing costs. Additionally, co-locating these facilities with wind and solar energy sources can diminish grid interconnection expenses, thereby decreasing the overall cost of input energy.

On the consumption side, certain industries stand out as primary end-users of hydrogen due to their specific needs and readiness for integration. Heavy vehicles, such as trucks, exhibit a high willingness to pay around \$5 per kilogram for hydrogen, favoring its adoption due to the predictability of truck routes which eases the development of fueling infrastructure. Hydrogen fuel cells provide a higher energy density than lithium batteries or diesel, allowing trucks to

carry more energy without significantly increasing weight. The ammonia and methanol industries, important for their roles in marine fuels and fertilizer production, are poised for early adoption of clean hydrogen to facilitate decarbonization. With a projected demand of 6.2 million metric tons by 2040, these industries highlight the growing significance and potential of hydrogen as a sustainable energy source in various commercial applications.

Carbon Capture, Utilization and Storage



Carbon Capture, Utilization and Storage

Introduction

The focus of this section is the Inflation Reduction Act's impact on the United States' carbon capture, utilization storage (CCUS) industry. First, this section will cover the current landscape of the United States' carbon capture industry before turning to the outlook of the industry post-IRA. Next, the focus will shift to the underlying economics of carbon capture projects, which have changed dramatically due to the enhancement of the 45Q tax credit in the IRA. The report analyzes the advantages and disadvantages of utilizing the 45Q tax credit as an Investment Tax Credit or as a 5-year Direct Pay tax credit using a financial model with assumptions based on industry expert interviews as well as engineering design studies. Further within the project economic analysis, this section will cover current carbon capture costs by sector and technology as well as the potential for additional project revenue streams. The critical project risks that remain in the industry will also be discussed. Finally, this section draws insights from the analysis to point out the positive project attributes to look for and the negative project attributes to avoid when investing in carbon capture projects.

Current CCUS Landscape

At the end of 2022, the United States had ~24 million metric tons of CO2 capture capacity. Most of this capacity is used to capture the emissions from natural gas processing or petrochemical processes that require the separation of CO2 from the underlying commodity during the refining process. Because the refining process requires the separation of CO2 to begin with, the tax credit of utilizing or storing that CO2 is an added benefit for these projects. Most of today's captured carbon is used for Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR) (DOE 2024). EOR is an oil-recovery technique that is employed after primary and secondary recovery of an oil reservoir has taken place. To recover the remaining hydrocarbons in a reservoir, CO2 is injected into the well to expand the reservoir, forcing additional oil to the surface (DOE 2024).

\$ / ton Pre-IRA \$ / ton Post IRA 45Q End Use **Electric Generation Point-Source** \$35 \$60 Capture and Utilization **Electric Generation Point-Source** \$50 \$85 Capture and Storage Industry Point-Source Capture \$35 \$60 and Utilization Industry Point-Source Capture \$50 \$85 and Storage \$35 \$130 **Direct Air Capture and Utilization Direct Air Capture and Storage** \$50 \$180

The Inflation Reduction Act increased the 45Q tax credit available for captured CO2 used for EOR (or any other purpose) from \$35 / ton to \$60 / ton (Aasen 2022), as shown in Figure 53. However, as the cost of climate change continues to mount, the carbon capture industry is planning for permanent storage rather than EOR. According to the U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA), less than 5% of planned CCUS projects in the United States are built for EOR end-use (EIA 2024). Over two-thirds of the planned carbon capture and permanent storage has been a major catalyst for this shift. Prior to the passage of the IRA, the 45Q tax credit was \$50 / ton for point-source carbon capture and permanent storage to \$85 / ton. In addition to the increased point-source capture and storage tax credit, the IRA created a tax credit for direct air capture (DAC). The tax credit for direct air capture and utilization and direct air capture and storage is \$130 / ton and \$180 / ton,

Figure 53: Section 45Q Credit for Carbon Oxide Sequestration

respectively. To date, no point-source or DAC projects have received the enhanced 45Q tax credit for any use case, according to CCUS industry participants and experts.

The IRA is not the only law promoting the value chain of carbon management. The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, passed in 2021, provides \$12B in funding for carbon management projects (DOE 2023). Recently, the first Direct Air Capture hub in Louisiana was awarded \$50M from the Department of Energy's Office of Clean Energy Demonstrations to build multiple DAC facilities with an annual capture capacity of more than one million metric tons of CO2 (DOE 2024). State and local governments have also passed policies to encourage the carbon capture industry. California, New York, and Colorado have passed laws that require the embodied emissions of a product (e.g., cement) to be considered when being purchased by the State Governments (DOE 2023). In the example of cement, these policies encourage the utilization of captured CO2 to cure the concrete and lower the product's lifetime emissions. As a result of all these policies, 77 million metric tons of CO2 of direct air capture (out of 194 million metric tons of planned carbon capture), is projected to become operational in the United States by 2030, the equivalent of taking 16.7 million cars off the road each year (DOE 2023). The IRA has transformed the carbon capture industry from a tool to aid in more oil recovery to a tool used to combat, and potentially reverse, climate change.

CCUS Costs and Revenue Trends

Point-Source Capture. The cost per ton of CO2 for a given carbon capture project is sector dependent, as shown in Figure 54. Every carbon capture and permanent storage project is now eligible for an \$85 / ton Direct Pay 45Q for five years. Yet, the cost of capture and storage in many sectors is well-above \$85 / ton, rendering projects entirely reliant on 45Q revenue uneconomical. Among heavy-polluting industries and fossil fuel power generation sources, cement kilns and coal power plants have the average lowest cost per ton of CO2 for capture and storage at \$103 / ton and \$95 / ton, respectively (DOE 2023).



Figure 54: Average Cost and Revenue of CCUS Projects by Industry

Cement production has the advantage of on-site storage in the form of CO2-cured concrete. Because the current CO2 pipeline in the infrastructure is limited (only ~5,000 miles), on-site storage is a major advantage for carbon capture cement kiln retrofits (DOE 2023). According to Princeton's Net Zero America report, the United States will need ~70,000

miles of CO2 pipelines to achieve its climate goals (Larson 2021). Prior to the buildout of CO2 pipelines, projects with zero or low-cost transportation are more likely to be financially feasible. Costs associated with carbon capture for sectors that are currently uneconomical could decrease as more capture technology is deployed in a given sector, however most point-source projects have unique characteristics, causing concern that learning curves will not significantly reduce costs.



Figure 55: Average Cost and Revenue of CCUS Projects with CO2 Separation Refining

On the other hand, certain hydrocarbon and petrochemical processes, that are mentioned above, already capture carbon during the refining process. For example, the refining process for ethanol reduction requires stripping out and capturing high-purity CO2, making carbon capture projects paired with ethanol production financially feasible. Because the economics of such projects are favorable, it is unsurprising that CO2 pipelines are clustered in the Midwest where ethanol is produced and the Southeast where natural gas is refined (DOE 2023). It is possible to transport captured CO2



Figure 56: Map of U.S. Point Source CO2 Emissions by Sector, 2019

Source: DOE 2023

using ships or rail and trucking, however the costs can be 5x - 12x more expensive than transportation by pipeline (Global CCS Institute 2011).

Direct Air Capture. On a per ton of CO2 basis, direct air capture is vastly more expensive than point-source capture. According to the Department of Energy, the cost per ton of direct air capture ranges from \$225 / ton to \$600 / ton. However, the climate benefits of carbon removal via DAC are much greater than the climate benefits of emission avoidance via point-source capture. Because of this, direct air capture projects have been able to procure advanced purchase commitments from large corporate buyers looking to offset their own greenhouse gas emissions. The large compliance carbon markets in the United States, California cap-and-trade and the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative in the Northeast, could also be sources of additional revenue for DAC projects. Both programs allow carbon removal offsets in their compliance markets (Berkeley 2019) (RGGI 2024). Currently, California's compliance market trades around \$40 / ton of CO2 captured, but the price or number of allowances for carbon removal via DAC could be higher (CARB 2024). Contracted revenues from voluntary corporate buyers coupled with the \$130 / ton or \$180 / ton 45Q Direct Pay credit can result in favorable project economics. According to one United States DAC project developer, the \$50 / ton difference between the 45Q permanent storage and 45Q utilization credits makes permanent storage more attractive relative to EOR, the most likely use case for captured CO2. One industry expert stated current demand for DAC removal credits, and the 45Q \$180 / ton Direct Pay credit, could result in high single digit returns. Ideal geographic characteristics, like on-site storage or nearby abundant clean energy resources to provide the DAC facility with lowcarbon energy, will dictate where to build DAC facilities. Because the location of point-source capture projects is dictated by existing polluting assets, the locational flexibility of DAC projects is an advantage over point-source capture projects. Another advantage for DAC is the higher likelihood learning curves can reduce costs meaningfully as the technology is deployed. DAC facilities can be largely replicated on any given site, unlike point-source capture projects which need to fit with existing polluting assets.

Project Economics

Point-Source Capture. Utilizing an internal financial model, our team analyzed the financial returns of a hypothetical ethanol production point-source carbon capture project with on-site storage. The assumptions used in the model are shown in Figure 57.

Operating Assu	mptions
Technology Type:	Carbon Capture
Type of Capture:	Point Source
Use of Captured Carbon:	Permanent Storage
Capacity (million tons / year):	1.0
Useful Life (years):	20
Fixed Costs (\$ / ton):	60.65
Variable Costs (\$ / ton):	3.04
Total Costs (\$ / ton):	63.68
Assumed Carbon Credit Price:	55.00
Assumed Carbon Offtake Price:	-
Carbon Offtake Term (years):	-

Financing Assumptions Project Cost (\$M): 450.0 Debt Amount (\$M): 309.6 Debt Tenor (years): 20 Interest Rate: 6.50% Minimum Annual DSCR: 1.75x 140.4 Equity Amount (\$M): Equity % of Financing: 31.2%

Tax Assumpt	tions
Federal Tax Rate:	21.0%
Tax Credit:	Direct Pay Transfer
ITC % of Capex	-
ITC Amount (\$M):	-
PTC / Direct Pay Price (\$ / ton):	85.0
Annual PTC Escalator:	2.0%
Direct Pay Price (per \$1 PTC):	1.00

Figure 57: Point-Source Carbon Capture Project Model Assumptions

The assumptions used above were based on industry interviews, technology FEED studies, and market research. The hypothetical point-source project benefits from the additional revenue stream of selling carbon credits into low carbon fuel standard (LCFS) programs, such as the LCFS markets in California (where prices are currently near \$65 / ton). As a result of the LCFS revenue stream and the 5-year Direct Pay 45Q tax credit, the project earns returns near 8.00%. The return summary is included in Figure 58.

Figure 58: Point-Source Carbon Capture Project Model Returns

Returns	
Debt Repaid (years):	20.0
DSCR Minimum:	1.75x
DSCR Average:	1.75x
Equity Holders Pre-Tax IRR:	16.0%
After-Tax Levered IRR:	8.5%
After-Tax Unlevered IRR:	8.3%

Direct Air Capture. Similar to the analysis of a hypothetical ethanol production point-source carbon capture project, our team also analyzed the financial returns of a hypothetical DAC project. Again the assumptions used in the model were derived from industry experts, technology FEED studies, and market research. The assumptions used in the model are shown in Figure 59.

Operating Assur	nptions
Technology Type:	Carbon Capture
Type of Capture:	DAC
Use of Captured Carbon:	Permanent Storage
Capacity (million tons / year):	1.0
Useful Life (years):	20
Fixed Costs (\$ / ton):	216.12
Variable Costs (\$ / ton):	12.15
Total Costs (\$ / ton):	228.26
Assumed Carbon Credit Price:	
Assumed Carbon Offtake Price:	210.00
Carbon Offtake Term (years):	20

Figure 59: DAC Project Model Assumptions

Financing Assump	otions
Project Cost (\$M):	2,500.0
Debt Amount (\$M):	1,691.1
Debt Tenor (years):	20
Interest Rate:	6.50%
Minimum Annual DSCR:	1.75x
Equity Amount (\$M):	808.9
Equity % of Financing:	32.4%

Tax Assumpt	tions
Federal Tax Rate:	21.0%
Tax Credit:	Direct Pay Transfer
ITC % of Capex	-
ITC Amount (\$M):	-
PTC / Direct Pay Price (\$ / ton):	180.0
Annual PTC Escalator:	2.0%
Direct Pay Price (per \$1 PTC):	1.00

The hypothetical DAC project assumes the low-end of the cost per ton range at ~\$230 / ton and benefits dramatically from a carbon removal credit offtake agreement for 20 years at \$210 / ton. The offtake agreement with a large creditworthy corporate buyer also allows for low-cost financing, which is particularly important for DAC projects given the high upfront capital cost (in this case \$2.5B). The return summary is shown in Figure 60. Figure 60: DAC Project Model Returns

Returns	
Debt Repaid (years):	20.0
DSCR Minimum:	1.75x
DSCR Average:	1.75x
Equity Holders Pre-Tax IRR:	11.0%
After-Tax Levered IRR:	8.4%
After-Tax Unlevered IRR:	7.8%

Project Risks

Point-source carbon capture projects and DAC projects share similar risks. The key risks for carbon management projects are summarized in Figure 61.

Figure 61: Key CCUS Project Risks

\Leftrightarrow	Minimal Revenue Opportunities	Beyond the 45Q tax credit, taken as direct pay, there are limited reliable revenue streams available to carbon capture projects today.
-------------------	-------------------------------------	--

	Limited Transportation Infrastructure	Limited CO2 pipeline capacity today prohibits the amount of carbon capture projects that can financially pencil-out in the United States due to high transportation costs.
	Questionable Learning Curve	Carbon capture projects are largely bespoke assets, making "learning-by-doing" more difficult if the technology scales (particularly for point-source projects).
=∳•	Unclear Future Demand Uses	There are few large-scale use cases for captured CO2 currently, starving carbon capture projects of a vital potential utilization revenue stream.
x∰	Can Require New Low- Carbon Energy	Industry CCUS and DAC projects require a low-carbon power source in order to capture more CO2 than consumed, often requiring new renewable generation assets to be built.
~~~	Inflation & Interest Rates	Carbon capture projects (particularly DAC projects) require high upfront capital, making them especially susceptible to interest rates.

## Key Findings and Recommendations

**Point-Source Carbon Capture.** Without additional revenue streams, such as compliance carbon markets or lucrative utilization offtake agreements, investment in point-source carbon capture should be limited to hydrocarbon and petrochemical processes that already separate CO2 during the refining process. These projects are financially feasible without additional revenue streams. The projects with on-site or nearby storage via pipeline access should be prioritized. Projects located in the Southeast natural gas processing and refining region, or the Midwest ethanol production region are most likely to generate high single-digit or low double-digit returns. For industries that are not currently profitable, projects that secure creditworthy or reliable additional revenue streams can be financially feasible. Again, projects that have on-site storage or nearby access to CO2 pipeline infrastructure are more likely to pencil out. For example, cement production carbon capture projects can utilize the on-site storage provided by curing concrete with captured CO2.

The 45Q Direct Pay tax credit will result in higher returns than a 45Q Investment Tax Credit (covering 30% of the upfront costs) for most point-source carbon capture projects, as shown in Figure 62.

	Direct Pay: Interest Rate and Carbon Credit Price Sensitivities (After-Tax Levered IRR)										
		Interest Rate									
	-	6.00%	6.50%	7.00%	7.50%	8.00%	8.50%	9.00%			
e	35.00	-3.2%	-3.3%	-3.4%	-3.4%	-3.5%	-3.5%	-3.6%			
Pric	40.00	-1.5%	-1.6%	-1.7%	-1.8%	-1.9%	-2.0%	-2.1%			
dit	45.00	1.3%	1.1%	0.9%	0.7%	0.6%	0.4%	0.3%			
Cre	50.00	4.8%	4.5%	4.2%	3.9%	3.6%	3.4%	3.1%			
uoc	55.00	9.1%	8.5%	8.0%	7.5%	7.1%	6.7%	6.3%			
Cart	60.00	13.3%	13.2%	12.7%	11.9%	11.2%	10.5%	10.0%			
	65.00	15.5%	15.4%	15.2%	15.0%	14.9%	14.7%	14.3%			

#### Figure 62: Point-Source Direct Pay vs. ITC

	11	FC: Interest F	Rate and Carl	oon Credit Pr	ice Sensitivi	ities (After-T	ax Levered	IRR)		
	Interest Rate									
	_	6.00%	6.50%	7.00%	7.50%	8.00%	8.50%	9.00%		
¢,	35.00	-8.8%	-8.7%	-8.7%	-8.6%	-8.5%	-8.4%	-8.4%		
nic	40.00	-6.0%	-6.0%	-6.0%	-6.0%	-6.0%	-6.0%	-6.0%		
dit J	45.00	-3.2%	-3.3%	-3.3%	-3.3%	-3.4%	-3.4%	-3.5%		
Cre	50.00	-0.2%	-0.3%	-0.4%	-0.5%	-0.6%	-0.6%	-0.7%		
noi	55.00	3.2%	3.0%	2.8%	2.6%	2.5%	2.3%	2.1%		
Cart	60.00	7.1%	6.7%	6.3%	6.0%	5.7%	5.4%	5.2%		
Ŭ	65.00	11.9%	11.2%	10.5%	9.9%	9.4%	8.9%	8.5%		

**Direct Air Capture.** DAC projects that are able to secure high-priced carbon removal credit offtake agreements with corporations like Stripe, Alphabet, or Meta can generate high single-digit returns despite the high cost per ton figures (Frontier 2024). Similar to point-source carbon capture, DAC projects with on-site geological storage, which is abundant in the United States, will have economic advantages (DOE 2023). Moreover, DAC projects near baseload low-carbon electricity sources, such as nuclear or geothermal, will also have economic advantages. Direct Air Capture technology is also more likely to experience cost reductions over time due to learning curves given the ability to replicate similar projects. Given the high upfront costs of DAC projects, relative to point-source carbon capture retrofit projects, the 45Q Investment Tax Credit can be more economically beneficial than the 45Q Direct Pay tax credit, as shown in Figure 63.

	Direct Pa	ay: Interest F	Rate and Carb	oon Removal	Offtake Sens	itivities (Aft	er-Tax Leve	red IRR)
				h	nterest Rate			
	8.4%	6.00%	6.50%	7.00%	7.50%	8.00%	8.50%	9.00%
	70.00	-7.7%	-7.7%	-7.7%	-7.7%	-7.7%	-7.7%	-7.8%
ı Removal ke Price	80.00	-6.5%	-6.5%	-6.6%	-6.6%	-6.6%	-6.6%	-6.7%
	90.00	-5.4%	-5.5%	-5.5%	-5.5%	-5.6%	-5.6%	-5.6%
	100.00	-4.4%	-4.4%	-4.5%	-4.5%	-4.6%	-4.6%	-4.7%
ffta	110.00	-3.3%	-3.4%	-3.5%	-3.5%	-3.6%	-3.7%	-3.7%
o ca	120.00	-2.3%	-2.4%	-2.5%	-2.6%	-2.7%	-2.7%	-2.8%
	120.00	1 20/	1 40/	1 50/	1 69/	1 70/	1 00/	1.09/

Figure 63: DAC Direct Pay vs. ITC

ITO: Internet Def	La and Acade an Damage		After Territorian di IDD
IIC: Interest Rat	te and Carbon Remova	al Officake Sensitivities	(Atter-Tax Levered IRR

				li	nterest Rate			
	21.7%	6.00%	6.50%	7.00%	7.50%	8.00%	8.50%	9.00%
	70.00	-5.2%	-5.2%	-5.3%	-5.3%	-5.4%	-5.5%	-5.5%
e	80.00	-4.2%	-4.2%	-4.2%	-4.3%	-4.3%	-4.3%	-4.3%
Pric	90.00	-2.7%	-2.8%	-2.8%	-2.9%	-2.9%	-3.0%	-3.0%
Carbon Re Offtake I	100.00	-1.3%	-1.4%	-1.5%	-1.6%	-1.6%	-1.7%	-1.8%
	110.00	0.1%	0.0%	-0.2%	-0.3%	-0.4%	-0.5%	-0.6%
	120.00	1.5%	1.4%	1.2%	1.0%	0.9%	0.8%	0.7%
	130.00	3.1%	2.8%	2.6%	2.4%	2.2%	2.0%	1.9%

## Conclusion

Prior to the passage of the Inflation Reduction Act, nearly every ton of captured CO2 was injected into existing oil wells to recover more oil in a process known as Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR). To promote the American carbon capture (and oil) industry, the United States Government was willing to issue a \$35 per ton of captured carbon tax credit used for EOR. For captured carbon destined for permanent storage, the Government would pay \$50 per ton of CO2. As a result, the American carbon capture industry never took off for a simple reason: the cost of capturing one ton of CO2 was multiples higher than the revenue earned from capturing one ton of CO2. The Inflation Reduction Act changed that arithmetic. By providing \$85 per ton of point-source carbon capture and permanent storage, the Federal Government has caught the attention of large emissions-intensive industries like cement and steel and fossil fuel power generators.

The carbon capture tax credit, known as the 45Q tax credit, is the Government-provided carrot for industry and power emitters. If these emitters do not decarbonize quickly enough, lurking climate policy, in the form of carbon taxes, could be the stick. If emitters need more motivation to take up carbon capture technology, a handful of large corporations who want to brandish their green reputation with consumers have made advanced purchase commitments for high quality carbon offset and carbon removal credits. Given the recently forming tailwinds for the carbon capture industry, over eight times the existing United States capture capacity has been announced to be built. Limitations do still exist. Minimal CO2 infrastructure exists currently, limiting financially feasible locations to build carbon capture projects still do not pass the arithmetic test of revenues higher than costs. The increased 45Q tax credit changes that arithmetic for many carbon capture projects.

# Concluding Thoughts



# **Concluding Thoughts**

## **Cross-Cutting Risks and Challenges**

**Interconnection**: Longer queues, more cumbersome processes, as well as higher costs are main roadblocks for new renewable projects being integrated into the grid. These uncertainties can significantly delay a project's Commercial Operation Date and negatively impact revenue streams from fixed-term contracts. To overcome this challenge, a common practice is to purchase old fossil fuel power plants and use their existing infrastructure to connect into the grid. Choosing to build renewable energy plants on old fossil fuel power sites also benefits developers by qualifying those projects for IRA's Energy Community adder.

"Tax equity required returns used to be 5.5% (5 years ago). Nowadays, due to inflation and the implementation of Basel III regulation, tax equity requiring return is closer to 8.5%."

- Managing Director at a Senior Lender

**Basel III Implementation**: On July 27th, 2023, the Department of Treasury, the Federal Reserve Board, and the U.S. Banking authorities jointly released a Notice

of Proposed Rulemaking for the finalization of Basel III rules. The new rule assigns 400% risk-weight to equity investment exposures, effectively quadrupling the capital requirement for banks that are in tax equity partnerships and rendering it prohibitively costly to make tax equity investments (Burton and Lefko, 2023). Although it is unlikely that Basel III rules will proceed in the current form, project sponsors should expect higher required returns from tax equity investors.

"A lot of key design decisions are made by the Treasury and IRS, advised by the DoE, the EPA and the White House. The fact that these key design decisions are vested in executive agencies means election results matter."

- Senior Expert at the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory **Treasury Guidance**: Treasury is still in the process of finalizing rules that spell out the eligibility requirements for IRA tax benefits, as well as the implementation process for tax credit transfers. For instance, the industry is still expecting clarifying rules on Section 45Z Clean Fuel PTC and Section 45Q CCUS Tax Credit. Without Treasury Guidance, players are hesitant to proceed and investments have been slow to ramp up. Less lenient rules could also undermine IRA's incentives.

**Election Results**: The 2024 presidential election may result in a change in administration. If such is the case, there is a higher risk for increased tariffs (via an executive order) on foreign suppliers of essential equipment for renewable energy projects (e.g. solar panels, battery packs). It is unlikely that we will see a complete repeal of the IRA.

## Conclusion

In this study, we have evaluated the IRA and its implications for investment in the clean energy sector. Our investigation revealed that onshore wind is a promising investment opportunity because of the standardization of PPA contracts, declining costs per kilowatt hour, and the reduction of U.S. dependence on European turbine supply chains. Solar energy investments are bolstered by extended tax incentives and new financial structures such as direct pay and transferability. Attributes that stakeholders should look out for in a BESS investment are standalone, long-duration, based on the LFP chemistry, located in ERCOT West, and eligible for the energy community adder. With respect to alternative fuels, the IRA enhances the economic viability of fuels like SAF and RNG, but their future will depend on further support of the market, supply chain, and technological development. Hydrogen's future hinges on favorable policy frameworks, and

industries such as heavy transportation and chemical production are likely early adopters. Finally, substantial tax credits have improved the economics of carbon capture, but financially feasible investment opportunities remain limited.

Each technology presents unique opportunities shaped by the IRA, but our findings are moderated by risks such as grid interconnection challenges, potential financial restraints due to Basel III, uncertainties in Treasury guidance, and political shifts that could alter policy. Addressing these risks is essential for unlocking the IRA's full potential and achieving attractive financial returns. With proactive planning and bespoke investment strategies, stakeholders can exploit the era-defining opportunities presented by the IRA and catalyze a robust pathway towards sustainable energy solutions.

## References

Aasen, Emil Yde. "US House of Representatives Pass Inflation Reduction Act, Effectively Enabling the

Biggest CCUS Market Pre 2030 to Materialize!" Aker Carbon Capture, September 13, 2022. https://akercarboncapture.com/2022/08/ira-passed-enablingbiggest-pre2030-ccus-market/.

Adani, Gautam. "Reducing costs: The key to leveraging green hydrogen on the road to net zero." World Economic Forum. January 16, 2024. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2024/01/green-hydrogen-the-last-mile-in-the-net-zero-journey/

Aemetis, Inc. "AEMETIS Biogas Receives \$53 Million from Sale of Ira Investment Tax Credits." Aemetis, Inc., October 9, 2023. https://www.aemetis.com/aemetis-biogas-receives-53-million-from-sale-of-ira-investment-tax-credits

Aemetis, Inc. "Aemetis Receives Authority to Construct Air Permits for Riverbank Sustainable Aviation Fuel Plant." Aemetis, Inc., March 5, 2024. https://www.aemetis.com/aemetis-receives-authority-to-construct-air-permits-for-riverbank-sustainable-aviation-fuel-plant/.

AES. "Grid Flexibility Asset of Today for a More Sustainable Tomorrow: With Insight from AES Alamitos BESS Project." Viet Nam Energy Partnership Group, September

25, 2023. https://vepg.vn/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/3_EN_AES-presentation-VEPG-workshop-final-EN.pdf

Aasen, Emil Yde. "US House of Representatives Pass Inflation Reduction Act, Effectively Enabling the Biggest CCUS Market Pre 2030 to Materialize!" Aker Carbon Capture, September 13, 2022. https://akercarboncapture.com/2022/08/ira-passed-enabling-biggest-pre2030-ccus-market/.

Alternative Fuels Data Center. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF) Grants." Alternative Fuels Data Center. Accessed April 21, 2024.

https://afdc.energy.gov/laws/13376#:~:text=The%20U.S.%20Federal%20Aviation%20Administration,Sustainable%20Transition%20(FAST)%20program.

"An Advance Market Commitment to Accelerate Carbon Removal." Frontier. Accessed April 19, 2024. https://frontierclimate.com/.

Bartlett, Katy, et al. . "Build together: Rethinking solar project delivery." McKinsey & Company. June 9, 2023.

Bowen, Thomas, Ilya Chernyakhovskiy, Kaifeng Xu, Sika Gadzanku, and Kamyria Coney. "USAID Grid-Scale Energy Storage Technologies Primer." Greening the Grid. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), July 2021. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/76097.pdf

Bradbury, Rosie. "Global airlines crave green fuel. Few are willing to bet on it." *PitchBook News and Analysis*. March 20, 2023.

https://pitchbook.com/news/articles/united-airlines-ventures-cvcs-sustainable-aviation-fuel

Brunelli, Kevin, Lily Yejin Lee, and Tom Moerenhout. ""Fact Sheet: Lithium Supply in the Energy Transition." Center on Global Energy Policy, December 20, 2023. https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/publications/fact-sheet-lithium-supply-in-the-energy-transition/

BloombergNEF. "Lithium-Ion Battery Pack Prices Hit Record Low of \$139/kWh." BloombergNEF, 2023.

https://about.bnef.com/blog/lithium-ion-battery-pack-prices-hit-record-low-of-139-kwh/

Burns & McDonnell. "Battery Energy Storage Augmentation Key Project Considerations." Burns & McDonnell, June 29, 2022.

https://blog.burnsmcd.com/battery-energy-storage-augmentation-key-project-considerations

Burton, David and Hilary Lefko. "Proposed Basel III Rules could be catastrophic for the traditional tax equity market." Norton Rose Fulbright, September 5, 2023. https://www.projectfinance.law/tax-equity-news/2023/september/proposed-basel-iii-rules-could-be-catastrophic-for-the-traditional-tax-equity-market/

California Energy Commission. N.d. "Wind Energy in California."

https://www.energy.ca.gov/data-reports/california-power-generation-and-power-sources/wind-energy-california

California Independent Systems Operator. 2022. "20-Year Transmission Outlook." https://www.caiso.com/InitiativeDocuments/Draft20-YearTransmissionOutlook.pdf California Independent Systems Operator. 2023. "Key Operations Statistics for March 2023." https://www.caiso.com/Documents/Key-Statistics-Mar-2023.pdf California Independent Systems Operator. N.d. "Generator Connection." https://www.caiso.com/planning/Pages/GeneratorInterconnection/Default.aspx

CAISO. "2022 Special Report on Battery Storage." California Independent System Operator, July 7, 2023.

https://www.caiso.com/documents/2022-special-report-on-battery-storage-jul-7-2023.pdf

CAISO. "Integrating battery energy storage in electric markets and operations." CAISO, June 2023. https://www.caiso.com/Documents/Presentation-California-ISO-to-Philippines-Integrating-Battery-Energy-Storage-Electric-Markets-and-Operations-Jun-20-21-2023.pdf

California Energy Commission. "2022 Total System Electric Generation." California Energy Commission, 2023.

https://www.energy.ca.gov/data-reports/energy-almanac/california-electricity-data/2022-total-system-electric-generation

California Climate Policy Fact Sheet: Cap-and-trade. Accessed April 25, 2024.

https://www.law.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Fact-Sheet-Cap-and-Trade.pdf.

"Cap-and-Trade Program Data Dashboard." CARB Cap-and-Trade Program Data Dashboard. Accessed April 25, 2024.

https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/cap-and-trade-program/program-data/cap-and-trade-program-data-dashboard.

Carbon Management - Pathways to Commercial Liftoff. Accessed April 17, 2024.

https://liftoff.energy.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/20230424-Liftoff-Carbon-Management-vPUB_update.pdf.

Carolina Clean Energy Business Association. "How Standalone Energy Storage Will Transform Electricity: An Interview with East Point Energy." Carolina Clean Energy Business Association, 2023.https://carolinasceba.com/how-standalone-energy-storage-will-transform-electricity-an-interview-with-east-point-energy/

"CCUS Projects Explorer – Data Tools." IEA. Accessed April 19, 2024. https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-tools/ccus-projects-explorer.

Center for Sustainable Systems, University of Michigan. "U.S. Grid Energy Storage Factsheet."

Pub. No. CSS15-17, 2023. https://css.umich.edu/sites/default/files/2023-10/U.S.%20Energy%20Storage_CSS15-17.pdf

Chase, Dylan. "US RNG approaches maturity as lenders eye 50% production growth by 2024." S&P Global Commodity Insights, January 6, 2023. https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/latest-news/natural-gas/010623-us-rng-approaches-maturity-as-lenders-eye-50production-growth-by-2024

Chen, Andrew et al., Refueling Aviation in the United States: Evolution of US Sustainable Aviation Fuel Policy, RMI, 2024,

https://rmi.org/insight/refueling-aviation-in-the-us-evolution-of-us-sustainable-aviation-fuel-policy/

Clean Energy Associates. "How Energy Storage Buyers Can Mitigate Upstream Supply Chain Risk." PV Magazine, March 14, 2023.

https://www.pv-magazine.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/All-presentations-1.pdf

Clean Investment Monitor. "The Clean Investment Monitor." Clean Investment Monitor. Accessed April 21, 2024. https://www.cleaninvestmentmonitor.org/ Congressional Research Service. "The Section 45Z Clean Fuel Production Credit - CRS Reports." Congressional Research Service, September 27, 2023.

https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF12502.

Connell, Nick, Lin, J., et al., Green Hydrogen Guidebook, Green Hydrogen Coalition, April 2022. https://www.ghcoalition.org/guidebook CPUC. "Resource Adequacy Report." California Public Utilities Commission, 2021.

https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/-/media/cpuc-website/divisions/energy-division/documents/resource-adequacy-homepage/2021_ra_report.pdf CRC-IB. "Beyond Renewables: Financing US Sustainability in 2024 and Beyond." 2024. https://crc-ib.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/CRC_IB_Mini_Brief_Final.pdf Crux. "Transferable Tax Credit Market Intelligence Report." Crux Climate, 2023.

https://24439257.fs1.hubspotusercontent-

na1.net/hubfs/24439257/Crux%202023%20TTC%20Market%20Intelligence%20Report_compressed%20(1).pdf?utm_medium=email&_hsmi=288419060& _hsenc=p2ANqtz-_wjzDF-g5_lh_luIGPe8fVSTk--kuoDgFvqJYX9aAYIVCRKp-jg7XcFrHOiS9dxpEyduibaubTnc2aMUYkwQt4-

yeVvw&utm_content=288419060&utm_source=hs_automation.

Data Center Map. "USA Data Centers." Data Center Map, 2023. https://www.datacentermap.com/usa/

Database of State Incentives for Renewables and Efficiency. N.d. "Find Policies and Incentives by State." https://www.dsireusa.org/

Department of the Treasury, IRS, Definition of Energy Property and Rules Applicable to the Energy Credit; Correction. February, 2024.

https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/reg-132569-17-correction.pdf

- De Marigny et al. "Section 45V Clean Hydrogen Production Tax Credit IRS Releases Proposed Regulations." Baker Botts. 26 December 2023. https://www.bakerbotts.com/thought-leadership/publications/2023/december/section-45v-clean-hydrogen-production-tax-credit-irs-releases-proposedregulations
- Devlin, A., Kossen, J., Goldie-Jones, H. *et al.* Global green hydrogen-based steel opportunities surrounding high quality renewable energy and iron ore deposits. *Nat Commun* 14, 2578 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-38123-2
- Dilekci, Alpaslan, Anthony Boden, and Ishrat Ahmad. "Unlocking the potential: Navigating key considerations in battery energy storage systems." Charles River Associates, October 17, 2023. https://www.crai.com/insights-events/publications/unlocking-the-potential-navigating-key-considerations-in-batteryenergy-storage-systems/
- "Enhanced Oil Recovery." Energy.gov. Accessed April 16, 2024. https://www.energy.gov/fecm/enhanced-oil-
- recovery#:~:text=Gas%20injection%20%2C%20which%20uses%20gases,and%20improves%20its%20flow%20rate
- Elalami, D., H. Carrere, F. Monlau, K. Abdelouahdi, A. Oukarroum, and A. Barakat. "Pretreatment and Co-Digestion of Wastewater Sludge for Biogas Production: Recent Research Advances and Trends." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 114 (October 2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109287
- Emma Foehringer Merchant, "Super-efficient Solar Cells: 10 Breakthrough Technologies," MIT Technology Review, January 8, 2024 Emery, Isaac. "Pathways to Net-Zero Ethanol: Scenarios for Ethanol Producers to Achieve Carbon Neutrality by 2050" Informed Sustainability Consulting, LLC.

February 14, 2022. https://d35t1syewk4d42.cloudfront.net/file/2146/Pathways%20to%20Net%20Zero%20Ethanol%20Feb%202022.pdf

- Electric Reliability Council of Texas. 2024. "ERCOT Strategic Plan: 2024-2028." https://www.ercot.com/files/docs/2023/08/25/ERCOT-Strategic-Plan-2024-2028.pdf Electric Reliability Council of Texas. 2024. "ERCOT Monthly Operational Overview: March 2024."
- https://www.ercot.com/files/docs/2024/04/18/ERCOT-Monthly-Operational-Overview-March-2024.pdf
- ERCOT. "Ancillary Services Handout." ERCOT, June 2023. https://www.ercot.com/files/docs/2023/06/06/Ancillary-Services-Handout-0524.pdf
- ERCOT. "Generation." ERCOT, 2024. https://www.ercot.com/gridinfo/generation
- Eric Larson, et al. "Net-Zero America Project." Princeton University. Accessed April 11, 2024. https://netzeroamerica.princeton.edu/the-report.
- EPA. "An Overview of Renewable Natural Gas from Biogas." July 2020. https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2020-07/documents/lmop_rng_document.pdf EPA. "Evaluating the Air Quality, Climate and Economic Impacts of Biogas Management Technologies." EPA, April 28, 2017.

https://cfpub.epa.gov/si/si_public_record_report.cfm?dirEntryId=335668&Lab=NRMRL.

- European Commission. "Analysis of Supply Chain Challenges." European Commission, 2022. https://rmis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/analysis-of-supply-chain-challenges-49b749 European Council. "RefuelEU Aviation Initiative: Council Adopts New Law To ..." European Council, October 2023.
  - https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2023/10/09/refueleu-aviation-initiative-council-adopts-new-law-to-decarbonise-the-aviationsector
- Fuel Cells and Hydrogen 2 Joint Undertaking, Hydrogen-powered aviation A fact-based study of hydrogen technology, economics, and climate impact by 2050, Publications Office, 2020, https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2843/471510
- Gorman, Will, et al. "Are Coupled Renewable and Battery Power Systems Economically Viable?" Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2021.

https://emp.lbl.gov/publications/are-coupled-renewable-battery-power

Hao, Claire and Houston Chronicle. "Texas Surpasses California With Most Installed Solar Power." Governing, October 2023.

https://www.governing.com/infrastructure/texas-surpasses-california-with-most-installed-solar-power

Harrison-Atlas, D., Glaws, A., King, R.N. 2022. "Artificial intelligence-aided wind plant optimization for nationwide evaluation of land use and economic benefits of wake steering." Nat Energy (2024). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-024-01516-8

ISO New England. 2023." New England's Changing Resource Mix and Planning the Future Grid."

- https://www.iso-ne.com/static-assets/documents/2023/08/8-21-neppa-keynote-gvw-isone.pdf
- ISO New England. N.d. "Markets." https://www.iso-ne.com/about/key-stats/markets

ISO New England. N.d. "Key Grid and Market Stats." https://www.iso-ne.com/about/key-stats/ ISO New England. 2024. "Generator Interconnection Queue." https://irtt.iso-ne.com/reports/external ISO Newswire. 2022. "Monthly wholesale electricity prices and demand in New England, July 2022." https://isonewswire.com/2022/09/02/monthly-wholesale-electricity-prices-and-demand-in-new-england-july-2022/ Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. N.d. "RTOs and ISOs." https://www.ferc.gov/power-sales-and-markets/rtos-and-isos GAO. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel: Agencies Should Track Progress toward Ambitious Federal Goals [Reissued with Revisions May 17, 2023]." U.S. Government Accountability Office, May 17, 2023. https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-23-105300#:~:text=SAF%20production%20and%20use%20in,U.S.%20airlines%20(see%20table) Gerdes, Justin. 2020. "California's Wind Market Has All But Died Out. Could Grid Services Revenue Help?" Green Tech Media. https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/justin-california GlobeNewswire News Room. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel Market Size to Hit USD 402.0 Billion by 2050, Grow at a 26.2% CAGR – Transparency Market Research, Inc.." GlobeNewswire News Room, January 11, 2024. https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2024/01/11/2807770/32656/en/Sustainable-Aviation-Fuel-Market-Size-to-Hit-USD-402-0-billion-by-2050-Grow-at-a-26-2-CAGR-Transparency-Market-Research-Inc.html Gold, Russell. 2023. "The Texas GOP's War on Renewable Energy." Texas Monthly. https://www.texasmonthly.com/news-politics/texas-republican-war-on-renewable-energy/ Ha, Miae et al. "Opportunities for Recovering Resources from Municipal Wastewater." Argonne National Lab. July 1, 2022. https://doi.org/10.2172/1876441 Hale, Zach. 2023. "PJM reports 3rd consecutive decline in power capacity prices." https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-news-headlines/pjm-reports-3rd-consecutive-decline-in-power-capacity-prices-74512109#:~:text=PJM%20on%20Feb.,for%20the%20prior%20delivery%20year. Higman, Morgan and Mathias Zacarias. "Hydrogen Hubs Proposals: Guideposts for the Future of the U.S. Hydrogen Economy." CSIS. July 14, 2022. https://www.csis.org/analysis/hydrogen-hubs-proposals-guideposts-future-us-hydrogen-economy Holbein, Rhianna. 2024. "Key Challenges for California's Energy Future." https://ccst.us/wp-content/uploads/CCST-Key-Challenges-for-Californias-Energy-Future-Early-Release.pdf Holladay, Johnathan, Zia Abdullah, and Joshua Heyne. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel: Review of Technical Pathways." US DOE Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy, 2020. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2020/09/f78/beto-sust-aviation-fuel-sep-2020.pdf. Holst, Marius et al. "COST FORECAST FOR LOW-TEMPERATURE ELECTROLYSIS – TECHNOLOGY DRIVEN BOTTOM-UP PROGNOSIS FOR PEM AND ALKALINE WATER ELECTROLYSIS SYSTEMS." Fraunhofer Institute for Solar Energy Systems ISE. October 2021. https://www.ise.fraunhofer.de/content/dam/ise/de/documents/publications/studies/cost-forecast-for-low-temperature-electrolysis.pdf IATA. "Aviation Carbon Exchange." IATA. Accessed April 21, 2024. https://www.iata.org/en/programs/environment/ace/. IATA. "SAF Volumes Growing but Still Missing Opportunities." IATA, December 6, 2023. https://www.iata.org/en/pressroom/2023-releases/2023-12-06-02/. IATA. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel: Technical Certification." IATA, 2020. https://www.iata.org/contentassets/d13875e9ed784f75bac90f000760e998/saf-technical-certifications.pdf ICAO. "Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA)." International Civil Aviation Organization. Accessed April 21, 2024. https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/CORSIA/Pages/default.aspx Illinois Department of Revenue. "New Sustainable Aviation Fuel Purchase Credit Enacted." Illinois Department of Revenue, June 2023. https://tax.illinois.gov/content/dam/soi/en/web/tax/research/publications/bulletins/documents/2023/fy-2023-23.pdf. International Energy Agency. "Solar PV." https://www.iea.org/energy system/renewables/solar-pv. IRS. "IRC Section 50: Tax Credit for Investment in Energy Properties." IRS, 2014. https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/26/50 IRS. "Fuel Tax Credits." Internal Revenue Service. Accessed April 20, 2024. https://www.irs.gov/businesses/small-businesses-self-employed/fuel-tax-credits. IRS. Initial Guidance Establishing Qualifying Advanced Energy Project Credit Allocation Program Under Section 48C(e). Notice 2023-18. 2023. https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/n-23-18.pdf IRS. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel Credit." Internal Revenue Service. Accessed April 20, 2024. https://www.irs.gov/credits-deductions/businesses/sustainable-aviation-fuel-credit. ISO New England. 2023." New England's Changing Resource Mix and Planning the Future Grid." https://www.iso-ne.com/static-assets/documents/2023/08/8-21-neppa-keynote-gvw-isone.pdf ISO New England. N.d. "Markets." https://www.iso-ne.com/about/key-stats/markets ISO New England. N.d. "Key Grid and Market Stats." https://www.iso-ne.com/about/key-stats/ ISO New England. 2024. "Generator Interconnection Queue." https://irtt.iso-ne.com/reports/external ISO Newswire. 2022. "Monthly wholesale electricity prices and demand in New England, July 2022." https://isonewswire.com/2022/09/02/monthly-wholesale-electricity-prices-and-demand-in-new-england-july-2022/ Joshi, Prateek and Carishma Gokhale-Welch. "Fundamentals of Energy Storage." National Renewable Energy Laboratory, November 2022. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy23osti/84500.pdf Khan, Yusuf. "Low Battery Metal Prices Set to Persist in 2024, Adding Friction to Energy Transition." The Wall Street Journal, 2023. https://www.wsj.com/articles/low-battery-metal-prices-set-to-persist-in-2024-adding-friction-to-energy-transition-3773ba00

Kleinberg, Michael. "Key Contracting Issues for Hybrid Renewable Off-take Agreements." DNV, June 4, 2021. https://www.dnv.com/article/key-contracting-issues-for-hybrid-renewable-off-take-agreements-202240/

LanzaJet. "LanzaJet Freedom Pines Fuels." LanzaJet. Accessed April 21, 2024. https://www.lanzajet.com/freedom-pines

LanzaJet. "Technology." LanzaJet. Accessed April 21, 2024. https://www.lanzajet.com/technology.

Lenoir, Tony and Aude Marjolin. "Charging Up on Battery Energy Storage 101: US Market Outlook." S&P Global, 2023.

https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/research/charging-up-on-battery-energy-storage-101-us-market-outlook Leonti, John and Craig Kline. "New Energy World." Energy Institute, 2023. https://knowledge.energyinst.org/new-energy-world/article?id=137942

Lewis, Kristin C., et al. "US Alternative Jet Fuel Deployment Scenario Analyses Identifying Key Drivers and Geospatial Patterns for the First Billion Gallons." Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining 13, no. 3 (December 7, 2018): 471–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.1951.

Lhyfe. "Lhyfe and SAF+ International Group sign a memorandum of understanding to produce e-SAF from green and renewable hydrogen to decarbonise the aviation industry." January 2, 2024.

https://www.lhyfe.com/press/lhyfe-and-saf-international-group-sign-a-memorandum-of-understanding-to-decarbonise-the-aviation-industry-using-greenhydrogen/

Liebreich, Michael. "Hydrogen Ladder Version 5.0" https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/hydrogen-ladder-version-50-michael-liebreich/

Linklaters. "IRA Guidance Watch: IRS Issues Section 48 ITC Proposed Regulations Updating for IRA Changes." November 17, 2023.

Lund, Alison and Anthony Parisi. 2019. "Coordination of Wind Energy and MIlitary Operations." Texas A&M.

https://tent.nri.tamu.edu/static-files/Wind-Energy-and-Military-Activities-in-Texas.pdf

- Lydersen, Kari. "IRA Offers Lucrative Incentives for Low-Income Community Solar, But Also Creates New Challenges." Energy News Network. January 8, 2024. https://energynews.us/2024/01/08/ira-offers-lucrative-incentives-for-low-income-community-solar-but-also-creates-new-challenges/.
- Ma, Nan, Weihua Zhao, Wenzhong Wang, Xiangrong Li, Haiqin Zhou, Large scale of green hydrogen storage: Opportunities and challenges, International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.09.021.
- Mandra, Jasmina Ovcina. "WATCH: Green-methanol-powered Laura Maersk takes to the seas." Offshore Energy. September 21, 2023. https://www.offshore-energy.biz/watch-green-methanol-powered-laura-maersk-takes-to-the-seas/

Manghani, Ravi. "Inflation Reduction Act: An Energy Storage System Integrator's Perspective, Part 1." Energy Storage News, 2023.

https://www.energy-storage.news/inflation-reduction-act-an-energy-storage-system-integrators-perspective-part-1/

Martin, Keith, John Gimigliano. 2024. "Trump and the IRA." Norton Rose Fulbright.

https://www.nortonrosefulbright.com/en-us/knowledge/webinars-and-events/d7a4d8da/trump-and-the-ira

Martineau, Rebecca. "New Collaboration Balances Sustainability and Profitability of Lithium-Ion Battery Recycling." NREL, October 18, 2023. https://www.nrel.gov/news/program/2023/new-collaboration-balances-sustainability-profitability-lithium-ion-battery-recycling.html

Martinez-Anido, Carlo Brancucci, Greg Brinkman, and Bri-Mathias Hodge. "Implications of the Technical and Economic Potential of Renewable Energy and Battery Systems." Renewable Energy, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2016.03.053

McGuireWoods. "Inflation Reduction Act Creates New Tax Credit Opportunities for Energy

- Storage Projects." McGuireWoods, 2022. https://www.mcguirewoods.com/client-resources/alerts/2022/12/inflation-reduction-act-creates-new-tax-credit-opportunities-for-energy-storage-projects/
- Minnesota Department of Revenue. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel Credit." Sustainable Aviation Fuel Credit | Minnesota Department of Revenue, November 22, 2023. https://www.revenue.state.mn.us/sustainable-aviation-fuel-credit.

Modo Energy. "ERCOT: What did battery energy storage revenues look like in 2023?" Modo Energy, March 2024.

https://modoenergy.com/research/ercot-battery-energy-storage-systems-annual-revenues-2023-bess-index-ancillary-services-arbitrage-ecrs Moerenhout, Tom and Kevin Brunelli. "Q&A | The Debate over the 45X Tax Credit and Critical Minerals Mining." Center on Global Energy Policy,

February 27, 2024.https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/qa-the-debate-over-the-45x-tax-credit-and-critical-minerals-mining/

Mulder, Brandon. "To reach net-zero by 2050, airlines will lean on offsets while SAF scales up: panel." S&P Global Commodity Insights. September 6, 2022. https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/latest-news/energy-transition/090622-to-reach-net-zero-by-2050-airlines-will-lean-on-offsets-while-saf-scales-up-panel

Murray, Cameron. 2023. "Evergrow claims first tax credit transfer deal for solar project: transferability will unlock billions." PV Tech. https://www.pv-tech.org/evergrow-claims-first-tax-credit-transfer-deal-for-solar-project-transferability-will-unlock-billions/

- My Generation Energy. "Leveraging the IRA for Commercial Solar." January 22, 2024. Nan Ma, Weihua Zhao, Wenzhong Wang, Xiangrong Li, Haiqin Zhou, Large scale of green hydrogen storage: Opportunities and challenges, International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.09.021.
- NREL. US DOE Clean Fuels and Products Shot Webinar, April 9 2024 MarketsandMarkets. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel Market Size, Share, Industry Report, Revenue Trends and Growth Drivers." MarketsandMarkets. Accessed April 21, 2024.

https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/sustainable-aviation-fuel-market-70301163.html?gad_source=1&gclid=CjwKCAjwzN-

 $vBhAkEiwAYiO7oCHp9c5PhSSCLmmyzNToPsg_eTxZk686NCnUh3c0MaSfNO5ljwABhBoCZSMQAvD_BwE.$ 

National Renewable Energy Laboratory. "Annual Technology Baseline." 2023. https://atb.nrel.gov/electricity/2023/utility-scale_battery_storage

"Utility-Scale Battery Storage." NREL, 2023. https://atb.nrel.gov/electricity/2023/utility-scale_battery_storage#HFMAZCIN

Oak Ridge National Lab. "Heavy-duty vehicles an ideal entry into hydrogen fuel cell use." April 23, 2021. https://www.ornl.gov/news/heavy-duty-vehicles-ideal-entry-hydrogen-fuel-cell-use

Ouziel, Sylvie and Luiz Avelar. "4 technologies that are accelerating the green hydrogen revolution." World Economic Forum. June 29, 2021.

https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/06/4-technologies-accelerating-green-hydrogen-revolution/

Pavageau, Antoine and Tatiana Kordyukova. "Battery Storage Using Arbitrage May Face Rapid Asset Degradation." Fitch Ratings, July 13, 2023.

https://www.fitchratings.com/research/infrastructure-project-finance/battery-storage-using-arbitrage-may-face-rapid-asset-degradation-13-07-2023 PJM Planning Division. 2022. "Grid of the Future: PJM's Regional Planning Perspective."

https://pjm.com/-/media/library/reports-notices/special-reports/2022/20220510-grid-of-the-future-pjms-regional-planning-perspective.ashx

PJM. 2023. "Markets Report."

https://www.pjm.com/-/media/committees-groups/committees/mc/2023/20231023-webinar/item-05a---1-market-operationsreport.ashx#:~:text=PJM%20Wholesale%20Cost%20in%202023,2022%20costs%20of%20%24102.56%2FMWh.

- PR Newswire. "Synthica Energy Announces Equity Investment from the Infrastructure Business within Goldman Sachs Asset Management." PR Newswire: press release distribution, targeting, monitoring and marketing, August 7, 2023. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/synthica-energy-announcesequity-investment-from-the-infrastructure-business-within-goldman-sachs-asset-management-301894767.html.
- Ringle, Erik. "En Route to Market: Alder Fuels and NREL Partner to Scale Sustainable Aviation Fuel Technology for Commercial Use." NREL, March 8, 2022. https://www.nrel.gov/news/program/2022/enroute-to-market-alder-fuels-and-nrel-partner-to-scale-sustainable-aviation-fuel-technology-for-commercialuse.html.

RMI. "Shipping leaders and green hydrogen producers agree on ambitious uptake targets for 2030 to enable a net zero maritime sector" Race to Resilience Race to Zero. December 6, 2023. https://climatechampions.unfccc.int/maritime-green-hydrogen-call-to-action/

Quiroga, Allison. "Addressing Permitting Challenges for Battery Energy Storage Systems." Burns & McDonnell, Oct 25, 2023.

https://blog.burnsmcd.com/addressing-permitting-challenges-for-battery-energy-storage-systems

"Regional Direct Air Capture Hubs Selected and Awarded Projects." Energy.gov. Accessed April 15, 2024.

https://www.energy.gov/oced/regional-direct-air-capture-hubs-selected-and-awarded-projects.

"The Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative." Offsets | RGGI, Inc. Accessed April 2, 2024. https://www.rggi.org/allowance-tracking/offsets. Thornton, Grant. "IRS Guidance on Tax Credit Transfers Reveals Risks." February 15, 2023.

normton, Grant. TRS Guidance on Tax Credit Transfers Reveals Risks. February 15, 2023.

https://www.grantthornton.com/insights/alerts/tax/2023/flash/irs-guidance-on-tax-credit-transfers-reveals-risks.

Reppas, Nicholas. "Backup power for data centers of the future: the case for hydrogen fuel cells." Hitachi Energy, February 28, 2024. https://www.hitachienergy.com/us/en/news/blogs/2024/02/backup-power-for-data-centers-of-the-future-the-case-for-hydrogen-fuel-cells

Serfass, Patrick. "Anaergia Sells IRA Biogas Tax Credits for \$16mm." American Biogas Council, January 5, 2024.

https://americanbiogascouncil.org/anaergia-sells-ira-biogas-tax-credits-for-16mm/.

- Solar Energy Industries Association. "Impact of the Inflation Reduction Act." Last modified 2024.
- https://www.seia.org/research-resources/impact-inflation-reduction-act.

Solar Energy Industries Association. "Solar Market Insight Report 2023 Year in Review." Last modified 2023.

https://www.seia.org/research-resources/solar-market-insight-report-2023-year-review.

Solar Energy Industries Association. Summary of the Inflation Reduction Act: Energy Related Provisions. Washington, D.C., August 16, 2022.

South Jersey Industries. "Sji and Captona Announce Construction of One of the Largest Food Waste-to-RNG Facilities in the US." SJI. Accessed April 21, 2024.

https://www.sjindustries.com/investors/news-events/newsroom/south-jersey-industries/2023/sji-and-captona-announce-construction.

Southwest Power Pool. 2022. "State of the Market Report."

https://www.spp.org/documents/69330/2022%20annual%20state%20of%20the%20market%20report.pdf

St. John, Jeff. 2023. "California has a new \$7.3B plan to fix its transmission problems." Canary Media.

https://www.canarymedia.com/articles/transmission/california-has-a-new-7-3b-plan-to-fix-its-transmission-problems

- S&P Global. "Battery stampede spurs sunny storage economics in ERCOT." S&P Global, May
- 2023. https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/research/battery-stampede-spurs-sunny-storage-economics-in-ercot

S&P Global. "Solar-fueled arbitrage potential supercharging storage economics in Western US." S&P Global, April 2023. https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/research/solar-fueled-arbitrage-potential-supercharging-storage-economics-in-westernus

S&P Global. "US BATTERY STORAGE: Capacity surpasses 14.6 GW in Q3, 3.5 GW planned in Q4." S&P Global, November 2023.

https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/latest-news/electric-power/111423-us-battery-storage-capacity-surpasses-146-gw-inq3-35-gw-planned-in-q4

S. McNaul, C. White, R. Wallace, T. Warner, H. S. Matthews, J. Ma, M. Ramezan, E. Lewis, "Hydrogen Shot Technology Assessment: Thermal Conversion Approaches," National Energy Technology Laboratory, Pittsburgh, December 5, 2023

https://netl.doe.gov/projects/files/HydrogenShotTechnologyAssessmentThermalConversionApproaches_120523.pdf

Tatarenko et al. "Hydrogen State of the Union: Where We Stand in 2024." RMI. April 18, 2024. https://rmi.org/hydrogen-state-of-the-union-where-we-stand-in-2024/ "The Costs of CO2 Transport." Global CCS Institute. Accessed April 20, 2024.

https://www.globalccsinstitute.com/archive/hub/publications/119811/costs-co2-transport-post-demonstration-ccs-eu.pdf.

- UK Department of Transportation. "Developing the UK Sustainable Aviation Fuel Mandate." UK Department for Transport, March 2023. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6424782560a35e00120cb13f/pathway-to-net-zero-aviation-developing-the-uk-sustainable-aviation-fuelmandate.pdf.
- "The Costs of CO2 Transport." Global CCS Institute. Accessed April 20, 2024.
  - https://www.globalccsinstitute.com/archive/hub/publications/119811/costs-co2-transport-post-demonstration-ccs-eu.pdf.
- U.S. Department of Energy. 2022. "Advancing the Growth of the U.S. Wind Industry: Federal Incentives Funding, and Partnerships Opportunities."

https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2023-04/eere-wind-weto-funding-taxday-factsheet-fy23.pdf

- U.S. Department of Energy. 2023. "WETO Funded Research Focuses on Reducing Cybersecurity Threats to Nation's Wind Fleet."
- https://www.energy.gov/eere/wind/articles/weto-funded-research-focuses-reducing-cybersecurity-threats-nations-wind-fleet
- U.S. Department of Energy. N.d. "Wind Energy in Texas." https://windexchange.energy.gov/states/tx
- U.S. Department of Energy. N.d. "Wind Energy Ordinances." https://windexchange.energy.gov/projects/ordinances

U.S. Department of Energy. 2023. "Wind Market Reports: 2023." https://www.energy.gov/eere/wind/how-do-wind-turbines-work https://www.energy.gov/eere/wind/wind-market-reports-2023-edition U.S. Department of Energy. N.d. "How Do Wind Turbines Work?" U.S. Energy Information Administration. 2012. "Wind energy tax credit set to expire at the end of 2012." https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=8870 U.S. Energy Information Administration. 2016. "Three turbine manufacturers provide more than 75% of the U.S. wind capacity." https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=28912 U.S. Energy Information Administration. N.d. "Wind Explained." https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/wind/types-of-wind-turbines.php U.S. Energy Information Administration. "Issues in Focus: Drivers for Standalone Battery Storage Deployment in AEO2022." U.S. Department of Energy, August 2022. https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/IIF_battery/ U.S. Department of Energy. "Biden-Harris Administration Announces \$4 Billion in Tax Credits to Build Clean Energy Supply Chain, Drive Investments, and Lower Costs in Energy Communities." MARCH 29, 2024. https://www.energy.gov/articles/biden-harris-administration-announces-4-billion-tax-credits-build-cleanenergy-supply U.S. Department of Energy. "Maps and Data - Wind." DOE, 2024. https://windexchange.energy.gov/maps-data/321 U.S. Department of Energy. "CO2 Reduction and Upgrading for E-Fuels Consortium ." US DOE Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy, August 2023. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2023-11/final-ea-2225-kcnext-app-c-2023-11.pdf. U.S. Department of Energy. "SAF Grand Challenge Roadmap." U.S. Department of Energy, 2022. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-09/beto-saf-gc-roadmap-report-sept-2022.pdf U.S. Department of Energy. 2024. 2023 Billion-Ton Report: An Assessment of U.S. Renewable Carbon Resources. M. H. Langholtz (Lead). Oak Ridge, TN: Oak Ridge National Laboratory. ORNL/SPR-2024/3103. doi: 10.23720/BT2023/2316165 U.S. Department of Energy. "Hydrogen Production: Electrolysis | Department of Energy." US DOE Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. Accessed April 28, 2024. https://www.energy.gov/eere/fuelcells/hydrogen-production-electrolysis. U.S. Department of Energy. "Regional Clean Hydrogen Hubs." Office of Clean Energy Demonstrations. https://www.energy.gov/oced/regional-clean-hydrogen-hubs-0 U.S. Department of Energy. "Hydrogen Shot." Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Technologies Office. https://www.energy.gov/eere/fuelcells/hydrogen-shot U.S. Department of Energy. "U.S. National Clean Hydrogen Strategy Roadmap." 2023. https://www.hydrogen.energy.gov/docs/hydrogenprogramlibraries/pdfs/us-national-clean-hydrogen-strategy-roadmap.pdf?sfvrsn=c425b44f_5 U.S. Energy Information Administration. "Preliminary Monthly Electric Generator Inventory." U.S. Energy Information Administration, April 2024. https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia860m/ U.S. Energy Information Administration. "Supplements to the Short-Term Energy Outlook." U.S. Energy Information Administration, 2022. https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/steo/special/supplements/2022/2022_sp_03.pdf U.S. Energy Information Administration. "U.S. battery storage capacity expected to nearly double in 2024." U.S. Energy Information Administration, January 2024. https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=61202 NREL. 2023. "Technology Advancements Could Unlock 80% More Wind Energy Potential During This Decade." https://www.nrel.gov/news/program/2023/technology-advancements-could-unlock-80-more-wind-energy-potential-during-this-decade.html USDA. "Expansion of U.S. Corn-based Ethanol from the Agricultural Transportation Perspective." Ethanol Transportation Backgrounder. 2013. https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media/Ethanol%20Transportation%20Backgrounder.pdf USDA. "Rural Energy for America Program (REAP)." Rural Development, April 8, 2024. https://www.rd.usda.gov/inflation-reduction-act/rural-energy-america-program-reap. Utility Dive. "IRA Sets the Stage for US Energy Storage to Thrive." Utility Dive, 2022. https://www.utilitydive.com/spons/ira-sets-the-stage-for-us-energy-storage-to-thrive/635665/ Virentis Advisors. "Virentis Announces \$55 Million in RNG Tax Credit Transfer Transactions." Biomass Magazine, February 14, 2024. https://biomassmagazine.com/articles/virentis-announces-55-million-in-rng-tax-credit-transfer-transactions Wang, Dulles, and Natalia Patterson. "North America Renewable Natural Gas: Five Questions Answered." Wood Mackenzie, July 21, 2023. https://www.woodmac.com/news/opinion/north-america-rng-five-questions/. Walton, Robert. "FERC accepts ISO New England plan facilitating storage as transmission-only assets." Utility Dive, October 26, 2023. https://www.utilitydive.com/news/ferc-iso-new-england-SATOA-storage-as-transmission/697888/ Washington, Thomas. "SAF Production to Triple to 1.5 Mil Mt in 2024 but Progress Slow: IATA." S&P Global Commodity Insights, December 6, 2023. https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/latest-news/oil/120623-saf-production-to-triple-to-15-mil-mt-in-2024-but-progressslow-iata. Watson, M.J., P.G. Machado, A.V. da Silva, Y. Saltar, C.O. Ribeiro, C.A.O. Nascimento, and A.W. Dowling. "Sustainable Aviation Fuel Technologies, Costs, Emissions, Policies, and Markets: A Critical Review." Journal of Cleaner Production 449 (April 2024). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2024.141472. Weaver, John Fitzgerald. "To PTC or ITC, That Is the Financial Question." pvmagazine USA. August 25, 2022. WEF. "Water Resources Utility of the Future Blueprint for Action." Water Environment Federation, March 15, 2013. https://www.wef.org/globalassets/assets-wef/direct-download-library/public/03---

White House, The. "Treasury Sets Out Proposed Rules for Transformative Clean Hydrogen Incentives" Clean Energy Updates. December 22, 2023. https://www.whitehouse.gov/cleanenergy/clean-energy-updates/2023/12/22/treasury-sets-out-proposed-rules-for-transformative-clean-hydrogenincentives/

Willis, John, Lori Stone, Karen Durden, Ned Beecher, Caroline Hemenway, and Rob Greenwood. "Barriers to Biogas Use for Renewable Energy - NYSERDA." Sustainable America, 2012. https://www.nyserda.ny.gov/-/media/Project/Nyserda/Files/EERP/Commercial/Sector/Municipal-Water-Wastewater-Facilities/werf-biogas-barriers-report.pdf.

Wood Mackenzie. "North America Renewable Natural Gas (RNG) State of the Market." Report | Wood Mackenzie, May 22, 2023.

https://www.woodmac.com/reports/gas-markets-north-america-renewable-natural-gas-rng-state-of-the-market-150126867/.

Wood Mackenzie. "Implications of 45V Guidance for the Future of the Green Hydrogen Industry – Executive Summary." February 2024. https://cleanpower.org/wpcontent/uploads/gateway/2024/02/ACP-Wood-Mackenzie_Implications-of-45V-Guidance-to-the-Green-Hydrogen-Industry_Executive-Summary.pdf